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holidays 
at last!
Our past annual report had the motto „Be the 
 Change“ and was the starting signal for a year of 
successful change.  In 2015, we transformed from 
an Internet holding with three segments and various 
digital business models to a digital company with a 
clear focus on holidaymakers.  

The new alignment of the corporate portfolio began 
in the spring of 2015 with the sale of the publishing 
business, which included the news and topical por-
tals FOCUS Online, Huffington Post, Finanzen100 
and Netmoms as well as the digital marketer TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Media.  In the middle of the year, the 
first business of the subscription segment, EliteMe-
dianet GmbH, was successfully sold.  Toward the end 
of 2015, the doctor ratings portal jameda followed.  

The realignment of the company has now almost been 
concluded and our motto is now “Holidays at last!” In 
2016, we will consequently focus on the sustainable 
growth of our holiday brands HolidayCheck, Zoover, 
MietwagenCheck and Meteovista and will therefore 
emphatically invest in the further development of 
our products and services.  We aim to become the top 
holidaymaker-oriented company in the world: Fast, 
with a long-term perspective, innovative and highly 
customer-oriented. 
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IntervIew wIth 
GeorG hesse

Georg Hesse became the new CEO of 

 TOMORROW FOCUS AG on 1 January 2016.  

We spoke to him about his first couple of months 

in the online travel industry. 

eorg, can you begin by telling us  
a bit about yourself?
I was born in Munich, am 43 years old, 

married and have three cheeky, wonderful daugh-
ters. I began my career in media and switched to the 
online retailer Amazon in 1999. I started out there by 
setting up the editorial and marketing departments 
for the music division and then assumed commercial 
responsibility in the following 16 years. I was also re-
sponsible for the establishment and expansion of the 
video games, software, toys, home and garden, large 
electric appliances and furniture product groups. In 
addition to working at Amazon, I also completed an 
MBA at the Henley Business School in London. In my 
spare time, I am interested in music and I am an en-
thusiastic, albeit not very dangerous, martial artist. 

G
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what drives you?
I am curious, love complex challenges and really enjoy 
building and leading teams. Throughout the course of 
my career, I have had the privilege of being able to set 
up many organisations that lastingly changed indus-
tries with their focus on customers. I am driven by the 
conviction that this will also be possible in the travel 
segment of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group. 

what about the new job at toMorrow FoCUs 
appealed to you? 
Firstly, the industry appeals to me. Even though a lot 
of market participants talk about customer orientation 
and there are currently many exciting innovations 
in the travel industry, I can‘t help but notice that 
there are only very few industry players that make 
holidaymakers the focus of their efforts and whom 
I, as a holidaymaker, would trust completely. I see a 
unique opportunity here for our Group because as a 
ratings portal, we have always stood on the side of the 
holidaymaker. To sharpen that profile even more and 
to set a new standard with regard to customer orien-
tation is an exciting task, for which it is worth starting 
anew – even though I already had a great job. 

what is your first impression of  
the toMorrow FoCUs Group?
The Group has very strong consumer brands in the 
travel sector. In their markets, HolidayCheck and 
Zoover are enjoying the unrestricted trust of their 
customers. That puts them in a unique position and 
allows them to help shape the future of their mar-
ket segment. They also have customer orientation in 
their DNA, which fits right into how I want to lead a 
company. One example is providing information on 
the horrific terrorist attacks in Turkey. Among major 
online travel portals, HolidayCheck was the only one 
to immediately provide information to holidaymakers 
and their families on its website. In the short term, 
that certainly didn‘t improve sales but it was the right 
thing for holidaymakers and therefore the right thing 
for us.
 Obviously, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group is under-
going a fundamental transition from a mixed compa-
ny with different Internet brands to a focused, agile 
and innovative travel business. With Timo Salzsieder 

(COO), Dirk Schmelzer (CFO) and the two managing 
directors Anja Keckeisen and Philipp Goos, we have 
an excellent management team that, even prior to me 
joining, had already initiated the correct but partial-
ly painful change processes. That means I am not 
starting from scratch. Since a lot of the changes are 
currently not yet visible from the outside, I think that 
the new potential of the Group is still being underesti-
mated. 

what are your plans for  
the toMorrow FoCUs Group?
It is our vision to become the most holidaymaker-ori-
ented company in the world. Agile, innovative, with 
a long-term perspective and customer-oriented to a 
fault. We are focusing on helping people to easily find 
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and book their well-deserved holiday. That is already 
in the DNA of our team, but we have to sharpen the 
comprehension of what that means in practice. I know 
from my experience at Amazon how to make custom-
ers the focus of all of a company‘s processes and to 
not only pay lip service to a culture of innovation and 
customer orientation, but to specifically implement 
and support it. After only a few weeks, I can already 
tell how much energy that releases in our company, 
and our product development department is taking 
important steps in this direction. That is good news 
for our shareholders: a team that is clearly focused on 
what helps holidaymakers, while developing products 
and services that are better differentiated. That helps 
replace marketing costs by recommendations from 
satisfied customers. 

which opportunities and challenges in  
the travel market can you identify?
The travel industry is currently undergoing a dis-
ruptive change. But I am convinced that a lot more 
innovation lies ahead of us than behind us and we want 
to play a major role in that. The central European travel 
market is unique and is particularly dear to us. Our 
deep understanding of German-speaking and Dutch 
holidaymakers provides great opportunities for our 
brands. Maybe we are not the biggest in the world, but 
we want to be the best for our customers. 

what should your employees know about you?
I‘m a happy guy and generally easy to get along with 
(laughs). I don‘t think what you say becomes any truer 
when it is conveyed in a stroppy manner. However, I 
won‘t be satisfied with superficial answers and expect 
that our decisions will be made based on data. What I 
expect from all employees, whether in the service cen-
tre, development, marketing, sales or HR, is that they 
make holidaymakers the focus of their actions. I want 
them to think big and long-term, take responsibility, 
innovate, communicate openly and never rest on the 
laurels of what they have already achieved. And I want 
my employees to give me feedback if I should ever not 
act in the same way. 

It Is oUr vIsIon to BeCoMe the Most 
hoLIDAYMAKer-orIenteD CoMPAnY In the worLD.  

AGILe, InnovAtIve, wIth A LonG-terM 
PersPeCtIve AnD CUstoMer-orIenteD to A FAULt.
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Dragon Team 
The nine-person „Dragon“ team 

based in Munich takes care of the 
holidaycheck.de home page.

Node.js

Working like in  
Silicon Valley
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Java
 Scala

Holidaymakers are doing extensive 

online research prior to booking trips. 

According to a study conducted by the 

GfK market research institute on behalf 

of TUI Deutschland and Google, they 

visit an average of 25 websites before 

booking. Customers will choose provid-

ers who offer valid and clearly arranged 

information as well as a simple booking 

process and good service. As of late, the 

technology of the HolidayCheck plat-

form, which continued to grow alongside 

the portal since it was founded in 1999, 

had not offered the required flexibility 

to optimally satisfy customer demands. 

That is why a complete redesign of the 

IT platform was initiated. 

Working like in  
Silicon Valley

it used to be A big Lump
Generally, an Internet platform consists of 
three parts: the front end, the middle tier and 
the back end. The front end is the part of the 
platform closest to the user, for example, the 
user interface with the data entry templates. 
With various applications, the so-called middle 
tier constitutes the interface between the 
front end and back end. At HolidayCheck, for 
example, this is where you can find the func-
tions that allow the booking of hotels or the 
finding of accommodation and destinations. 
The data related to these functions is saved in 
the back end. In addition, HolidayCheck also 
has a Back Office. It includes the administrative 
applications, such as the so-called Master Data 
Management, through which HolidayCheck 
maintains the master data of the hotels, or the 
Customer Service application, which is being 
used by the travel experts of the HolidayCheck 
Online Travel Agency. “We used to consolidate 
these various system layers into one big lump. 
As a result, the redevelopment of the website 
was very slow because different teams could 
not work on the overall system independently,” 
explains HolidayCheck COO Timo Salzsieder, 
who is responsible for the product and technol-
ogy of the ratings and bookings portal.
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the moduLArisAtion of the pLAtform 
“That’s why we started to modularise the entire 
plat form. In other words, we cut that big lump into 
individual slices to ensure that parallel work could be 
conducted on the different modules. We also replaced 
the entire architecture. Previously, we used more of a 
traditional technology approach. Now we are working 
with state-of-the-art technologies like Java, Scala or 
Node.js, which primarily makes our developers hap-
py”, says Timo Salzsieder. 
 The upgrade began with the modularisation of the 
middle tier. Over the past year and a half, it was divid-
ed into various services that are in use at all times for 
a certain percentage of site visits. “Our peak season is 
at the beginning of the year as many holidaymakers 
use our early bird specials. During that time, we want 
to make as few changes to the site as possible. Toward 
the end of the first quarter of 2016, however, the new 
technology will go live across the entire system”, 

Timo Salzsieder explains. The new modular service 
structure now allows the different HolidayCheck 
teams to work at the same time. Within a few minutes, 
they can activate new functions on the site – multiple 
times per day. 

simpLe optimisAtion
The flexibility provided by the new technology also 
means that the website can now be optimised more 
efficiently with so-called A/B Tests. During these 
tests, different groups of users are shown different 
versions of the website and their reactions are record-
ed. “In the front end, we are using a new technology 
that allows us to replace website elements very quick-
ly. Previously, simply sliding a button from left to right 
on the site or switching on a live ticker in order to 
keep our users up to date on special events used to be 
a lot of work. Today, it’s just a matter of minutes”, says 
Timo Salzsieder. 

neW SyStem 
architecture

is close to the 
user, e.g. the 
home page with 
its data entry 
templates.

Data storage and administrative applications, 
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 „Unsere Arbeit 
beginnt bei der Liste 

der Reiseangebote 
und betrifft alle 

E-Commerce-
Anwendungen auf 

der Seite

Coffee Team
The „Coffee“ team 
based in Bottinghofen, 
Switzerland takes care  
of the optimisation of  
the booking process. 

the teAms
However, when upgrading the platform, it is not only 
the technology that is important but also the friction-
less teamwork of the smart people that have to work 
with it. The developers of the HolidayCheck platform 
work in individual teams. Each team consists of a 
scrum master, a product owner, an engineering man-
ager, an interaction designer and a visual designer as 
well as multiple developers and a so-called DevOps. 
The product owner assumes the role of the client. In 
other words, he is the one specifying the technical 
requirements and manages their implementation with 
regard to functionality, usability, performance and 
quality. Together with the developers, the engineering 
manager is responsible for the technical development 
of the product. The interface designer designs the user 
interface, the visual designer is responsible for the 
graphic implementation and the DevOps develops and 
is responsible for the technical operation. The teams 
are working according to the so-called scrum method-
ology. That means that the team develops in two-week 
cycles, which are also referred to as “sprints”.  

our Work StartS With the 
liSt of traVel offerS and 
affectS all e-commerce-

aPPlicationS on the Page. 
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The cycle begins with the so-called “grooming”, 
which is a review of the team’s existing assignments, 
and it concludes with the so-called retro, which is a 
validation of the results at the end of the sprint. The 
scrum master manages the scrum process and creates 
the conditions that are required for the team to work 
without interruption. 
 “Until recently, the members of the teams were still 
spread out across our locations in Bottighofen in Swit-
zerland, Poznan in Poland and Munich. That resulted 
in communication problems. “In order to make the 
teams more effective, we carried out a reorganisa-
tion and established so-called co-located teams. That 
means that a complete team is in the same location. 
For example, until now, we only had engineering and 
scrum masters in Poland. At that location, we are now 
hiring designers and product owners in order to form 
a complete team there”, says Timo Salzsieder. In addi-
tion, the operations staff were previously not integrat-
ed into the team structures. Instead, a development 
was handed over to the operations personnel after it 
was completed. Thanks to the DevOps, a team now 
has end-to-end responsibility. “Our team structures 
now follow the best practices and we are following 
the same processes that are also used at Google and 
Facebook.”

team 
Structure

Scrum 
Master

manages the scrum 
process and creates 
the conditions that 
are required for the 

team to work without 
interruption

Visual 
Designer
is responsible 

for graphic 
implementation

Interaction 
Designer

designs  
the user  
interface

Product 
Owner
assumes  

the role of  
the client

Engineering 
Manager 

is responsible for the 
technical product 

development

of drAgons And drinking Coffee
Each of HolidayCheck’s 15 development teams, which 
consist of members from a total of 11 countries, is re-
sponsible for specific tasks. For example, the 9-person 
“Dragon” team in Munich takes care of the homepage 
of holidaycheck.de. 
 The “Coffee” team in Bottighofen at Lake Constance, 
on the other hand, works on the optimisation of the 
booking process. “Our work begins with a list of travel 
offers and affects all of the website’s e-commerce ap-
plications, for example the shopping cart function as 
well as the entry of address and payment information 
by the user. In the past year, we particularly worked 
on displaying the travel offers more clearly and on 
the additional functions associated with the so-called 
upselling of better room and board categories, which 
increase the average shopping cart”, explains Denise 
Köhler, product owner of Team Coffee. 
 Other teams, such as the Search Monkeys, Content 
Freaks, Los Nativos or the All-Inclusive Team deal 
with the website’s search functions, the collection of 
ratings, optimised hotel displays, the apps or the new 
user functions. The partially flashy names were creat-
ed in an internal competition with the result that each 
group now owns coffee mugs with their team name 
and logo. 

muCh more to Come
Following the successful upgrade of the web platform, 
the modularisation of the Back Office will be initiated 
next year. Nineteen different modules are planned 
here. “The upgrade of the Back Office is a complex 
and long-term project.” As one of the first modules, 
we will start with the customer service application 
over the course of the year”, says Timo Salzsieder. In 
addition to the modularisation of the Back Office, the 
HolidayCheck developers also have a few innovative 
subjects on their to-do list, for example the so-called 
hotel fingerprint. That is a function that graphically 
displays a summary of all of the ratings of a hotel 
to the user. It uses state-of-the-art technologies and 
algorithms from the field of language research. “With 
our new platform, we are able to respond much better 
to the needs of our users. The website is now a living 
organism that continues to develop constantly. This 
means that, in the future, our users will see new, 
helpful functions more often, but we can also remove 
them again straight away if they don’t like them”, says 
Timo Salzsieder. 

Developers
responsible for 
the technical 
development  
of the product

DevOps- 
Engineer

develops  
and is responsible 
for the technical 

operation
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HolidayCheck is now offering hoteliers integrated 
applications, so-called widgets, for hotel websites. 
These will enable hotel guests to post reviews di-
rectly onto the hotel website. Furthermore, the 
online reputation of the hotel in the form of a cur-
rent recommendation rate, overall evaluation or a 
ranking position within the respective city, region 
or destination is also displayed. Widgets are avail-
able in 70 different designs, a variety of languag-
es and can be individually customised to a hotel’s 
website.

For inFormation on widgets go to:  
https://secure.holidaycheck.de/widgets. 
(in German)

reviews on the 
 hotel website

In summer 2015, the COMPUTER BILD editorial 
team took a close look at the twelve most popular 
online travel agencies and organisers. Holiday-
Check secured pole position in this consumer test. 
The editorial team’s conclusion: straightforward, 
convenient and clear. Both clarity and transparen-
cy were praised, as was the fact that functions had 
been improved and enhanced in comparison to the 
previous year.

CheCk out the 
test results at:  
http://www.computer
bild.de/artikel/
cbTestsSoftware
Traumurlaub Online
ReiseportaleTest 
10157923.html
(in German)

test winner 
holidayCheCk

The HolidayCheck and Zoover travel blogs were reworked in 2015 and are now 
presented in a new, modern design with a user-friendly structure. These pop-
ular blogs with an average of 30,000 hits each a month provide readers with 
information, practical tips and check lists for themes such as holi day planning, 
country and people, excursions and activities, accommodation, special destina-
tions and travel law. 

holidayCheCk blog: 
http://blog.holidaycheck.de/
(in German)
Zoover blog: 
http://weblog.zoover.nl/
(in Dutch)

extensive  
blog restyling
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Zoover -  
Your holidaY starts here

The Dutch holiday rating portal  Zoover 

offers 1,5 million ratings and travel 

tips from holidaymakers for holiday-

makers. They cover hotels, destina-

tions, attractions, camping sites or 

cruises and therefore provide holiday-

makers with the guidance they need to 

find and book the perfect holiday.  

A new marketing campaign is supposed 

to convey the usefulness of the portal.

OrientatiOn instead Of validatiOn
 „It is exciting to travel to new places, but there is 
always also a degree of uncertainty. For that reason, it 
is incredibly valuable to know somebody who has been 
there before and can provide useful tips. In a man-
ner of speaking, that somebody is Zoover. With our 
new marketing campaign, we want to encourage our 
customers to make use of our knowledge, which comes 
in the form of ratings. We believe that every holiday 
should begin at Zoover,“ says Mark Linde, Head of 
Marketing at Zoover in Zeist. 
 The goal of the marketing campaign is to strength-
en Zoover‘s brand positioning and attract users to the 
platform during the orientation phase. „We conducted 
a user analysis and found out that a lot of users per-
ceived us to be a portal that can be used to validate a 
choice that had already been made. But that is just one Zoover holidaymakers test  

hotel beds and optimise  
souvenir booth negotiations.
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small part of what we have to offer. Over the course of 
this year, that will become apparent on our platform, 
which we are continuously improving on the basis of 
the promise to our users,“ said Mark Linde. 

the first majOr campaign
The new marketing campaign is the first one since the 
portal was founded ten years ago. „The travel sector 
has become much more competitive and we are well 
aware that we have to adapt our marketing strategy 
accordingly,“ Mark explains. The ad agency FCB 
Amsterdam helped to plan and develop the campaign. 
„We had been looking for a creative agency that under-
stands where we are coming from and how we want 
to develop in the future. We found the right partner in 
FCB and together we designed a 360-degree cam-
paign that uses all available marketing channels to 

reach our target audience,“ Mark added. TV adverts 
are the focal point of the campaign. In addition, there 
are radio spots, billboards and online advertising, 
for example in the areas of video and social media as 
well as retargeting, which means online ads that are 
displayed to users after they have already visited the 
Zoover website. 

the hOliday piOneers
The commercials of the campaign show holiday-
makers as trailblazers that found the perfect beach, 
thoroughly tested the hotel buffet or mastered the art 
of negotiating at a souvenir booth, and from whose 
insights the many travellers that are to follow will 
benefit. The commercials were filmed in Cape Town in 
South Africa. „Cape Town is a popular location with a 
good infrastructure for commercial shoots 

Zoover holiday pioneers  
find the perfect beach.
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KicK off 
Party
Philipp Goos, 
managing director 
of Zoover,  
launches the new 
ad campaign.

MarK Linde
Head of Marketing  

of Zoover

and  guaranteed good weather when it is winter 
in Europe,“ Mark Linde explains. The actors for 
the commercials were South Africans. „We had to 
ensure that our  actors actually looked like Dutch 
holidaymakers. But that wasn‘t a problem, since a 
lot of local actors have Dutch or German roots.“

launch in Zeist
„Since this is the first major marketing campaign 
in our company‘s history, we organised an in-house 
launch party for our employees at which we showed 
the spots for the first time.“ The Zoover cafeteria 
was transformed into a little holiday paradise for 
the party – complete with real sand, a pool and 
parasols. 
 The campaign launched on 8 January 2016, 
just in time for the early booking season. A second 
phase, also referred to as „Flight“, is scheduled for 
June 2016. „We are very happy with the campaign 
and are seeing a noticeable increase in our key 
indicators traffic and brand search, which means 
the number of page views and the search for the 
keyword Zoover.“
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Where are rental cars particularly in demand?  
The answer is provided by the rental car compari-
son portal MietwagenCheck through analysis of the 
booking data for July 2015. The result: 38 percent 
of MietwagenCheck customers book rental cars 
on Majorca, followed by Sardinia with 17 percent 
and then the Lisbon coast and Crete, each with 6 
percent. Compact cars are booked most frequently 
for holidays. Customers who splashed out for a con-
vertible did so primarily on Majorca, as well as in 
California and Nevada. Luxury vehicles are especi-
ally popular in Ireland and Florida. 

For Further inFormation go to: 
http://www.mietwagen-check.de/reise/news/
mietwagen-anmietung-im-juli-beliebteste- regionen-
und-fahrzeugtypen/
(in German)

In February 2016, HolidayCheck UX specialists came together for an in-
tensive workshop. UX stands for user experience and describes the ex-
perience a user has when interacting with a website. The better the user 
experience, the happier the customers. The primary aim of the workshop 
was to find new ideas and inspiration to enhance future user experien-
ce on the HolidayCheck site and to reassess the subject of user experience 
within the sphere of travel with regard to various living conditions, ex-
pectations and needs. 

uX Day 2016

   HolidayCHeCk UX eXperts: 
Josip Kristo (top), Susanne Schmid (left),  
Steffi Brau (middle) and Verena Gmelch (right)  
during a workshop in Munich

In summer 2015 HolidayCheck launched a new online campaign. 
Central to the campaign was a video clip created in cooperation 
with the Baden-Württemberg Film Academy. Academy students 
and graduates were asked to submit ideas. Then in May 2015, 
the winning team was picked from the 28 proposals. The end 
result is based on a storyboard from graduates Lasse Hartmann 
and Tina Hechinger and illustrates why secret agents should also 
read hotel reviews. 
 
take a peek at the viDeo at: http://youtu.be/5g9UUzoPCMw 

Licence to check

mobiLe on  
majorca
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It Is small but very effectIve
The MietwagenCheck (Rental Car Check) team in 
Bottighofen, located at the shores of the Swiss side 
of Lake Constance, is small but very effective. Two 
product managers and three IT developers are work-
ing to constantly improve the portal, they integrate 
new functions and monitor the website‘s performance. 
Four support staff members provide advice to users 
via phone, chat or email and check the incoming 
ratings. Two marketing employees take care of search 
engine marketing, search engine optimisation, email 
marketing, social media as well as seasonal promo-
tions. „It is not a disadvantage that we are a small 
team. Our communication channels are short, 
we can react quickly and thereby initiate 
new developments and ideas with-

Holidaymakers who want to stay mobile should 
book a rental car. But rental car offers are 
complex and often contain different additional 
services or hidden costs. That means anybody 
who doesn‘t want to end up paying more should 
compare offers and prices. According to a new 
test conducted by the German Institute for Ser-
vice Quality on behalf of the news channel n-tv, 
the rental car comparison portal Mietwagen-
Check offers the greatest information value and 
the best service. Visits to the MietwagenCheck 
portal increased by 20 percent last year and rent-
al car bookings even rose by 30 percent, making 
2015 the portal‘s most successful year since it 
was founded in 2008. Here is a closer look at the 
dedicated team. 

Becoming a TesT Winner 
WiTh Transparency
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out complications. In addition, the work provides great 
variety as every team member is responsible 

for multiple tasks and can continue 
developing in different areas“, 

says Erik Weenink, the head 
of MietwagenCheck. 

vIrtual statIons 
A major project for 
the MietwagenCheck 
team last year was the 
introduction of so-called 

virtual stations. „With 
the virtual rental car sta-

tions, we managed to solve 
a complex problem in the 

world of rental cars“, explains 
Erik Weenink. MietwagenCheck 

receives data from rental car 
agents, the so-called brokers. They 

work with travel businesses and rental 
car companies and, by procuring large 

contingents, are often able to offer cheap 
prices. However, the databases of different 

brokers often vary significantly. „For example, Broker 
A provides us with the geographic coordinates of 
a rental car location and Broker B with the phone 
number. Thanks to artificial intelligence in the form 
of our software, we are able to recognise that it is the 
same station and we can therefore combine the data 
to create a virtual station. That allows us to display 
the complete information regarding the offers of both 
brokers to our users“.

InexpensIve, Good, excellent
The team also used artificial intelligence to optimise 
how the best offers are displayed. „We are a price 
comparison portal and that means our users are 
supposed to be able to find the cost/performance ratio 
that works best for them. But rental car offers are 
complex and contain a lot of additional and/or inclu-
sive services. Until the beginning of last year, we were 
only able to provide our customers with just one top 
performer in the cost/performance ratio category. But 
since April 2015, we have been able to display three 
cost/performance ratio categories depending on the 
preference of our customers“ , says Erik Weenink. 
The three new cost/performance ratio categories are 

The MietwagenCheck 
team from Bottighofen 
at Lake Constance.
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 divided into a „cheap“, a „good“ and an „excellent“ 
offer. The „cheap“ offer is for all those for whom a 
low price is most important and criteria such as the 
scope of the provided insurance or customer-friendly 
refuelling rules do not play a major role. Customers 
who are not willing to take a chance are best served 
by picking the „excellent“ offer, and users who are 
seeking a mix between a good price and fair contract 
conditions should choose the „good“ offer. „By being 
able to display the three top offers with the respective 
inclusive services and additional costs in a transparent 
way, we avoid that customers have to pay for services 
that they do not actually need“, Erik explains. 

best In test
„As we are developing further, we are always focus-

ing on our users“, says Erik Weenink. That approach 
earned the portal the top rank in the latest rental car 
portal test of the German Institute for Service Quality 
that was conducted on behalf of the n-tv news channel. 
The high information value of the portal gained par-
ticular praise and MietwagenCheck also placed first 
in the „service“ category. „Inquiries are answered the 
quickest and most competently“, the testers stated. 
The MietwagenCheck team plans additional inno-
vations in 2016. „We are very proud of our success. 
We were, for example, one of the first rental car meta 
search engines with a website that was completely 
optimised for mobile devices. Our motivation is to 
innovate further and get even more customers excited 
about our simple, fast and concise products and there-
by continue our strong growth“, says Erik Weenink. 

  1. selecT The „full-full“ fuel policy
When booking, rental car customers should select the „full-full“ fuel policy. This means that the rental vehicle has a full fuel 
tank when you pick it up and you also return it with a full tank. Choosing this policy ensures you are fully in control of the costs 
as you incur no additional service charges and pay the standard pump price according to actual consumption.

2. comprehensive insurance cover WiThouT excess cosTs
A rental car can easily be scratched. Rental car customers are fully protected if they select insurance cover without excess 
costs or alternatively with excess cost reimbursement cover. Travellers should consequently choose an option during the 
online booking process that includes comprehensive insurance cover without excess costs. Buying additional insurance at the 
booking desk on the day is usually more expensive. Also ensure that tyre and glass damage is covered. If the vehicle already 
has minor damage when you pick it up, then this should be noted in the contract. 

3. alWays noTify The renTal company if you are Travelling ouTside The counTry
The rental station must be notified if you plan to travel across any national borders. Ideally, rental car customers should de-
clare planned border crossings during the online booking process. Travellers should additionally confirm whether cross-border 
travel is possible at the rental company desk. 

4. provide your flighT numBer
We recommend that rental car customers who are travelling by plane and picking up their vehicle directly at the airport 
provide flight number details during the online booking stage. If your flight is delayed, the rental car station is able to use the 
flight number to find out when a passenger will be landing and reserve the rental vehicle accordingly.

5. Be aWare of The cancellaTion opTions
Sometimes a trip has to be unexpectedly postponed. This is not a problem when you have the option of cancelling the booked 
rental vehicle at short notice. In such cases, online bookings offer a high level of flexibility with cost-free cancellation up to 
24 hours prior to rental. 

5 Tips for Booking a renTal car
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A study by the Institute for Employ-
ment Research (IAB) has revealed 
that despite a shift in the employ-

ment market, most women and men 
still work in jobs that are stereotypi-
cally representative of their genders. 

For example,  technical jobs are 
dominated by men, while positions 
with an emphasis on social compe-
tence are mainly occupied by wom-
en. We spoke to two HolidayCheck 

 employees who have not allowed 
their career choices to be governed 

by  gender  stereotypes – and have 
been very  successful as a result. 

Do jobs have  
a genDer?
There are not many women working as develop-
ers. What made you choose this profession? and 
what is it like having mostly male colleagues?
Jayanthi: It is surprising to see that there are not 
many women working as developers in Europe. I 
come from India, and this is not the case there, we 
have a good amount of women working in this pro-
fession. I started my career in 2000. Back then, the 
Internet was new to my country;  I was fascinated by 
its power and wanted to pursue a career in web devel-

opment. When it comes to work, I do not differentiate 
between male or female. My team at HolidayCheck 
is the technically most knowledgeable team I have 
worked with so far in my career, so I enjoy working 
with my male colleagues and I learn a lot from them.

Could you tell us about your studies?
Jayanthi: I did my Bachelor’s Degree in Computer Sci-
ence at Marudhar Kesari Jain College in India. This 
is a women’s college. Afterwards, I did my Masters 
Degree at Indira Gandhi National Open University 
while I was working with BICS InfoTech. This is a 
residential work place, where you get to work on full-
fledged software development during the weekdays 
and work on your Masters Degree at the weekend. 
This place is where I laid the foundations for my 
career. 

 Jayanthi RobeRt
frontend developer at HolidayCheck in Munich

My TeaM aT holiDayCheCk is The 
TeChniCally MosT knoWleDgeable 
TeaM i have WorkeD WiTh so far  
in My Career.
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you worked as software engineer at sev-
eral companies in india, australia and The 
 netherlands. Which were your favourite 
projects? how was it to move around and 
live in different countries? 
Jayanthi: The technologies keep changing and 
in our field we have to keep ourselves constantly 
updated with such rapid changes. So as I pro-
gressed, the technology was always the most 
challenging and interesting thing. Throughout 
my career I had always been interacting with 
customers onsite, while the projects I worked on 
were mostly of the offshore model. I had inten-
sive training on inter-cultural relationships. 
Training helps with interaction, but when it 
comes to moving to another country and work-
ing it is still a challenge. Integrating with a new 
team possessing a different set of cultural back-
grounds is not easy, but it is great. I consider 
myself very lucky to have had these experiences. 

What are you currently working on at 
holidayCheck? and how do you like it at 
holidayCheck?
Jayanthi: I am currently developing the new 
mobile homepage for HolidayCheck and my focus 
is now on the new search module, which is the 
main feature of it. I like the fact that Holiday-
Check recruits people with the right attitude. I 
always believe skills can be taught, but attitude 
cannot. The work environment is friendly and re-
sult-oriented at the same time. The management 
team is very good in making sure that the sug-
gestions and opinions of employees are included 
in the company planning process. 

What do you do in your leisure time?  
how do you relax from work? 
Jayanthi: I practice yoga to stay healthy. In India, I did 
yoga for 90 minutes every day. After moving abroad, 
I unfortunately couldn’t find daily early morning 
classes and in Europe yoga classes are much more 
expensive. So, I have joined a gym and go at least 5 
days a week to practice yoga and swimming. I am also 
learning German now.

Christoph, you are a team leader at holiday-
Check’s online Travel agency. The vast majority 
of your colleagues are women and your job is 
a predominantly female domain. Why did you 
decide to take on this role?
Christoph: Simply because I enjoy it. Customer contact 
and travelling have always been passions of mine, and 
my job is the perfect combination of the two. I enjoy 
helping people find their dream holidays. To do that, 
it doesn’t make a difference if you are male or female 
and gender is also completely irrelevant in our team. 
In the Online Travel Agency, we are a group of five 
men and 55 women. I will admit that I was a bit wor-
ried at the beginning (laughs). However, my fears were 
unfounded because the daily routine is very enjoya-
ble and any issues are always addressed frankly and 
openly. Naturally, sometimes there are the stereotyp-
ical “men versus women” comments – but it’s always 
good-natured. 

Could you tell us a bit about your training?
Christoph: I did my training as a travel agent at 
Lufthansa City Center – in the Bühler travel agency. 
This is a large chain in Baden-Wuerttemberg, in Ger-
many, and the training itself was excellent. I wanted 
to start working at HolidayCheck afterwards, and I ap-
plied for the position a good six months before the end 
of my training. Thankfully, everything went to plan 
and it was definitely the right decision. At Holiday-
Check, in addition to my work, I was able to complete 
a distance-learning program in tourism management 
through the ILS Hamburg. 

 ChRistoph heinzmann
team leader at the HolidayCheck Online 

Travel Agency in Bottighofen, Switzerland

Jayanthi
RobeRt 
practices yoga 
5 days a week
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What responsibilities does your team have at the 
online Travel agency?
Christoph: My holiday team mainly takes care of offer 
preparations. If a customer cannot find a suitable offer 
on our website right away, we respond to their inquir-
ies by email, or by phone if the customer prefers. We 
are also in charge of finding alternatives for our cus-
tomers if a booking cannot be completed, and provide 
personal holiday consultations through the Holiday-
Check Facebook page and in the HolidayCheck forum.  

What do you require to be successful in this job?
Christoph: Broad professional expertise, the desire to 
help people, a good insight into human nature, good 
social competence and, from time to time, plenty of 
patience. You should also be positive, view difficult 
situations as challenges and always focus on problem 
solving. This is the only way that we can convince cus-
tomers of the quality of our services and products. 

i enjoy helping people finD Their DreaM 
holiDays. To Do ThaT, iT Doesn’T Make a 
DifferenCe if you are Male or feMale anD iT is 
also CoMpleTely irrelevanT in our TeaM.

The holiDayCheCk “firsT responDer”  
TeaM on viDeo:  http://bit.ly/1Rmg3iV

you lead the “first responder” first aid group at 
holidayCheck. What made you launch it?
Christoph: Professional first aid can save lives. Outside 
of my work at HolidayCheck, I also volunteer in the 
emergency services and know that every second is cru-
cial in an emergency. This is also important in the of-
fice, because a lot can happen in an environment where 
a large group of people works together. Because of 
this, I started my own team of first-aiders in the office. 
They can be notified at any time via an email and SMS 
system and will arrive on the scene within minutes if a 
colleague requires first aid. 
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ClassiC trips under pressure
To determine the winners and losers in the early 
bird season from November 2015 to January 2016, 
 HolidayCheck analysed bookings and hit numbers 
(unique users on the HolidayCheck website) for the top 
20 HolidayCheck package holiday destinations. One 
thing is clear: the insecurity of German holidaymakers 
due to the security situation has diminished the inter
est in a number of traditional package tour destina
tions and drawn more attention to new holiday desti
nations. The losers in terms of early bird bookings are 
Tunisia, Egypt and Turkey, but also Malta and Cyprus. 
These countries were prominent in the media last year 
because of political unrest and also in connection with 
the current immigration crisis. A detailed look finds 
interest in Tunisia, determined by page visits (unique 
users), is down 63 percent compared to the previous 
year‘s early bird booking period. This coincides with 
a drop of 47 percent for bookings. Meanwhile, traffic 
and bookings for Egypt are down more than a third.

shift in terms of  
holiday  destinations
The good news is that German package tourists are 
not fundamentally against taking a holiday. Instead 
there has been an observed shift in the choice of holi
day destination. The winners in this respect are the 
holiday destinations of Bulgaria, Spain, Portugal, Do
minican Republic and United Arab Emirates. An annu
al comparison of bookings shows that Bulgaria posted 
an increase of 72 percent. In addition to the fact that 
the country is deemed secure, this is also down to 

How do German packaGe 
tourists travel?

the favourable holiday prices. At an average cost of 
67 euros per person per day for flight, accommodation 
and meals, Bulgaria is one of the most costeffective 
package tour destinations in 2016.

GettinG tiGht in spain and portuGal 
Southern European destinations popular with German 
package tourists have also experienced a massive rise 
in bookings during the 2015/2016 early bird booking 
season. Bookings for Spain and Portugal are conse
quently up almost 40 percent, which is spread primar
ily between the islands of Majorca, Gran Canaria and 
Madeira. 
 „As such, we recommend that particularly fam
ilies who are planning a holiday in Spain or Portu
gal should book as early as possible and not rely on 
picking up a lastminute deal. Capacities may well get 
a bit tight in summer 2016, meaning it may be difficult 
to find suitable accommodation,“ explained Stefan 
Schimanski, Director of Sales at HolidayCheck. There 
are also a number of winners in the early bird booking 
season outside of the top 20 group of HolidayCheck 
package tour destinations, with a particularly strong 
rise in interest shown in the newcomer destinations of 
Montenegro, Tanzania and Oman.

The complete HolidayCheck UrlaubsMonitor survey,  including 
 results relating to the mood and guest satisfaction levels of  German 
holidaymakers and average holiday costs can be found in German at: 
http://blog.holidaycheck.de/holidaycheck-urlaubsmonitor/

With its UrlaubsMonitor survey, HolidayCheck is presenting the first 

comprehensive study of the travel behaviour of German package tourists, 

providing an insight into the current mood, trends and developments in the 

2015/2016 early bird booking season. Here are just some of the results. 

28
Tomorrow focus AG 2015
HolidayCheck



spain
BulGaria

portuGal

tanzania

oman

monteneGro

united araB  
emirates

dominican 
repuBlic

tunisia
57 €

BulGaria
67 €

eGypt
72 €

Greece  
81 €

Price per person per day

turkey
73 €



Your personal 
 weather assistant 

The weather  
at a glance

The precipitation  
radar shows 

approaching rain 

48-hour monitoring 
of the meteorological 

condition

Push notifications 
warn of changes 

 in weather

The new 
Weeronline app 

convinces with its 
simple and clearly 
arranged design.

Development with users
„We want our users to be able to make the most out of 
each day by making their decisions easier and more 
enjoyable. That is why we are constantly developing 
new, intelligent products that are easy to operate. 
We believe that we can positively influence the lives 
of many people with a good product,“ says Meteo-
vista product manager Tjeerd van Zandwijk, who is 
responsible for the new Meteovista/Weeronline app, 
which has been available in the Apple App Store since 
December 2015. „It is very important to us to precisely 
analyse the needs of our target audience. And that‘s 
why we did a lot of user tests during the development 
of the app. It would be fair to say that we developed 
the app with our users.“

less is more
The new app has a simple and clearly-arranged design 
that conveys all the important information at a glance. 
„The simpler the design, the better the usability. 
Our goal was to be able to visually illustrate complex 
weather models and analyses, thereby making them 
easy to understand,“ Tjeerd explains. The app offers a 
notification centre with weather news and animations 
that can be personalised. The app user can choose 
how the weather information is to be displayed, for 
example as a radar or a chart. With push notifications 
that appear on the screen of the smartphone, users 

What should I wear today? 

A sweater or a t-shirt? 

Should I ride my bike to 

work or would it be better 

to drive? Will I be able to 

go skiing this weekend or 

might my fun on the slopes 

get rained out? Without a 

precise weather forecast, 

these questions are diffi-

cult to answer. The Dutch 

weather portal Meteovista/

Weeronline now offers a 

useful decision-making 

aid in the form of a new, 

 personalised weather app. 

Cutting a cake at the 
launch of the new app. 
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will be warned individually if rain, snow or tropical 
temperatures are approaching. 

new personalisation options
The app‘s concept is a long-term approach. Step by 
step, it is supposed to become a personal weather 
assistant. „We plan on adding new personalisation 
options with each update,“ says Tjeerd. There will be 
an app store within the app where users can down-
load additional functions, so-called widgets, that are 
tailored to their needs.  For example, a pollen count 
predictor for people with allergies or the current snow 
conditions for winter sports enthusiasts. 

A basic version of the app is available for free in the 
Apple App Store. The Weeronline App Pro, which 
features even more information and functions, costs 
€1.99. „So far, the feedback has been great. For four 
weeks, the Pro version of the app was among the Top 3 
of all purchased iPhone apps in the Netherlands. The 
free version has received good reviews from iPhone 
magazines and our users use the new app even more 
frequently than its predecessor,“ Tjeerd says proudly. 

Tjeerd van Zandwijk, Head of product  
at Meteovista (middle) with his team.



how to carry over that 

Jan Mikulica   
UX Research & User Insights 

 Manager & Cognitive Psychologist 
(MSc) at HolidayCheck

holiday feeling 
Relaxing, escaping the daily  

grind and getting away from  

work – according to a Forsa  

poll commissioned by the health 

insurance provider DAK, 85 percent of holiday

makers return from their holiday well rested or even 

very well rested. But when the stress of everyday 

life returns, that relaxed feeling is gone quickly. 

Psychologist Jan Mikulica, a user experience 

expert at HolidayCheck, offers tips on how 

to preserve the holiday feeling for as 

long as possible. 
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forget that they live right in the middle of a popular 
tourist destination that, all year long, attracts people 
from all over the world. How well do you really know 
the area you live in? Museums, architectural master-
pieces, the local environment, restaurants and thea-
tres – culture and sights are not merely found miles 
away from home. Buy a guide to your home town and 
be surprised by all of the things you can discover right 
outside of your own doorstep. 

●   Here is another important element associated 
with holidays that you should preserve: Spoiling 
yourself with a small treat should not be limited to 
the time you are on holiday. This is not a reference 
to expensive investments: A glass of red wine on the 
balcony, a visit to a massage parlour, a pasta dinner 
at your favourite Italian restaurant, a visit to the lake 
after a long day‘s work – according to the research of 
industrial psychologist Carmen Binnewies of the Uni-
versity of Münster, these small rewards to ourselves 
allow us to slow down and recharge our batteries in 
everyday life.

●   It sounds so easy and logical, but many people 
still struggle to adhere to these simple rules: Keep 
work and leisure separate! Leave your work back at 
the office – that not only applies to your holiday but 
also your everyday life. According to Prof. Dr. Binnen-
wies, it makes sense to define „sacrosanct times“ 
and „spatial strategies“. The weekend belongs  
to you and no work is done at the dining room 
table at home. 

●   You enjoyed being out and about without  
your smartphone while on holiday? Interestingly 
enough, after some time, people fall back into the 
same habits that they willingly and gladly gave up 
while on holiday. Why not integrate such „offline“ pe-
riods into your daily life? If necessary, there are apps 
like „offtime“ that can support you in this endeavour 
by restricting your smartphone use according to user 
specifications. 

●   A study by Dr. Nawijn of Erasmus University in 
Rotterdam indicates that looking forward to a holiday 
has proven to increase the level of happiness even 
months in advance. When one holiday ends, the next 
one begins! That means that you can start preparing 
your next trip shortly after returning from the pre-
vious one. After all, anticipation is known to be the 
greatest joy of them all!

●   Dutch tourism researcher Dr. Jeroen Nawijn calls 
it a holiday happiness curve: The stress of trav-
elling to and from the holiday destination negatively 
impacts the perceived happiness. Many holidaymakers 
want to get the most out of their days off and therefore 
do not return home until the very last day. Having to 
be back in the office again even before the suitcase 
has been emptied and the jet lag overcome can drain 
the freshly charged batteries more quickly than neces-
sary. It turns out that the first few days after the holi-
day are very important – treat yourself to a few days at 
home after your trip. This allows you to re-enter your 
daily routine at a measured pace and without stress. 
You will not regret it! 

●   Tap into your very own emotional cues: Things 
that you associate with a pleasant time during your 
holiday. Music is one example: Like a local hit song 
that was played over and over in beach bars or on the 
radio. When you hear it again, your brain will reward 
you with the corresponding positive emotions – some-
times even years later. Play the song at home on your 
couch and relive your holiday! 

●   A study by Prof. Dr. Sabine Sonnentag of the 
University of Konstanz indicates that the desire 
and commitment to work increase after a trip while 
burnout symptoms decrease. In order to make sure 
that this positive effect does not abate too quickly, 
you should try to go through your daily routine with 
greater awareness. Taking small breaks to relax can 
contribute to preserving that holiday feeling. Cog-
nitive training, for example the currently popular 
mindfulness training, can be recommended as well as 
body-centred exercises such as Taijiquan. 

●   You had the best curry ever on your trip? That, 
too, can be a stimulus that you can reactivate: Recre-
ating dishes from your destination with local spices 
is much more fun. Expand your tried and tested 
repertoire of meals with the local specialities of your 
holiday location. And your friends will love it when 
you complement the stories about your holiday with an 
authentic menu. 

●   The Canadian psychologist Dr. Papadopoulos 
sums it up by concluding: Even a short city tour „in 
between“ can have the same benefits as a multi-week, 
meticulously planned Caribbean holiday. Even employ-
ees at Lake Constance, where HolidayCheck is located, 
will get lost in the daily grind at some point and easily 

2

1

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

holiday feeling 

33
Tomorrow focus AG 2015

HolidayCheck



Financials
36 Letter to SharehoLderS

38 InveStor reLatIonS report

40 report of the SupervISory board

46 Group manaGement report

84 ConSoLIdated baLanCe Sheet

86  ConSoLIdated Statement of InCome 

87  ConSoLIdated Statement  
of ChanGeS In equIty

90  ConSoLIdated  Statement of CaSh fLowS

  notes

92  ConSoLIdated  Statement of ChanGeS  
In non-Current aSSetS 2015

94  ConSoLIdated  Statement of ChanGeS  
In non-Current aSSetS 2014

96 ConSoLIdated SeGment  report

98  noteS to the ConSoLIdated  
fInanCIaL StatementS

156  audItor´S report

34
Tomorrow focus AG 2015
Financials



35
Tomorrow focus AG 2015

Financials



Letter to sharehoLders

As you may remember, the slogan we chose for last 
year’s annual report was Be the change! True to this 
spirit, the Management Board and Supervisory Board 
conducted an open-ended review in order to estab-
lish how best to harness the growth potential of the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s various digital brands in 
the best interests of all its stakeholders.

ConCentration on holiday brands
Within the Travel segment, the Group hosts a num-
ber of strong and well-established holiday brands 
such as HolidayCheck, MeteoVista, MietwagenCheck 
and  Zoover. Our aim is to harness the power of these 
brands and make full use of the prospects for ex-
pansion that arise in one of the most important and 
biggest growth markets on the Internet. It is for this 
reason that we decided to concentrate all our attention 
on the Travel segment, partly so that we could adopt a 
more forceful response to increasing competition but 
also as the best way of exploiting potential growth op-
portunities. Having adopted this strategy, we took the 
decision to sell all our non-travel shareholdings. 

sale of publishing brands
We reached the conclusion that Burda Digital is best 
placed to take over TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing 
GmbH as the core asset of the Publishing segment 
and to support its further brand development. At the 
end of March 2015 we therefore signed an agreement 
with Burda Digital GmbH for the sale of TOMORROW 
FOCUS Publishing GmbH and its brands, including 
the news portal FOCUS Online, the German language 
edition of the online news and blogging portal The 
Huffington Post, the finance and stock market informa-
tion portal Finanzen100, the parents portal NetMoms 
and the digital marketing specialist TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media.

sale of subsCription brands
In June we announced the sale of EliteMedianet GmbH, 
together with its well-known online dating agency 
ElitePartner, to THMMS Holding GmbH, a subsidiary of 
the private equity fund Oakley Capital Private Equity II.

This was followed in December 2015 by the sale of 
jameda GmbH, which operates a physician rating 
portal by the same name. Burda Digital GmbH made 

dear shareholders

the highest offer in a bidding procedure coordinated by 
Altium Capital involving around 40 companies. 

Finally, in February 2016, we sold all the main assets of 
organize.me GmbH by way of an asset deal.  organize.me 
operated an online document storage service and a 
scanning app. 

suCCessful Completion  
of strategiC realignment
The above sales allowed us to complete the strategic 
realignment of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group to-
wards our Travel segment activities within roughly ten 
months and to generate net income from disposals of 
around EUR 85 million. 

travel segment performanCe  
in the finanCial year 2015
According to TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s own analysis, 
the package holiday industry in Germany, Austria and 
Switzerland (the German-speaking region) had a diffi-
cult year in 2015, with no further increase in its total 
revenue.
 In this context, HolidayCheck faced increasing 
competition from Germany’s other leading travel portal 
operators in the first half of the year. This drove up 
prices for Google’s auction-based AdWords service by 
a substantial margin, thus leading to a sharp increase 
in marketing costs. In the second half of the year, we 
adapted our marketing strategy accordingly. This in-
volved significantly reducing the amount we spend on 
AdWords and introducing an alternative marketing tool 
in the form of a voucher system designed to attract 
and retain customers. This strategy proved successful. 
According to our estimates, HolidayCheck managed 
to boost its share of the package holiday market at 
the expense of its competitors in a generally weak 
environment over the second half of 2015. Overall, 
 HolidayCheck AG was able to increase its revenue by 
around 8 percent in the financial year 2015.

In response to tough market conditions in the Dutch 
travel sector, the WebAssets Group embarked on a 
period of fundamental reorganisation. This included a 
complete redesign of the Zoover website and the dis-
posal of Tjingo’s and Zoover’s travel agency activities. 
As a result of these measures, revenue in 2015 was 
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below the level of the previous year. However, the 
prospects for growth in 2016 are very good now that 
the transformation process has been successfully 
completed. 

investment in our  
produCts and serviCes
The travel industry is currently experiencing a series 
of fundamental and disruptive changes. We are certain 
that there is still much more innovation to come than 
already lies behind us, and we want to play a major role 
in shaping those changes. Given the size and potential 
of the Central European travel market and the wealth of 
experience of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s holiday 
brands in meeting the needs of German-speaking and 
Dutch holidaymakers, we believe this goal is eminently 
achievable.

In the current financial year 2016 and beyond, 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG will therefore invest even 
more heavily in the further development of our prod-
ucts and services. Consideration will also be given 

to targeted acquisitions of digital travel companies 
that could usefully complement our existing product 
portfolio.

Our goal is to become the most holidaymaker-centred 
company in the world – fast and innovative, with a 
long-term strategy and a total focus on our customers. 
Our primary objective is to help people find their well-
earned holiday and then book it. 

We want every single member of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group’s workforce to put holidaymakers at the 
heart of their endeavours. 

Once again, we would like to thank all our shareholders 
for their loyalty over the last financial year. Please stay 
with us as we continue our exciting journey.

Yours sincerely

The Management Board

 MANAGEMENT BOARD OF TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
Dr Dirk Schmelzer (CFO), Georg Hesse (CEO), Timo Salzsieder (COO) from left to right



Dear ShareholDerS

Investor relatIons report  
for the fInancIal year 2015

For TOMORROW FOCUS AG, the financial year 2015 
was dominated by a new strategic focus on business 
operations in our Travel segment, a step that was 
accompanied by the disposal of our non-travel opera-
tions. The response from investors, analysts and the 
business media was very positive and initially led to a 
significant rise in our share price. However, the modi-
fied forecast issued in August subsequently weighed 
on the company’s share price for the rest of the year. 
Throughout this process of transformation, with all its 
ups and downs, we have striven at all times to provide 
analysts, journalists and in particular all our investors 
with regular, detailed and transparent information.

As part of our investor relations work in 2015, we 
held a total of six investor conferences and attended 
four investor road shows.
 Furthermore, the Management Board presented 
the company to interested analysts and institutional 
investors at an in-house event in Munich. 

As well as information relating to our company 
 reports, you will find a wealth of details on the 
company at www.tomorrow-focus.com. By way of 
example, our website contains presentations covering 
important investor events and roadshows.

For regular and fascinating insights into the world 
of TOMORROW FOCUS, you can also visit our social 
media channels on Facebook, Twitter, or XING. We 
are always delighted to welcome new followers.

Yours sincerely

Armin Blohmann

2015  
TOMORROW FOCUS AG  

GENERAL MEETING 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG  |  Neumarkter Strasse 61  |  81673 Munich, Germany
www.tomorrow-focus.de     www.facebook.de/tomorrowfocus      www.twitter.com/tomorrowfocus

Armin Blohmann
phone: + 49 (0) 89 9250 - 1256
email: a.blohmann@tomorrow-focus.de

Sabine Wodarz
phone: + 49 (0) 89 9250 - 1208
email: s.wodarz@tomorrow-focus.de

InveStor anD PublIc relatIonS contact
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toMorroW FocuS Share PrIce PerForMance chart For 2015

Key toMorroW FocuS Share Data

* As at 31 December 2015. No guarantee is assumed for completeness of the 
information provided.

lateSt toMorroW FocuS Share 
PrIce ratIngS by analyStS* ShareholDer Structure (rounDeD)

* As at 31 December 2015   ** As at 4 June 2014   
(No guarantee is assumed for completeness.)

TOMORROW FOCUS AG

Keydata TOMORROW FOCUS share price performance 

German securities code (WKN):  549532 Starting price 2015:  EUR 3.65

ISIN:  DE0005495329 2015 low:  EUR 2.87

Stock exchange symbol:  TFA 2015 high   EUR 5.65

Stock exchange segment:  Prime Standard Closing price 2015:  EUR 3.55

Designated Sponsor:  HSBC Trinkaus Share price performance 2015:  - 2.7 %

Indices:  CDAX, Technology All Share, Prime All Share

Number of shares 58,313,628
as at 31 December 2015: no-par value bearer shares 

Market capitalisation as at 31 December 2015:  EUR 207.0 Million

Recom-
mendation

Price 
target

Bankhaus Lampe Research hold EUR 3.90

Deutsche Bank hold EUR 4.20

Hauck & Aufhäuser Research hold EUR 4.30

HSBC Global Research hold EUR 3.80

Warburg Research hold EUR 3.70

€  
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Free float
41.0%

Burda Digital
GmbH 

58.8 %**

Management Board  
and Supervisory 
Board 
0.2 %* 

Publication of the 
financial results for 

the first quarter 2015

Publication of the 
financial results for 
the second quarter 

2015 and adjustment 
to the forecast

Publication of the 
financial results for 

the third quarter 2015

Announcement  
of sale of  

jameda GmbH

Announcement  
of sale of  
EliteMedianet GmbH

Publication of 
the results for 

the financial year 
2014 and sale of 

TOMORROW FOCUS 
Publishing GmbH
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RepoRt of the SupeRviSoRy BoaRd  
foR the financial yeaR 2015

For TOMORROW FOCUS AG the financial year 2015 
was one of targeted strategic realignment. Within just 
a few months, TOMORROW FOCUS was successfully 
transformed from an Internet holding company with 
three segments and a huge variety of digital business 
models into a digital company with a clear focus on the 
holiday market.

This transformation was preceded by lengthy discus
sions on strategy, in which the Management Board and 
Supervisory Board reached the view that the Group’s 
individual digital brands could no longer develop to 
their full potential within the existing Group structure. 
We examined how to harness the growth potential of 
each brand most effectively in the best interests of all 
our stakeholders. In the Travel segment, both Holiday
Check and Zoover are strong and wellestablished 
market leaders, and we firmly believe that we are best 
placed to exploit the opportunities for expansion in 
what is one of the Internet’s most important and big
gest growth markets. For this reason, the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board decided to concentrate 
all our resources on this sector in the future, which has 
also been the largest in previous years in terms of both 
revenue and earnings.
 We therefore initiated and successfully concluded 
sale processes for the brands that made up the Sub
scription and Publishing segments. We are confident 
that we have found the right partner for Tomorrow Fo
cus Publishing, ElitePartner, jameda and organize.me 
– one that will help them develop to their full potential. 
The sales generated a total of around EUR 85 million. 
We chose to use part of this available cash to pay off 
debts and another part to invest judiciously and intel
ligently in the further growth of our travel operations 
based on HolidayCheck and Zoover. We specifically 
plan to invest more heavily in the continued develop
ment of our products and services, both in the current 
financial year and beyond. Consideration will also be 
given to targeted acquisitions of digital travel com
panies that could usefully complement our existing 
product portfolio.
 The level of competition and the market environ
ment in the travel sector were extremely challenging 
in 2015 and will remain so for the foreseeable future. 

This was reflected in the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s 
operating results, which ended the year well below 
expectations. The Management Board and Supervisory 
Board share the view that this makes it all the more 
important to drive ahead with the abovementioned 
investment in our holiday brands. Our clearly defined 
goal is to offer our customers a unique holiday experi
ence by providing a service that sets us well apart from 
our competitors. We have exactly the right ingredients 
to make this happen: wellpositioned and popular holi
day brands, a highly qualified and motivated workforce 
and the financial capacity to plan for the long term. In 
short, we are ideally placed to generate and benefit 
from sustainable growth in the business.

Main issues discussed by  
the supervisory board
The Supervisory Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
performed the activities incumbent upon it under Ger
man law and the company’s articles of association dur
ing the financial year 2015. It regularly conferred with 
the Management Board and diligently supervised its 
activities. The Management Board regularly provided 
the Supervisory Board with written reports and verbal 
accounts containing information on the business plan, 
the course of business operations, future strategic de
velopment, risk management and all of the company’s 
major business transactions. The Supervisory Board 
was directly involved in all decisions of fundamental 
importance to the company.

Outside the regular Supervisory Board meetings, the 
Chairperson of the Supervisory Board and the Chairper
sons of individual Committees maintained close contact 
with the Management Board through facetoface and 
telephone meetings. These were held several times a 
month to ensure that they remained up to date with the 
business situation and significant business transactions.
 The Supervisory Board held a total of five regular 
meetings on 19 March 2015, 16 June 2015, 5 August 
2015, 29 September 2015 and 2 December 2015. A fur
ther meeting was held by telephone on 14 December 
2015. The Supervisory Board also passed 17 resolu
tions by way of written circulation during the course of 
the year.

dear shareholders,
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The main issues discussed during the regular Super
visory Board meetings were revenue, earnings and 
employment levels, as well as the financial position and 
liquidity of TOMORROW FOCUS AG and the Group.

On 4 February 2015, in the context of the decision by 
the Management Board to sell the Publishing segment, 
the Supervisory Board adopted a resolution by way of 
written circulation to establish a decisionmaking com
mittee to deal with the planned sale of TOMORROW 
FOCUS Publishing GmbH. This committee was set up 
to avoid any conflict of interest. 
 Since one of the Burda Group companies had ex
pressed an interest in buying the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group’s Publishing operations, the Supervisory Board 
deemed it prudent to establish a Committee that 
would not include representatives of Burda in order to 
monitor the sale process. The Committee was made up 
of Dr Dirk Altenbeck (Committee Chairperson), Holger 
Taubmann and Martin Weiß.

The Supervisory Board meeting on 19 March 2015 fo
cused on the Audit Committee report, which included a 
detailed review of the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements for 2014. At this meeting, the Superviso
ry Board also discussed business performance in the 
financial year 2014 as well as the financial statements 
and management reports of TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
and the Group as at 31 December 2014. It approved the 
findings of the audit and formally adopted the sin
gleentity financial statements, the consolidated finan
cial statements, the management reports and the de
pendent company report. In his capacity as chairperson 
of the committee dealing with the sale of  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Publishing GmbH, Dr Dirk Altenbeck explained 
to the Supervisory Board that a decision had been 
taken at the previous Committee meeting to approve 
a sale and purchase agreement between  TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG and Burda Digital GmbH on the takeover of 
TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH. 
 Furthermore the Management Board reported to 
the Supervisory Board on possible courses of action 
for the companies in the Subscription segment. The 
Supervisory Board pronounced itself in favour of 
selling the companies and approved a proposal by the 
Management Board to enter into talks with potential 
strategic partners.
 Other issues discussed at this meeting included 
the reports of the Management Board on the current 
market situation and the Group’s business performance 
and on the current liquidity and financing situation. 
The final matter to be discussed was the agenda of the 
2015 annual general meeting. The Supervisory Board 
issued its approval of the agenda for the 2015 annual 
general meeting on 14 April 2015 by way of written 
circulation. In the same written circulation procedure, 
the Supervisory Board also approved an agreement to 
cancel the service contract of Antonius Bouten, CEO 
and Chairperson of the Management Board. Under the 
terms of this agreement, he was to step down from the 
Management Board at the end of 30 June 2015.

On 8 June 2015, by way of written circulation, the Su
pervisory Board approved a sale and purchase agree
ment between TOMORROW FOCUS AG and THMMS 
Holding GmbH on the takeover of Elite Medianet GmbH.

 Stefan WinnerS
Chairperson of the Supervisory Board, Tomorrow FoCuS AG
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At its inaugural meeting following the annual gener
al meeting on 16 June 2015, the Supervisory Board 
reelected its former Chairperson, Stefan Winners. The 
Supervisory Board also reelected Dr Dirk Altenbeck 
to the position of Deputy Chairperson. Another item 
addressed during the Supervisory Board meeting was 
the report of the Audit Committee.

Furthermore, the Management Board informed the 
Supervisory Board of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s 
current market situation, business performance and 
Forecast I. HolidayCheck’s management team, inter 
alia, gave a detailed report on the company’s per
formance. The Management Board reported on the 
performance of the companies in the Subscription 
segment and updated the Supervisory Board on the 
progress of the anticartel review being conducted in 
connection with the sale of EliteMedianet GmbH and 
of ongoing negotiations for the sale of jameda and 
 organize.me. 
 In this context, the Supervisory Board adopted a 
resolution to establish a decisionmaking committee to 
deal in greater detail with the planned sale of jameda 
GmbH. This Committee was also set up to avoid any 
conflict of interest on the Supervisory Board. The Com
mittee was made up of Dr Dirk Altenbeck (Committee 
Chairperson), Thomas Döring and Holger Taubmann.
 In addition, the Supervisory Board approved a 
proposal by the Management Board to restructure the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS holding to reflect the Group’s 
new focus on business operations in the travel sector.

At its strategy meeting on 5 August 2015, the Su
pervisory Board and Management Board extensively 
discussed possible strategic courses of action for the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s travel operations. The 
Supervisory Board gave its approval for the commis
sioning of an expert report on Management Board 
remuneration, a comparative report on Supervisory 
Board remuneration and a longterm incentive plan for 
employees. 
 The Supervisory Board appointed Timo Salzsieder 
to the Management Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
with effect from 1 September 2015 up to 31 December 
2018 and approved revised rules of procedure for the 
Management Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG.
 The Management Board updated the Supervisory 
Board on the progress of the anticartel review being 
conducted in connection with the sale of EliteMedianet 
GmbH and of the ongoing sale processes for jameda 
and organize.me. 

At its meeting on 29 September 2015, the  Supervisory 

Board dealt with the report of the Audit Commit
tee and with the Management Board report on the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s current market situation, 
business performance and Forecast II. Moreover the 
Supervisory Board set out gender quotas for both Su
pervisory Board and Management Board. 
 Furthermore the Supervisory Board welcomed 
Georg Hesse, a candidate for the vacant position of 
Chairperson of the Management Board, to an initial ex
ploratory meeting. The Supervisory Board then asked 
Stefan Winners to conduct the remaining contractual 
negotiations with Georg Hesse. On 6 October 2015, 
the Supervisory Board adopted a resolution to appoint 
him to the position of Chairperson of the Management 
Board to take effect no later than on 1 February 2016. 
On 21 December 2015, by way of written circulation, 
the Supervisory Board approved the signing of Georg 
Hesse’s service contract and the early commencement 
of his contract on 1 January 2016. The Supervisory 
Board also approved the resignation of Christoph 
Schuh from the Management Board and the signing of 
a cancellation agreement with him. Christoph Schuh 
was previously responsible on the Management Board 
for the Group’s Publishing and Subscription assets 
and their successful sale, and he left the company on 
completion of the strategic realignment process. 

On 5 November 2015 the Committee set up to deal 
with the sale of jameda GmbH approved a sale and 
purchase agreement between TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
and Burda Digital GmbH on the takeover of jameda 
GmbH.

One of the items addressed in the Supervisory Board 
meeting on 2 December 2015 was the latest Audit 
Committee report. In addition, the Management Board 
informed the Supervisory Board of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group’s current market situation and business 
performance.
 In response to changes in the composition of the Man
agement Board, the Supervisory Board established new 
rules of procedure to take effect from 1 January 2016. 
 The Management Board reported to the Superviso
ry Board on the status of the negotiations for the sale 
of organize.me and on the successful completion of 
the sales processes for jameda and EliteMedianet. The 
Supervisory Board approved the signing of a share 
purchase agreement or an asset deal. It also approved 
a Management Board proposal to change the trading 
name of the company from TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
to HolidayCheck Group AG and to put a correspond
ing resolution to the vote at the 2016 annual general 
meeting.
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The Supervisory Board approved the sale of the oper
ations transfer agreement (OTA) assets of Tjingo and 
Zoover Travel to REAS Reizen, the cancellation of the 
profit transfer agreement and the associated adoption 
of a short financial year for Tomorrow Focus Publishing 
GmbH with retrospective effect dated 30 April 2015. 
It also approved the cancellation of the profit transfer 
agreement with jameda GmbH.
 The Management Board and Supervisory Board 
began to discuss TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s business 
plan for the year 2015, including its projected liquidity 
situation. These discussions were continued at an un
scheduled Supervisory Board meeting on 14 December 
2015. On 21 December 2015 the Supervisory Board 
approved the plan for the first four months of 2016 
by way of written circulation in order to give the new 
Management Board Chairperson the time needed to 
familiarise himself more fully with the company and 
make any adjustments to the business plan that may be 
required.

coMposition of the  
ManageMent board
The former Chairperson of the Management Board of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Antonius Bouten, notified the 
Supervisory Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG at the 
beginning of April 2015 that he did not intend to ex
tend his Management Board contract, which was due 
to end on 31 March 2016. By mutual agreement with 
the Supervisory Board, Antonius Bouten resigned from 
the company’s Management Board before the expiry of 
his contract. His resignation took effect at the end of 
30 June 2015.

In October 2015, the Supervisory Board of TOMOR
ROW FOCUS AG appointed Georg Hesse (43) to suc
ceed Antonius Bouten as CEO and Chairperson of the 
Management Board. Georg Hesse joined the company 
on 1 January 2016.
 As an experienced ecommerce and consumer 
brand expert, Georg Hesse will lead TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG – along with its travel brands – towards its 
stated goal of becoming one of Europe’s leading online 
travel companies. 
 In his previous position as Director at the German 
branch of Amazon EU Sàrl, Georg Hesse was respon
sible for the Home Living, Home Appliances, Major 
Appliances and Toys division. He held a number of 
management positions after joining Amazon in 1999.

In August 2015 the Supervisory Board of TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG appointed Timo Salzsieder (46) to the com
pany’s Management Board in the position of Chief Oper

ating Officer (COO) with effect from 1 September 2015.
 The new COO’s main role on the Management Board 
will be to assume overall responsibility for product 
development, including product management and IT.
Timo Salzsieder has held senior management positions 
within the TOMORROW FOCUS Group since 2010, in
cluding those of Group CTO and COO at HolidayCheck 
AG. Before joining the Group he held various senior 
positions, e.g. with Payback, arvato and D+S Europe.

Christoph Schuh, whose Management Board respon
sibilities at TOMORRROW FOCUS AG covered the 
Subscription and Publishing segments, stepped down 
on 31 December 2015 as the company’s strategic 
realignment process reached a successful conclusion. 
Both Management Board and Supervisory Board of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG had decided in 2014 to con
centrate the company’s business activities exclusively 
on the Travel segment. Following this decision, all the 
nontravel subsidiaries for which Christoph Schuh had 
responsibility on the Management Board were sold in 
2014 and 2015.

Dr Dirk Schmelzer has retained his position as Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO) of TOMORROW FOCUS AG.

coMposition of the  
supervisory board
At the annual general meeting of TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG on 16 June 2015, Aliz Tepfenhart and Dr Thom
as Döring were elected to the Supervisory Board in 
order to fill the positions left vacant by Philipp Welte 
and Martin Weiß, who stepped down at the end of the 
annual general meeting of shareholders.
 Aliz Tepfenhart is Managing Director of Burda Digi
tal GmbH, which brings together the digital companies 
and brands owned by Hubert Burda Media with a focus 
on B2C transactions.
 Dr Thomas Döring is a cofounder and a managing 
partner of the venture capital firm Delaunay Capital 
and is independent of Burda.

coMMittees
An Audit Committee was formed once again in the fi
nancial year 2015. Its members were Dr Dirk Altenbeck 
(Chairperson of the Audit Committee), Dr Andreas 
Rittstieg and Stefan Winners.

In February 2015 the Supervisory Board established 
a Committee to deal with the sale of TOMORROW 
FOCUS Publishing GmbH. The members of this Com
mittee were Dr Dirk Altenbeck (Chairperson), Holger 
Taubmann and Martin Weiß.
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A further Committee was established in June 2015 to 
deal with the sale of jameda GmbH. The members of 
this Committee were Dr Dirk Altenbeck (Chairperson), 
Dr Thomas Döring and Holger Taubmann.

No other committees were formed in the financial year 
2015.

corporate governance 
All meetings of the Supervisory Board and its Com
mittees were fully attended with the exception of the 
Supervisory Board meeting on 5 August 2015, at which 
Aliz Tepfenhart was not present, and the Supervisory 
Board meeting on 14 December 2015, at which Holger 
Taubmann was not present. 

In instances where relationships with companies in the 
Burda Group were relevant to discussions and deci
sions of the Management Board and Supervisory Board 
on the strategic direction and future development of 
the TOMORROW FOCUS Group in specific business 
areas and in relation to the sale of longterm equity 
investments or assets, the Supervisory Board members 
Stefan Winners, Dr Andreas Rittstieg and Philipp Welte 
did not participate in such discussions and decisions in 
order to avoid any conflict of interest. For this reason, 
the Supervisory Board established Committees to 
deal with these specific issues without representatives 
of the Burda Group. Apart from this, no conflicts of 
interest arose in 2015 on the part of Supervisory Board 
members in connection with their membership of the 
Supervisory Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG.

The Supervisory Board reviewed the efficiency of its 
activities in accordance with the German Corporate 
Governance Code during its meeting on 2 December 
2015.

The Management Board and Supervisory Board issued 
a joint declaration of conformity with the Corporate 
Governance Code on 2 December 2015 pursuant to 
section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act. 
The declaration has been made permanently available 
to the public on the company‘s website. Reference is 
also made to the corporate governance report on the 
company‘s website.

annual financial stateMents and 
consolidated financial stateMents
TOMORROW FOCUS AG prepared its annual financial 
statements and management report in accordance with 
the statutory requirements of the German Commercial 
Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB). The consolidated 

financial statements and the Group management report 
were prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The Munichbased branch office of Pricewaterhouse
Coopers Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungs
gesellschaft (PwC), Frankfurt am Main, Germany, 
audited the singleentity financial statements and man
agement report for the financial year from 1 January to 
31 December 2015 and the consolidated financial state
ments and Group management report for the same 
financial year. The auditor was requested at the time of 
the appointment to focus its audit on the impairment 
of goodwill as shown in the consolidated financial 
statements and of longterm equity investments as 
shown in the singleentity financial statements; the 
recognition and valuation of intangible assets in the 
consolidated financial statements; the deconsolida
tion of Group companies sold (TOMORROW FOCUS 
Publishing GmbH, EliteMedianet GmbH and jameda 
GmbH); the presentation of noncurrent assets held for 
sale and discontinued operations in the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS 5; impair
ment tests for goodwill and other intangible assets; 
the method of accounting for the longterm incentive 
programme according to the requirements of Interna
tional Financial Reporting Standard 2 (IFRS2) and the 
German Commercial Code; the recognition of revenue; 
segment reporting; and the reporting of opportunities 
and risks in the management report. The audit also fo
cused on the 2015 Enforcement Priorities established 
by the German Financial Reporting Enforcement Panel 
(Deutsche Prüfstelle für Rechnungslegung, DPR). 

Pursuant to section 317 paragraph 4 of the German 
Commercial Code, the auditor carried out a review and 
found that the Management Board has put in place a 
monitoring system, that the company fulfils the statu
tory requirements for the early detection of risks that 
might jeopardise the existence of the company and that 
the Management Board has taken appropriate steps to 
identify developments and counteract risks at an early 
stage.

The auditor submitted the declaration of independence 
required under the German Corporate Governance 
Code to the Supervisory Board, and disclosed the audit 
and consultancy fees for the corresponding financial 
year.

The auditor detailed the auditing principles in the audit 
report. It concluded that TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
complied with the statutory requirements of the Ger
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man Commercial Code and the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The auditor did not raise 
any objections in connection with the audit.

The singleentity financial statements and the con
solidated financial statements received the auditor’s 
unqualified approval. The singleentity financial state
ments, consolidated financial statements, singleentity 
management report, Group management report and 
auditor‘s report were made available to all members of 
the Supervisory Board. The financial statements were 
discussed in detail during the Supervisory Board‘s 
balance sheet meeting on 21 March 2016 in the pres
ence of an auditor, who also provided a report. The 
Supervisory Board went on to consider the findings of 
the audit on the impairment value of goodwill in the 
consolidated financial statements and of the longterm 
equity investment valuations in the singleentity finan
cial statements before going on to discuss the decon
solidation of the former Group companies sold.

The financial statements and management reports for 
both the single entity and the Group were examined in 
detail by the Supervisory Board. 
 No objections were raised upon conclusion of this 
examination. The Supervisory Board therefore ap
proved the result of the examination during its meeting 
on 21 March 2016. The singleentity financial state
ments and consolidated financial statements prepared 
by the Management Board were endorsed and adopted 
by the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board 
approved the singleentity management report and 
the Group management report and agreed with the 
assessment of the company‘s future development. 
The Supervisory Board agreed with the proposal of 
the Management Board for the appropriation of net 
retained profits.

audit of the dependency report 
pursuant to section 314  
paragraphs 2 and 3 of the  
gerMan stock corporation act 
At its meeting on 21 March 2016, the Superviso
ry Board also examined TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s 
Management Board report pursuant to section 312 of 
the German Stock Corporation Act on the disclosure 
of relatedparty transactions in the financial year 2015 
(dependency report).

The Supervisory Board examined this report and 
no objections were raised. The Management Board 
explained the advantages and possible risks associat
ed with the transactions specified in the dependency 

report to the Supervisory Board, which then examined 
them and weighed them up. The Supervisory Board 
also requested an explanation of the principles accord
ing to which the services provided by the company and 
the consideration received are determined.

Furthermore, the auditor examined the dependency 
report and issued the following opinion:

‘Following our statutory audit, it is our considered 
judgement that:
1.  the factual information contained in the report is 

accurate; and
2.  in terms of the legal transactions shown in the 

report that were conducted under the circumstanc
es known at the time, the consideration paid by the 
company was not inappropriately high.’

The auditor submitted the audit report to the Supervi
sory Board. The dependency report and audit report 
were made available to the Supervisory Board in good 
time. The auditor attended the meeting of the Super
visory Board on 21 March 2016 and outlined the main 
findings of its audit of the dependency report.

The Supervisory Board, for its part, examined the 
Management Board‘s dependency report and the audit 
report produced by the auditor.

The Supervisory Board agreed with the audit findings 
and approved the report based on the concluding re
sults of its own examination. Following the concluding 
result of the audit, there are no objections from the Su
pervisory Board to the declaration of the Management 
Board at the end of the dependency report.

thanks
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Man
agement Board and all employees of the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group for their hard work in the reporting 
year 2015 and wish them every success in the finan
cial year 2016. 

Munich, Germany, March 2016

On behalf of the Supervisory Board 

Stefan Winners
Chairperson
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 TOMORROW FOCUS GROUp ManaGeMenT 
RepORT FOR The FinanCial yeaR 2015

1. GROUp STRUCTURe  
and bUSineSS MOdel

1.1 Organisational structure 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, a joint-stock company under 
German law (Aktiengesellschaft) with its registered 
office in Munich, Germany, is the parent company of 
the    TOMORROW FOCUS Group, an Internet group 
with operations in Central Europe. We have been an 
exchange-listed company for around sixteen years. 
 Over the course of financial 2015, as part of a strate-
gy of realignment towards the business activities of the 
Travel segment,   TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold all its 
operating companies outside the Travel segment with 
the exception of MeteoVista and organize.me. 
 The brands that make up the Travel segment occupy 
leading positions in their respective markets. In 2015 
our average workforce was 24 at the parent company’s 
site in Munich and 387 full-time equivalents (FTEs) at 
five locations in Germany, the Netherlands, Poland and 
Switzerland. In financial 2015  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
generated external revenue of EUR 0.2 million, while 
the consolidated revenue of the entire  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group reached EUR 104.4 million.

The registered office of the company is in Germany; 
the headquarters of the Group are located in Munich. 
As at 1 January 2016, the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
was led by a Management Board comprising the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO), the Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) and the Chief Operating Officer (COO).

The Management Board of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
manages the company’s business in accordance with 
the law, the articles of association and its own rules of 
procedure. The latter includes a schedule of responsi-
bilities, in which individual business areas are allocated 
to members of the Management Board. 
 The Management Board of  TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
is the only body with overall responsibility for the 
governance of the company according to the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG). By 
contrast, at all other levels of the Group, management 
responsibility is always assigned to individuals, who 
make independent decisions based on Group guide-
lines and rules of procedure and take personal respon-
sibility for their own areas of the business.

Reflecting the Group’s strategic realignment, a num-
ber of changes were made in the composition of the 
Management Board in financial 2015. Our former CEO 
Antonius Bouten stepped down on 30 June 2015 and 
was followed by Christoph Schuh on 31 December 
2015. The company’s new CEO, Georg Hesse, took up 
his position on the Management Board on 1 January 
2016. Timo Salzsieder was appointed Chief Operating 
Officer on 1 September 2015 (see also section 2.2.1 of 
this Management Report).

The Management Board remit of  TOMORROW 
  FOCUS AG’s new Chief Executive Officer, Georg Hesse, 
who joined the company on 1 January 2016, includes 
the functions and areas listed below:

•  information and consultation with  
the Supervisory Board; 

• overall strategy and corporate development; 
• marketing and sales;
• human resources;
• Group communications;
• Group internal audit. 

In his position as Chief Financial Officer, Dr Dirk 
 Schmelzer has responsibility for the functions and 
areas shown below (as at 1 January 2016):

•  controlling, reporting, risk management and internal 
control systems;

•  financial management of long-term equity 
 investments; 

• financing and bank relations;
• external financial reporting;
• investor relations;
• legal, contract and tax management;
•  general administration and purchasing.

The Chief Operating Officer, Timo Salzsieder, is re-
sponsible for the functions and areas shown below (as 
at 1 January 2016):

•  product development and operation of all the brands 
owned by  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG;

•  IT units (development and operation);
•  product and user experience (UX) including 

 inter action/visual design.
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1.2 Segments
At Group level, following the winding up of the Sub-
scription and Publishing segments on completion of 
the strategic realignment process (see also section 
2.2.1 of the Management Report), we reported key 
financial indicators in financial 2015 for the segments: 

• Travel
• Holding/Other

From 1 January 2016 onwards, there is only one Group 
segment. The former Holding/Other segment no longer 
constitutes a separately run area of business activity.

1.3 Description of business operations

Travel segment
The Group’s operating segment Travel encompasses 
all the companies that mainly generate revenue from 
transaction-based online business models in the field 
of travel and weather. 

Holiday Check AG (Bottighofen, Switzerland) and 
WebAssets B.V. (Zeist, Netherlands) operate a range of 
hotel rating and holiday booking portals that generate 
revenue in the form of commission for package tours 
and hotel bookings and from website links that take 
visitors to other booking portals.

The core sales markets for these web portals are Aus-
tria, Belgium, Germany, the Netherlands, Poland and 
Switzerland.

WebAssets B.V. also operates advertising-based 
weather portals. Since 1 January 2015 these have been 
consolidated in the Travel segment due to the winding 
up of the Publishing segment. 

The main source of revenue is online advertising, and 
the core sales markets are Belgium, Germany and the 
Netherlands.

In financial 2015 the Group’s Travel segment generated 
external revenue of EUR 104.2 million (financial 2014: 
EUR 99.8 million). 

Holding/Other-Segment
The Group’s Holding/Other segment is made up of the 

non-operating companies  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
and TF Digital GmbH, both of which are based in the 
German city of Munich. Neither of these companies 
generated any significant amounts of revenue in 2014 
or 2015.

1.4 Financial control system with financial  
and non-financial indicators 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG has developed a financial 
control system to control and develop each of its 
subsidiaries. The aim is for those companies to grow 
faster than the market average. The financial control 
system defines a series of indicators for growth in 
sales revenue, profitability and capital efficiency and 
for the optimisation of our capital structure. To this 
end, a number of key financial indicators are analysed 
either every month, as in the case of consolidated 
revenue and Group operating earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA), or every 
quarter and month, as in the case of the equity ratio. 
These indicators are then compared with the Group’s 
annual forecast figures and the twice-yearly extrapola-
tion forecast. 
 In addition, further non-financial key performance 
indicators are calculated each month for control pur-
poses and are used within the operating companies 
of the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group (Holiday Check AG 
and the WebAssets Group). External indicators such as 
inflation rates, interest rates, general economic trends 
and market-specific business developments are also 
regularly analysed for company management purposes. 
Regular meetings (jours fixes) and shareholder meet-
ings are held with the individual subsidiaries.

 ManageMent Board of  toMorroW   foCUS ag
Dr Dirk Schmelzer (Chief Financial Officer), Georg Hesse (Chief Executive Officer), 
Timo Salzsieder (Chief Operating Officer) 
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1.4.1 Growth and revenue
For  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, profitable revenue 
growth is an important contributor to long-term 
growth in enterprise value. Our aim is to exceed aver-
age sector growth in our sales markets.
 The indicator used to compare the Group’s perfor-
mance with that of each sector is the rate of growth in 
sales revenue as shown in the Group’s financial state-
ments.

reached, as Group operating EBITDA fell by 64.0 per-
cent.

1.4.3 Capital structure
A healthy capital structure is a prerequisite for sus-
tained growth in revenue and earnings. In order to 
manage our capital structure, it is essential that we 
have broad access to a range of external financing on 
the capital markets and that we service our debts. 

In order to maintain a healthy capital structure, in 2014 
the company established a target for financial 2015 of 
keeping its equity ratio (equity / total capital x 100 per-
cent) to at least 40 percent. This target was achieved; 
the actual equity ratio was 76.3 percent.
 Information on how the equity ratio is calculated 
can be found in section 2.2.2.2.1 of this Group man-
agement report under the heading ‘Capital structure’.

Group operatinG eBitDa*

FY 2015
EUR million

FY 2014
EUR million

Group operating EBITDA* 6.4 17.8

(Sales revenue for the reporting period / Sales revenue for the same period in the 
previous year) x 100 percent 
* Revenue comparison based on revenue from continuing operations

(equity / total capital) x 100%

*  Further information on Group operating EBITDA can be found in section 
2.2.2.1.4 of this report under the heading ‘Balances transferred to Group 
 EBITDA and Group operating EBITDA’.

Growth in revenue*

equity ratio

Growth in sales revenue – financial year 2015 4.3%

Growth in sales revenue – financial year 2014 11.7% 

Equity ratio FY 2015 76.3%

Equity ratio FY 2014 53.7%

In 2014, we forecast a year-on-year percentage in-
crease between the high single digits and the low dou-
ble digits in the revenue of the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group in financial 2015 (after adjusting for acquisitions 
and disposals of long-term equity investments). Based 
on continuing operations, this target was not reached 
in financial 2015. The actual figure for revenue growth 
was 4.3 percent.

1.4.2 Profitability
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG endeavours to maintain or 
improve the profitability of its business. At Group 
and segment level, the indicator used to measure and 
control profitability is the change in Group operating 
EBITDA. This indicator has the biggest impact on capi-
tal market communications.

In 2014, we set ourselves the target of achieving a 
year-on-year percentage increase of at least ten per-
cent in Group operating EBITDA. This target was not 

1.4.4 Non-financial performance indicators
In addition to an efficiently managed organisation, the 
following non-financial performance indicators make 
an important contribution to the long-term success of 
the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

Customer satisfaction 
Taking customer needs into account is an elementary 
aspect of the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s business 
philosophy. The objective is to create optimum added 
value for customers by working precisely, to deadline 
and delivering high quality results while remaining 
flexible and aware of costs. In all this, we never lose 
sight of our customers’ interests.
  HolidayCheck is the first hotel ratings platform 
to have been awarded a certificate from the German 
technical control board, TÜV Süd. The latest certifi-
cate is dated July 2015. It has come out on top in many 
tests such as the hotel brokerage portal comparison 
conducted most recently by the German consumer 
organisation Stiftung Warentest in May 2012. Second 
place went to Zoover. 
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Sector and employee know-how
One of the main factors contributing to the sustaina-
ble development of the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
has been its extensive knowledge of the markets that 
are relevant to the company, and this will come to be 
even more important in the future. Consequently, the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group strives to recruit people 
with a good level of technical and industry knowledge 
for positions within the Group and to provide regular 
opportunities for professional development. We have 
established specific training regimes to help our people 
develop new personal and professional skills. 
 To this end, a wide range of training seminars is 
offered for employees and managerial staff to support 
their professional development and strengthen their 
commitment to the company. 
 Target agreement meetings are held between 
employees and superiors on a quarterly basis, while 
feedback and career development interviews are held 
once a year.
 These measures form part of a corporate culture 
that is characterised by scope for creativity, flat hierar-
chies, and open and constructive communication.
 As forecast in the previous year, in financial 2015 
this performance indicator remained stable.

Product and service quality
The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group is committed to 
delivering products and services marked by excellent 
quality and total customer orientation. To this end, reg-
ular training is provided to the employees of the Group. 
In addition outside inspectors regularly carry out 
checks in relation to the quality of services rendered by 
individual companies and brands of the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group. By way of example, the website www.
holidaycheck.de was awarded the s@afer shopping 
certificate by the German technical control board (TÜV 
Süd) in recognition of its quality, security and transpar-
ency. We know that ongoing innovation, which allows 
us to keep improving our products and services, is vital 
to our long-term success. 
 In financial 2015 there were no significant changes 
in this indicator compared with the previous year.

1.5 Research and development activities
Development activities in the Travel segment are con-
ducted on a decentralised basis within the Group com-
panies. To a large extent,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s 
subsidiaries draw on their own development resources. 
The work performed by Group employees in this field 
is capitalised as software developed in-house, while 
the remaining work is recognised as personnel costs. 
Whenever subsidiaries make use of externally supplied 

development services, that work is also capitalised, 
while the remaining development costs are recognised 
under cost of materials. In general, there are no specif-
ic research expenses. As at 31 December 2015, exclud-
ing discontinued operations, around 95 staff members 
were employed by the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group in 
development roles (31 December 2014: 76).

Capitalised development costs for 2014 and 2015 are 
shown in the table below. In the financial year 2015, 
the change in accumulated amortisation on own work 
capitalised was EUR 5.6 million (financial year 2014: 
EUR 2.1 million). This figure includes impairment of 
EUR 2.9 million (financial year 2014: EUR 0.0 million).

own work capitaliseD

Own work capitalised – FY 2015 EUR 3,345 thousand

Own work capitalised – FY 2014 EUR 3,171 thousand
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2. eCOnOMiC RepORT

2.1 Macro-economic and industry situation

2.1.1 Macro-economic situation
The overall picture of economic activity in the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s core sales markets in 
2015 was one of moderate growth. 
 According to Deutsche Bank’s Global Market Re-
search unit, inflation-adjusted gross domestic product 
(GDP) in the Netherlands rose by 1.9 percent (GDP 
2014: 1.0 percent). The analysts put inflation-adjust-
ed growth in Belgian GDP at 1.4 percent (GDP 2014: 
1.3 percent). Again after adjusting for inflation, eco-
nomic growth in Austria was weak at just 0.8 percent 
(GDP 2014: 0.5 percent). The figure for Germany was 
1.7 percent (GDP 2014: 1.6 percent), while Switzer-
land’s total output grew by 1.0 percent (GDP 2014: 
1.9 percent). 
 The GDP figures quoted above are based on esti-
mates published by Deutsche Bank’s Global Market 
Research unit on 19 February 2016.

2.1.2 Industry situation
The overall picture for financial 2015 in the core mar-
kets targeted by the transaction-based travel portals of 
the Group’s Travel segment was uneven. While Austria, 
Germany and the Netherlands all reported modest rev-
enue growth in tourism, Switzerland reported a decline 
owing to difficult economic and industry-specific con-
ditions. In 2014, we forecast moderate growth in all the 
core markets of the Group’s Travel segment in financial 
2015. With the exception of Switzerland, core market 
results were therefore in line with our projections.

As forecast in 2014, competitive pressures in the seg-
ment’s core sales markets were again higher compared 
with the previous year, largely as a result of increased 
marketing expenditure and the entry of new competitors. 
 Despite this, based on assessments by the companies 
concerned,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s travel portals 
were able to increase their respective market shares.
 These assessments are based on the company’s own 
estimates.

2.2 Business developments and performance
Financial 2015 presented a mixed picture for the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group. The proceeds generated 
by the disposal of discontinued operations exceeded 
the Management Board’s expectations by a consider-
able margin. By contrast, consolidated revenue and 
Group operating EBITDA from continuing operations 
remained below the Management Board’s expecta-

tions, mainly as a result of more intense competition 
and, linked to this, a substantial increase in marketing 
costs. Consolidated revenue ended the year 4.3 per-
cent higher at EUR 104.4 million (2014: EUR 100.1 mil-
lion). However, Group operating EBITDA fell by 
64.0 percent year on year from EUR 17.8 million to 
EUR 6.4 million.  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG had forecast 
a percentage increase between the high single digits 
and low double digits in consolidated revenue and of 
at least ten percent in Group operating EBITDA. These 
figures were not reached.
 As at 31 December 2015, the equity ratio stood at 
76.3 percent compared with the year-end figure of 
53.7 percent in 2014. This increase was mainly due 
to the above-mentioned disposals, which generated 
income in excess of their carrying values. As such, the 
minimum equity ratio of 40 percent forecast by the 
Management Board for 2015 was reached.

2.2.1 Business developments

Group ‘Travel’ segment
Anja Keckeisen succeeds Gilles Despas as Chief Exe-
cutive Officer at Holiday Check AG
Anja Keckeisen was appointed Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) at Holiday Check AG (Bottighofen, Switzerland) 
in June 2015. She succeeded Gilles Despas, who had 
held the role at the company for around three years.

Disposal of assets
The assets of  TOMORROW Travel B.V. and Zoover 
Travel B.V. were sold to B.V. Reisbureau under a sale 
agreement dated 13 November 2015. The asset sale 
generated a loss on disposal of EUR 0.1 million. In this 
context, the goodwill of  TOMORROW Travel B.V. was 
written down by EUR 3.4 million.

Discontinued operations
Disposal of  TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH 
In March 2015  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG signed an 
agreement with Burda Digital GmbH covering the sale 
of  TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH, which is 
home to the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s publishing 
activities, including the news portal FOCUS Online; 
the German-language edition of The Huffington Post, 
a news portal and platform for blogs; the finance and 
stock market information portal Finanzen100; the 
parent portal NetMoms; and  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media, which specialises in digital marketing. The sale 
agreement took effect on 30 April 2015.

The sale was part of the strategic realignment of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG towards digital transac-

50
Tomorrow focus AG 2015
Group management report



tion-based business models in the field of travel. 

The agreed purchase price was EUR 30.2 million. 
Under IFRS rules, the book profit appears in the 
consolidated financial statements of the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group as EUR 21.1 million. The transaction 
was completed on 30 April 2015.

Disposal of EliteMedianet GmbH 
Under an agreement that took effect on 31 October 
2015,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold EliteMedianet 
GmbH, which operates the premium online dating 
agency ElitePartner, to THMMS Holding GmbH, a sub-
sidiary of the private equity fund Oakley Capital Private 
Equity II. 

The deal generated a cash inflow for  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG of EUR 15.3 million. The sale price for Elite-
Medianet GmbH was EUR 21.3 million.  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG granted the buyer a loan with a term of up 
to two years to cover the remaining EUR 6.0 million of 
the agreed price. A further EUR 0.1 million takes the 
form of post-sale receivables.
 Under IFRS rules, the book loss on disposal is rec-
ognised at EUR 0.2 million in the consolidated financial 
statements of the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

Disposal of jameda 
Under an agreement that took effect on 31 December 
2015,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold jameda GmbH, 
which operates a physician ratings portal by the same 
name, to Burda Digital GmbH. 

The purchase price was EUR 46.8 million. Burda 
Digital made the highest offer in a bidding procedure 
coordinated by Altium Capital involving around 40 
companies. Under IFRS rules, the book profit is rec-
ognised in the consolidated financial statements of the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group at EUR 38.5 million. The 
transaction was completed at the end of 2015.

Group Holding/Other segment
Changes to the composition of the Supervisory Board
At the annual general meeting of  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG on 16 June 2015, Aliz Tepfenhart and Dr 
Thomas Döring were elected to the Supervisory Board 
by the shareholders attending the meeting in order to 
fill the positions left vacant by Martin Weiß and Philipp 
Welte, who stepped down at the end of the annual 
general meeting of shareholders.

Aliz Tepfenhart is Managing Director of Burda Digital 
GmbH, which brings together the digital companies 

and brands owned by Hubert Burda Media with a focus 
on B2C transactions.
 Dr Thomas Döring is a co-founder and managing 
partner of the venture capital firm Delaunay Capital.

Changes to the composition of the Management Board 
Antonius Bouten steps down as Chief Executive Officer
Antonius Bouten, the former CEO of  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG, informed the Supervisory Board at the 
beginning of April that he did not intend to extend his 
Management Board contract, which was due to expire 
on 31 March 2016. By mutual agreement with the Su-
pervisory Board, Antonius Bouten stepped down early 
from the company’s Management Board with effect 
from the end of 30 June 2015.

Georg Hesse appointed new Chief Executive Officer
In October 2015 the Supervisory Board of 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG appointed Georg Hesse (43) 
to succeed Antonius Bouten as CEO and Chairperson 
of the Management Board. Georg Hesse joined the 
company on 1 January 2016.

As an experienced e-commerce and consumer brand 
expert, Georg Hesse will lead  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
– along with its travel brands – towards its stated goal 
of becoming one of Europe’s leading online travel 
companies. 
 In his previous position as Director at the German 
branch of Amazon EU Sàrl, Georg Hesse was respon-
sible for the Home Living, Home Appliances, Major 
Appliances and Toys division. He held a number of 
management positions after joining Amazon in 1999. 
Georg Hesse holds a Master of Business Adminis-
tration (MBA) from Henley Management College in 
London and a Bachelor of Arts (BA) degree in Media 
Marketing.

Timo Salzsieder appointed Chief Operating Officer
In August 2015 the Supervisory Board of  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG appointed Timo Salzsieder (46) to the 
 position of Chief Operating Officer (COO) on the com-
pany’s Management Board with effect from 1 Septem-
ber 2015.
 The new COO’s main role will be to assume over-
all responsibility for product development, including 
product management and IT.
 Timo Salzsieder has held senior management 
positions within the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
since 2010, including those of Group CTO and COO at 
Holiday Check AG. Before joining the Group he held 
various senior positions, e.g. with Payback, arvato and 
D+S Europe.
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Christoph Schuh steps down  
from the Management Board
Christoph Schuh, whose Management Board respon-
sibilities at TOMORRROW  FOCUS AG covered the 
Subscription and Publishing segments, stepped down 
on 31 December 2015 as the company’s strategic rea-
lignment process reached a successful conclusion.

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG had previously decided to 
concentrate the company’s business activities exclu-
sively on the Travel segment. Following this decision, 
all the non-travel subsidiaries for which Christoph 
Schuh had responsibility on the Management Board 
were sold in 2014 and 2015.

Group segment structure 2015
Group ‘Publishing’ segment wound up
The Group’s former Publishing segment was wound up 
following the disposal of  TOMORROW FOCUS Publish-
ing GmbH and its subsidiaries. MeteoVista B.V., which 
operates a range of weather portals and was previously 
consolidated in the Publishing segment, was subse-
quently consolidated (together with adjusted compar-
ison figures for 2014) in the Group’s Travel segment 
with retrospective effect from 1 January 2015. 

Group ‘Subscription’ segment wound up
The Group’s former Subscription segment was wound 
up following the disposal of EliteMedianet GmbH and 
the decision to hold the remaining subsidiaries in the 
segment for sale, i.e. jameda GmbH (operator of the 
physician rating portal jameda.de) and organize.me 
GmbH (operator of an app-based document organisa-
tion and reminder system).

New Group segment structure
With effect from 30 June 2015, the Group was divided 
into the following segments.

The Group’s Travel segment brings together the follow-
ing subsidiaries:
•  Holiday Check AG (Bottighofen, Switzerland) and its 

subsidiaries
•  WebAssets B.V. (Zeist, Netherlands) and its 

 subsidiaries (including MeteoVista B.V. (Zeist, 
 Netherlands)

•  TOMORROW Travel B.V. (Zeist, Netherlands)
•  TOMORROW Travel Solutions GmbH (Munich, 

 Germany)

The Group’s Holding/Other segment is made up of the 
following companies: 

•  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG (Munich, Germany)
•  TF Digital GmbH (Munich, Germany)

The company organize.me GmbH (Munich, Germany) 
was classed as ‘held for sale’.

2.2.2 Performance
The following comparisons of income and assets are 
based in all cases on continuing operations. 
The income and asset forecasts contained in the 2014 
Group management report in respect of financial 2015 
also included discontinued business units.

2.2.2.1 Income

2.2.2.1.1 Revenue
At EUR 104.4 million, consolidated revenue at 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG for the financial year 2015 
was up by 4.3 percent from EUR 100.1 million in the 
previous year. This was below the target of high sin-
gle-digit to low double-digit sales growth set out in the 
Group management report for 2014.

Revenue in the Travel segment rose by 4.4 percent 
from EUR 99.8 million in 2014 to EUR 104.2 million.
This was mainly due to a very impressive performance 
by Holiday Check AG, which generated a year-on-year 
increase in revenue of around 8 percent despite intense 
competition in the German market. In financial 2015, 
the portfolio of tour operators choosing to market their 
holidays on the HolidayCheck booking platform was 
almost unchanged compared with the previous year.
 Revenue at  TOMORROW Travel B.V. and in the travel 
division of WebAssets B.V. ended the year significantly 
lower as a result of difficult industry conditions in the 
Netherlands. Another factor was the restructuring pro-
cess in financial 2015 that accompanied the disposal of 
assets of  TOMORROW Travel B.V. and Zoover Travel B.V.

2.2.2.1.2 Consolidated statement of income
Group EBITDA (earnings from operating activities 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisati-
on) for financial 2015 was down 91.5 percent year on 
year at EUR 1.6 million (2014: EUR 18.9 million).

Group operating EBITDA fell by 63.8 percent in finan-
cial 2015 to EUR 6.4 million (2014: EUR 17.8 million). 
The forecast double-digit increase was therefore not 
achieved.

Group EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) stood 
at minus EUR 14.5 million for the financial year 2015 
compared with the figure of EUR 12.9 million for 2014.
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The consolidated financial result of the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group for the financial year 2015 improved 
from minus EUR 3.4 million in 2014 to minus 
EUR 1.9 million.
 This improvement was caused by a year-on-year 
reduction of EUR 1.5 million in financial expenditure. 
In turn, this was mainly due to a fall of EUR 1.0 million 
in dividend payments to non-Group shareholders once 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG acquired all the remaining 
shares in WebAssets B.V. in 2014 and to a EUR 0.7 mil-
lion decline in loan interest expenses.

Group EBT (earnings before taxes) from continuing 
operations for the financial year 2015 stood at minus 
EUR 16.4 million compared with EUR 9.5 million in 2014.

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes from con-
tinuing operations for the financial year 2015 stood at 
minus EUR 16.4 million compared with EUR 6.9 million 
in 2014.

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes from 
discontinued operations for the financial year 2015 
stood at EUR 58.9 million compared with minus 
EUR 10.6 million in 2014.

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes for the 
financial year 2015 totalled EUR 42.5 million compared 
with minus EUR 3.7 million in 2014.

Group comprehensive income for the financial year 
2015 was EUR 43.4 million compared with minus 
EUR 3.7 million in 2014.

Consolidated earnings per share from continuing 
operations for the financial year 2015 were minus 
EUR 0.28 (2014: EUR 0.12).

Consolidated earnings per share from discontinued 
operations for the financial year 2015 were EUR 1.01 
(2014: minus EUR 0.18).

Consolidated earnings per share from all operations 
for the financial year 2015 were EUR 0.73 (2014: minus 
EUR 0.06).

Notes to other items in the statement of income
The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s other income 
declined from EUR 4.8 million in financial 2014 to 
EUR 3.0 million in the year under review. In 2014, 
the main item under this heading was non-recurring in-
come of EUR 1.6 million from the reversal of a put/call 
obligation linked to the acquisition of the remaining 

49.01 percent stake in WebAssets. The 2014 figure also 
contained non-recurring income of EUR 0.4 million 
from the revaluation of earn-outs for WebAssets. 

Other own work capitalised rose slightly to 
EUR 3.3 million in financial 2015 (2014: EUR 3.2 mil-
lion).

Cost of materials at the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
stood at EUR 8.3 million in financial 2015, slightly be-
low the figure of EUR 8.5 million in the previous year.

The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s personnel costs 
for the financial year 2015 increased to EUR 32.1 mil-
lion compared with EUR 26.4 million in 2014. This 
was primarily due to restructuring costs (severance 
payments and employee release agreements) total-
ling EUR 3.2 million; higher personnel costs due to 
the appreciation of the Swiss franc against the euro 
(EUR 2.3 million); additions to and revaluations of 
existing obligations from employee stock option pro-
grammes (EUR 1.0 million); and an increase in the total 
workforce from 377 to 387.

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on 
tangible and intangible assets rose from EUR 6.0 mil-
lion in 2014 to EUR 16.1 million in 2015. This year-
on-year increase was mainly due to impairment of 
EUR 9.5 million. This total figure includes goodwill 
impairment of EUR 3.4 million (2014: EUR 0.0 million) 
following the disposal of assets of  TOMORROW Travel 
B.V.; impairment of EUR 2.9 million on software pro-
duced in-house at HolidayCheck (2014: EUR 0.0 mil-
lion); and impairment totalling EUR 3.2 million in 
respect of bought-in software at WebAssets and a 
domain at HolidayCheck (2014: EUR 0.0 million).

Other operating expenses at the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group rose from EUR 54.3 million in 2014 
to EUR 68.9 million. The main factor here was a 
EUR 10.6 million increase in marketing costs. 

Actual taxes stood at EUR 0.9 million, down 
EUR 2.1 million on the figure for 2014. This was due 
to a decline in local results at Holiday Check AG and 
WebAssets B.V.

Deferred tax expenses rose by EUR 0.5 million to 
EUR 0.9 million year on year.
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2.2.2.1.3 Segment information
There follows a breakdown of the earnings situation for 
financial 2015 in each of the business segments.

Travel segment 
Based on  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s own estimates, 
the travel sector in the German-speaking area (Aus-
tria, Germany and Switzerland) generated moderate 
growth. At Holiday Check AG, which operates in this 
region, revenue was up by around 8 percent and 
therefore recorded an increase above the market 
average. Another factor affecting the travel market in 
the German-speaking area in financial 2015 was tough 
marketing competition between the leading travel 
portal operators. This helped to drive up prices for 
Google’s auction-based AdWords service by a substan-
tial margin. To counteract this, HolidayCheck intro-
duced a system of customer reward vouchers as an 
additional marketing tool in the package holiday sector. 
Overall, there was a sharp increase in marketing costs, 
and these led to a significant reduction in Holiday-
Check AG’s operating result.

The operating result generated by the travel division of 

WebAssets B.V. ended the year significantly lower as 
a result of difficult industry conditions in the Nether-
lands. Another factor was the restructuring process 
in financial 2015 that accompanied the disposal of 
assets of  TOMORROW Travel B.V. and Zoover Travel 
B.V. At the same time, various cost-saving measures at 
 TOMORROW Travel B.V. helped to reduce its operating 
loss compared with the previous year.

Overall, Travel segment EBITDA in financial 2015 stood 
at EUR 11.5 million compared with EUR 23.7 million 
in the previous year. Travel segment EBIT was minus 
4.4 million (2014: EUR 17.9 million). 
This decline was primarily due to an increase of 
EUR 10.1 million in amortisation, depreciation and im-
pairment losses on intangible and tangible assets. The 
main constituents of this total were impairment total-
ling EUR 9.4 million (2014: EUR 0.0 million) in respect 
of goodwill and software produced in-house (for details 
see also section 2.2.2.1.2 of this consolidated man-
agement report) and provisions of EUR 1.5 million for 
severance payments (2014: 0.6 million). These items 
had a correspondingly negative impact on segment 
EBIT in financial 2015.

travel seGment

2015
EUR million

2014
EUR million

Change
as percentage

External revenue 104.2 99.8 +4.4

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 11.5 23.7 -51.5

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses  
on intangible and tangible assets 15.9 5.8 +175.9

Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) -4.4 17.9 -
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Holding/Other segment
EBITDA for the non-operating Holding/Other segment 
came to minus EUR 9.9 million in the financial year 
2015 compared with minus EUR 4.8 million in the 
previous year. EBIT was minus EUR 10.1 million (2014: 
minus EUR 5.0 million). 
 The segment’s results in financial 2015 included 
the following items charged against earnings: provi-
sions for onerous contracts for empty rental premises 
(EUR 0.6 million), provisions for severance payments 
(EUR 1.7 million), additions to the long-term incen-
tive programme (EUR 0.7 million) and revaluations of 
earn-out obligations towards the pre-takeover minority 
shareholders of WebAssets B.V. (EUR 0.1 million).
 The segment’s earnings figures for 2014 contain 
non-recurring income of EUR 2.0 million from the re-

valuation of earn-out and put/call obligations towards 
the pre-takeover minority shareholders of WebAssets 
B.V. This income was realised when  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG acquired the remaining shares in the com-
pany. The figures also contain non-recurring income of 
EUR 0.4 million from the revaluation of the long-term 
incentive programme.

2.2.2.1.4 Balances transferred to Group EBITDA  
and Group operating EBITDA 
The following table provides additional information on 
exceptional items that have an impact on earnings and 
on earnings before taxes. The balances are transferred 
to Group EBITDA and Group operating EBITDA (both 
from continuing operations). We use Group operating 
EBITDA as a key performance indicator. 

holDinG / other seGment

Balances transferreD to Group eBitDa anD Group operatinG eBitDa

2015
EUR million

2014
EUR million

Change
as percentage

External revenue 0.2 0.3 -33.3

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) -9.9 -4.8 +106.3

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses  
on intangible and tangible assets -0.2 -0.2 +/-0.0

Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) -10.1 -5.0 +102.0

1 JANuARY 
2015 TO 

31 DECEMBER 
2015

EUR million

1 JANuARY 
2014 TO 

31 DECEMBER 
2014

EUR million

Operating result -14.5 12.9

Plus: depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets +16.1 +6.0

Group EBITDA +1.6 +18.9

Minus: other income from sale of long-term equity investments / sale of assets 0.0 -1.6

Minus: other income
Plus: other expenses from revaluations of earn-out or put / call obligations +0.1 -0.4

Plus: other expenses from personnel obligations linked to restructuring  
and remuneration programmes and pension provisions +3.8 +0.9

Plus: other expenses from provisions for onerous contracts and loss on  
sale of assets of  TOMORROW Travel B.V.

+0.9 0.0

Group operating EBITDA +6.4 +17.8
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2.2.2.2 Asset and financial position
Financial management objectives
The main financial management objective of the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group is to safeguard liquidity 
at all times in order to ensure that the Group is able to 
perform its day-to-day business operations. Another 
objective is the optimisation of profitability to attain 
the maximum possible credit rating with a view to 
obtaining favourable refinancing terms.

2.2.2.2.1 Capital structure
In order to maintain a healthy capital structure, in 2014 
the company established a target for financial 2015 of 
keeping its equity ratio (equity / total capital x 100 per-
cent) to at least 40 percent.

More information on changes in equity and financial 
liabilities can be found in section 2.2.2.2.4 ‘Asset 
position’.

In June 2014, as part of a wider plan to restructure the 
way  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG finances its activities, the 
company entered into a syndicated loan agreement. 
Under the terms of this agreement, it can borrow up to 
EUR 50 million on a flexible basis with repayment by 
2019. This agreement was renegotiated in May 2015 to 
take account of the Group’s new structure and the fact 
that guarantors for the loan were no longer part of the 
Group. 
 The term of the loan was extended to 2010. As at 
31 December 2015,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG had not 
drawn down any of the funds available under this loan 
agreement. 
 Interest on the remaining portion of the bonded loan 
remains fixed at 4.832 percent and 4.984 percent. 
The interest payable on the syndicated loan is stipu-
lated for each interest period. The latest figure was 
1.577 percent. The variable rate is therefore almost 
unchanged year on year.

2.2.2.2.2. Investment
Additions to software produced in-house only af-
fect HolidayCheck. This figure was reduced from 
EUR 5.9 million in financial 2014 to EUR 4.8 million in 
the year under review, mainly due to a reduced use of 
external staff. 
 The Group also invested more heavily in external 
software totalling EUR 2.1 million, especially at Web-
Assets. 

2.2.2.2.3. Liquidity
Cash flows
The following section contains an analysis of cash 
flows from operating, investing and financing activities 
in the financial years 2015 and 2014.

Net cash from operating activities in 2015 fell from 
EUR 23.5 million in 2014 to stand at EUR 5.6 million. 
This was mainly due to a year-on-year decline in oper-
ating income from continuing operations.

Net cash used in investing activities was made up 
of net cash inflows totalling EUR 78.7 million in 2015 
compared with net cash outflows of EUR 17.6 million 
in 2014.
 The main factors here were cash inflows from the 
disposal of subsidiaries (net of cash disposed of) total-
ling EUR 89.3 million compared with cash outflows of 
EUR 5.1 million in 2014. In addition, cash outflows for 
investment in intangible and tangible assets (including 
software produced in-house) fell by EUR 2.1 million to 
EUR 9.9 million (see also section 2.2.2.2.2). 

Net cash from financing activities in 2015 stood at 
minus EUR 47.2 million, down from the figure of minus 
EUR 5.3 million in the previous year. 
 Cash inflows of EUR 40 million in connection with 
new bank borrowings were partly offset in 2014 by 
loan repayments that produced cash outflows of 

capital structure

31 DECEMBER 2015
EUR million

31 DECEMBER 2014 
EUR million

Change
as percentage

Total equity 168.9 125.5 +34.6

Total capital 221.4 233.9 -5.3

Equity ratio 76.3 53.7 +42.1
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EUR 22.7 million. By contrast, in financial 2015 the 
company repaid borrowings of EUR 40.3 million as well 
as its cash pool obligations of EUR 3.1 million towards 
the discontinued Publishing segment without increas-
ing its borrowings year on year. In 2014, the net cash 
figure also included cash outflows of EUR 3.5 million in 
respect of dividend payments. 
 Cash outflows for the acquisition of additional 
shares in companies that were already consolidated 
ended the year EUR 14.3 million lower at EUR 3.9 mil-
lion. This amount was used to settle earn-out instal-
ments for the acquisition of shares in jameda GmbH. In 
financial 2014, net cash outflows of EUR 18.2 million 
were used to acquire the remaining shares in Web-
Assets B.V. 

As a result, cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 2015 stood at EUR 63.7 million, up from 
EUR 26.6 million at the end of financial 2014.

Financial resources
Our financial resources are based on a variety of cur-
rent and non-current financial instruments. These in-
clude bank loans and the remaining fixed-rate portion 
(EUR 14.5 million) of the bonded loan. In addition to 
cash and cash equivalents and financial assets availa-
ble for sale, liquidity is also provided out of future cash 
flows from operating activities.

We need capital in order to service our financial liabil-
ities in line with repayment schedules; to fund regular 
investment; to cover ongoing capital requirements 
linked to our operating activities; to make dividend 
payments; to arrange financing; and to fund cash out-
flows related to portfolio activities.

The main components of our total liabilities are: liabili-
ties to banks; trade payables; personnel liabilities; and 

tax liabilities. Our total liabilities to banks are made 
up of the following items as shown in the consolidat-
ed balance sheet: current liabilities to banks and the 
portions of non-current liabilities to banks with current 
maturities.

The figure for total liquidity relates to the liquid assets 
that were available to us on a given balance sheet date 
to finance our operating activities and to pay current 
liabilities. These are made up of cash and cash equiv-
alents and current financial assets that can be sold 
at short notice, as shown in the consolidated balance 
sheet. Credit-based (interest-bearing) net debt is cal-
culated by deducting total cash and cash equivalents 
from total liabilities to banks. Our senior management 
team uses credit-based net debt as an indicator both 
for internal financial management purposes and in 
external communications with investors and analysts, 
for whom we believe it provides useful information. 
Nevertheless, it should not be regarded in isolation or 
as an alternative to current and non-current financial 
liabilities, as shown in accordance with IFRS rules (see 
table on following page). 

cash flows

FINANCIAL YEAR END 2015 
EUR ’000

FINANCIAL YEAR END 2014
EUR ’000

Cash flow from:   

operating activities 5,580 23,538

investing activities 78,692 -17,635

financing activities -47,169 -5,343
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In June 2014, as part of a wider plan to restructure the 
way  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG finances its activities, the 
company entered into a syndicated loan agreement. 
Under the terms of this agreement, it can borrow up to 
EUR 50 million on a flexible basis with repayment by 
2019. This agreement was renegotiated in May 2015 
to take account of the Group’s new structure and the 
fact that guarantors for the loan were no longer part of 
the Group. The term of the loan was extended to 2020. 
As at 31 December 2015,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG had 
not drawn down any of the funds available under this 
syndicated loan agreement.

In order to finance its acquisition of the remaining 
shares in WebAssets B.V. in 2014,  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG signed a new agreement stipulating a fixed 
purchase price and a variable earn-out obligation that 
was subsequently revalued at the end of the year at 
EUR 2.2 million. 
 The amounts are included under other liabilities. In 
2014, another earn-out obligation of EUR 3.8 million 
remained in place towards the pre-takeover sharehold-
ers of jameda GmbH.

Where necessary, we limit the risk of changes in the 
fair value of future cash flows in connection with 
our loans and bonds by employing derivative finan-
cial instruments that involve, for example, swapping 
variable-rate interest payments for fixed-rate interest 
payments. Our Group Treasury unit has established a 
comprehensive Group-wide system of interest-rate risk 
management with a view to optimising the Group’s in-
terest income and expenses and controlling its overall 
exposure to interest-rate risks. This encompasses both 
valuation risks that affect net income and economic 
risks created by changes in interest rates. 

Contractual liabilities
With regard to the Group’s ordinary business activities, 
the main contractual liabilities affecting cash flow are 
its obligations to service liabilities to banks.

Liabilities to banks 
As far as liabilities to banks are concerned, as at 31 De-
cember 2015  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG had outstand-
ing liabilities to banks totalling EUR 15.2 million that 
are repayable within the next twelve months. Current 
liabilities to banks include the portion of non-current 
liabilities to banks with a current maturity and deferred 
interest payments.

2.2.2.2.4 Asset position
On the assets side of the consolidated balance sheet, 
non-current assets were down by 22.0 percent from 
EUR 177.5 million in 2014 to EUR 138.4 million as at 31 
December 2015. This was primarily due to reductions 
in the balance sheet items ‘Intangible assets acquired 
in return for payment’ (down EUR 12.9 million), 
‘Self-generated intangible assets’ (down EUR 7.1 mil-
lion) and ‘Goodwill’ (down EUR 23.1 million), in each 
case mainly as a result of the deconsolidation of 
subsidiaries sold by  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, and to 
impairment of EUR 9.5 million in respect of the Group’s 
continuing operations. The balance sheet item ‘Other 
plant, furniture and fixtures’ also fell by EUR 0.7 mil-
lion, again mainly due to a reduction in the size of the 
reporting entity. 
 At the same time, the balance sheet item ‘Loans 
receivable’ rose by EUR 4.9 million to EUR 6.7 mil-
lion. The main factor here was the vendor loan of 
EUR 6.0 million granted in connection with the sale of 
EliteMedianet GmbH.

At EUR 83.1 million, current assets as at 31 Decem-
ber 2015 were 47.3 percent higher compared with the 
previous year’s figure of EUR 56.4 million.
 This is primarily attributable to an increase of 
EUR 37.1 million in the balance sheet item ‘Cash 
and cash equivalents’, which ended the year at 
EUR 63.7 million, as a result of cash inflows from dis-
posals of Group companies. 
 In addition, the item ‘Assets of discontinued opera-
tions held for sale’ was recognised for the first time in 

creDit-BaseD (interest-BearinG) net DeBt

31 DECEMBER 2015
EUR ’000

31 DECEMBER 2014
EUR ’000

Current liabilities to banks 15.214 842

Plus: non-current liabilities to banks 0 54.500

Minus: cash and cash equivalents -63.702 -26.640

Credit-based net debt -48.488 28.702
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the balance sheet at EUR 0.9 million. 
 At the same time, ‘Trade receivables’ were down by 
EUR 11.4 million at EUR 14.7 million, mainly due to a 
reduction in the size of the reporting entity.

On the liabilities side of the consolidated balance 
sheet, equity was EUR 168.9 million as at 31 December 
2015, which is 34.6 percent higher than the year-end 
figure of EUR 125.5 million for 2014.
 This was mainly due to an increase of EUR 42.5 mil-
lion in consolidated retained earnings, which stood at 
EUR 27.4 million.
 The equity ratio rose from 53.7 percent in 2014 to 
76.3 percent as at 31 December 2015 as a result of an in-
crease in equity and a substantial decrease in liabilities. 
 As in the previous year, it was therefore well above 
the forecast long-term minimum 40 percent target for 
the equity ratio regarded as necessary to maintain a 
healthy capital structure.

Non-current liabilities fell sharply by 87.4 percent 
from EUR 65.8 million to EUR 8.3 million as at 31 
December 2015.
 The main factors here were a reduction in 
the balance sheet item ‘Liabilities to banks’ from 
EUR 54.5 million to EUR 0.0 million following the 
repayment of loans totalling EUR 40.0 million and the 
reclassification of non-current liabilities to banks total-
ling EUR 14.5 million as current liabilities. There were 
also reductions in ‘Other liabilities’ (down EUR 1.7 mil-
lion to EUR 2.0 million), mainly due to a decrease in 
‘Other personnel liabilities’, and in ‘Provisions for pen-
sions’ (down EUR 0.8 million), mainly due to updating 
of the valuation parameters.

Current liabilities rose by 3.8 percent from EUR 
42.7 million to EUR 44.3 million as at 31 December 
2015.
 The main factor here was an increase in ‘Liabilities 
to banks’ from EUR 0.8 million to EUR 15.2 million 
following the reclassification of non-current liabilities 
to banks as current liabilities.
 In particular, there were also reductions in income 
tax liabilities from EUR 2.0 million to EUR 0.3 million 
owing to a decline in local tax results at HolidayCheck 
and WebAssets B.V. and in ‘Other liabilities’ from 
EUR 22.9 million to EUR 11.9 million, mainly as a result 
of lower figures for earn-out obligations towards the 
pre-takeover shareholders of jameda GmbH, deferred 
income and other liabilities due to the smaller size of 
the reporting entity.

The figure for total liabilities ended the year 51.5 per-

cent lower at EUR 52.6 million compared with the year-
end figure of EUR 108.4 million for 2014.

Total assets fell by 5.3 percent from EUR 233.9 mil-
lion at the end of 2014 to EUR 221.4 million as at 31 
December 2015.

The relationship between items in the balance sheet 
shows a shift towards a higher equity ratio. Current 
liabilities are covered entirely by current assets, while 
non-current assets are covered entirely by equity and 
non-current liabilities.
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3. evenTS aFTeR The  
balanCe SheeT daTe

 TOMORROW  FOCuS AG sells assets of subsidiary 
organize.me GmbH in two asset deals
On 1 February 2016  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold all 
the main assets of organize.me GmbH in two asset 
deals for a total of EUR 1.1 million. organize.me pre-
viously operated an online document storage service 
and a scanning app. The company’s business-to-busi-
ness (B2B) activities and assets were sold to a third 
party (EUR 1,000 thousand), whereas parts of its 
business-to-customer (B2C) operations will be reused 
within the Group (EUR 80 thousand). The B2C online 
storage services and app were closed down on 29 
February 2016.

 TOMORROW  FOCuS AG opts for early settlement of 
earn-out obligations from the purchase of additional 
shares in WebAssets B.V. 
In February 2016  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG concluded a 
settlement agreement with the pre-takeover sharehold-
ers of WebAssets B.V. in respect of its remaining earn-
out obligations. Under the terms of the agreement, 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG settled all its obligations 
through a payment of EUR 2.2 million. The obligation 
was then immediately valued at the repayment figure. 
The revaluation created an expense of EUR 0.1 million.

4. RepORT On expeCTed develOp-
MenTS, OppORTUniTieS and RiSkS

4.1 Report on expected developments

4.1.1 Expected macro-economic developments
 For the current year, Deutsche Bank’s Global Market 
Research unit anticipates moderate economic growth 
in the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s core sales mar-
kets. 
 Inflation-adjusted gross domestic product (GDP) in 
the Netherlands is expected to grow by 1.4 percent. 
Deutsche Bank’s analysts forecast inflation-adjusted 
growth in Belgian GDP of 1.3 percent. Again after ad-
justing for inflation, Austrian GDP is forecast to grow 
by 1.4 percent and Switzerland’s GDP by 1.2 percent. 
According to the Deutsche Bank experts, the fastest 
growth will be in Germany, where inflation-adjusted 
GDP is expected to rise by 1.9 percent. 
 The GDP figures quoted above are based on esti-
mates published by Deutsche Bank’s Global Market 
Research unit on 19 February 2016.

4.1.2 Expected industry developments
For the current year,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG antic-
ipates moderate revenue growth, in the low single 
digits expressed as a percentage, in the core markets 
served by the transaction-based travel portals in the 
Travel segment. The main factor here will be the mod-
erate economic recovery forecast for the sales markets 
served by those travel portals (see section 4.1.1 of this 
Group management report) and the corresponding 
likelihood of a moderate increase in consumer demand 
for travel. At the same time, the company anticipates 
strong and sustained competitive pressures, primarily 
as a result of continued high levels of spending by com-
petitors on marketing and the entry of new competitors 
into the market. In the medium term, a possible trend 
towards consolidation could lead to some easing of the 
competitive situation and to a corresponding reduction 
in marketing expenditure.
 Although Holiday Check AG is based in Bottighofen 
in Switzerland, it generates most of its sales revenue 
in the euro area. However, important costs such as sal-
aries and rents are paid in Swiss francs, so any appre-
ciation in the Swiss franc vis-a-vis the euro will have a 
negative impact on the segment’s and the Group’s earn-
ings. In order to hedge this currency risk, the company 
entered into a number of currency forward contracts in 
January 2016. It also maintains cash holdings in Swiss 
francs to reduce its exposure to currency risk.
 The above assessments of expected industry devel-
opments are based on the Group’s own estimates.
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4.1.3  TOMORROW FOCuS Group
Looking ahead at financial 2016, the Management 
Board will concentrate on laying the foundations for 
the sustainable and successful development of the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group and its brands with a view 
to maximising and harnessing the market opportunities 
they offer.
 For the financial year 2016, our forecast for the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group is based on the expecta-
tions of macro-economic and industry developments 
in financial 2016 laid out in this report. The potential 
effects of legal and regulatory issues have not been 
factored in to these forecasts.

4.1.3.1 Revenue
Overall, the conditions for positive revenue growth 
in financial 2016 are good. One important factor in 
achieving this will be the moderate economic re-
covery forecast for the Group’s core markets in the 
 German-speaking region and in the Benelux countries. 
In addition, measures to strengthen organic investment 
in existing and new products and services at the por-
tals operated by HolidayCheck und Zoover, especially 
in the field of package holidays, should begin to have a 
positive impact on the Group’s revenue growth. 
 By contrast,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG takes the view 
that competition in the Group’s sales markets remains 
intense, and once again this is likely to have an impact 
on revenue growth.

In total, after adjusting for acquisitions and disposals, 
the Management Board believes that the consolidated 
revenue of the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group could be in-
creased in financial 2016 by a percentage figure in the 
middle single digits (and therefore above the industry 
average) compared with the previous year. The figure 
for total revenue in financial 2015 was EUR 104.4 mil-
lion. 

Looking further ahead to 2017 and beyond, greater 
investment in the products and services offered by our 
holiday and travel portals should provide a firm basis 
for the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group to deliver sustaina-
ble revenue growth above the market average.

4.1.3.2 Profitability
In the view of the Management Board, the above-men-
tioned investment in products and services will have a 
positive impact on consolidated revenue and thus on 
the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s operating EBITDA 
in the medium to long term. For the current financial 
year, the Management Board expects Group EBITDA 
to at least reach the break-even point despite planned 

spending on investment and its strategy of increasing 
market share. Further information on Group operating 
EBITDA can be found in section 2.2.2.1.4 of this report 
under the heading ‘Balances transferred to Group 
EBITDA and Group operating EBITDA’.

4.1.3.3 Capital structure
With regard to its capital structure,  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG has set itself the following objective for 
financial 2016:
 As in the previous year,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
aims to keep its equity ratio (equity / total capital x 
100 percent) to at least 40 percent in the long term. 
The figure for financial 2015 was 76.3 percent.

4.1.3.4 Non-financial performance indicators
Once again we expect a ‘stable’ outcome for the non- 
financial performance indicators Customer satisfac-
tion, Industry and employee know-how and Product 
and service quality in the current financial year. 

non-financial performance inDicator

NON-FINANCIAL  
PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

FORECAST FOR 
FINANCIAL YEAR 2016

Customer satisfaction Stable

Industry and employee 
know-how

Stable

Product and service  
quality

Stable
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4.1.4 Overall assessment of likely developments
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG expects the overall growth 
picture for its markets in 2016 to be positive on the 
back of moderate economic growth. At the same time, 
however, those markets will remain challenging as 
a result of greater competitive pressures linked to 
increased spending on marketing and the entry of new 
competitors into the market. Accordingly,  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG believes that organic growth in consolidat-
ed revenue in financial 2016 will be in the middle single 
digits in percentage terms and therefore above the 
market average.
 The Management Board expects Group operating 
EBITDA to at least reach the break-even point despite 
planned investments in products and services and the 
strategy of increasing market share.

The potential effects of legal and regulatory issues 
have not been factored in to these forecasts. In 
response to the opportunities (see section 4.3) and 
risks (section 4.2.2 of this Group management report) 
outlined below, the actual results of the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group may vary in either direction from these 
forecasts.

4.2 Risk report
With regard to its business activities,  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG is largely faced with the same risks and 
opportunities as the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group. In 
general,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s exposure to risk 
reflects the size of its holding in subsidiaries and long-
term equity investments. For this reason, potential 
damage (see 4.2.1.2 ‘Risks subject to mandatory disclo-
sure’) is also expressed in relation to Group EBITDA.
Following the disposal of Group companies outside the 
Travel segment, the risks and opportunities associat-
ed with those companies are no longer applicable to 
the Group. Accordingly, our assessment of risks and 
opportunities has been adapted for the remaining risks 
and opportunities.

4.2.1 Risk management system
As the parent company of the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG is integrated into the 
Group-wide risk management system. In principle, 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG is exposed to the same risks 
as the individual companies making up the Group. 
These risks can result in the entire Group being unable 
to meet financial, operational or strategic business 

objectives. The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group therefore 
has to identify and analyse the risks and implement 
suitable measures to eliminate or mitigate these risks 
in order to safeguard its long-term business success.

4.2.1.1 Risk policy guidelines
The Management Board has formulated a series of 
policy guidelines for the risk management system.
•  Risk awareness should be consistently heightened at 

all levels of the Group and its subsidiaries.
•  Risk exposure should be limited by taking appropri-

ate measures to prevent potential damage.
•  A risk management system should be established in 

each company to identify risks at an early stage and 
to assess and control those risks.

•  Specific critical risks or those with the potential to 
jeopardise the existence of the Group must be re-
ported as and when they arise.

•  Suitable risk assessment criteria (materiality limits 
and potential damage) should be defined and regu-
larly updated as part of corporate controlling with 
regard to the classification of risks as critical or as a 
threat to the existence of the Group and to facilitate 
the process of escalation to the next higher level or 
to the Management Board.

•  Where there is suspicion of criminal activity, com-
pliance issues must be reported as soon as they are 
identified.

•  The risk management system should be documented 
in the form of a risk map.

•  The risks to which individual companies are exposed 
are also documented using the R2C tool. If the com-
panies do not have their own access to this tool, the 
information is maintained by the Group Risk Coor-
dinator. Otherwise, responsibility for maintaining 
and updating the risk data lies with the companies 
themselves.

•  The risk management system of  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG does not cover opportunities.
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4.2.1.2 Risks subject to mandatory disclosure
Risks are identified in relation to individual areas of responsibility or on a more general basis in workshops. Risks 
are classified using the following model:

Risks are assessed in terms of the probability of their occurrence and their potential to cause damage. The table be-
low shows how risks are classified in terms of the probability of occurrence within a planning horizon of two years.

risk classification moDel 

risk assessment – proBaBility of occurrence

STRATEGIC OPERATIONAL FINANCIAL COMPLIANCE

Corporate targets Purchasing Accounting / 
 reporting systems

Laws and guidelines

• Strategic targets •  Favours to suppliers  
(kick-backs)

• Data protection

• Compliance targets • Book-keeping • Equality law

 • Valuation and pricing • Reporting • Cartel law

Business culture • Annual financial statements • Abuse of contract

• Mission statement Sales and distribution • Balance sheet fraud • Violation of law

•  Brand recognition • Commission payments

•  (Fictitious) consulting 

agreements

• Occupational safety

• Image Treasury • Environment

• Slush funds

Corporate planning • Enrichment Code of conduct

• Strategic planning Finance • Ethical principles

• Budget planning • Embezzlement (Treasury) Accounting • Bribery and corruption

• Forecasts • Cash/slush funds • Cancellation • Fraud

• Insurance (kick-backs) • Fictitious revenue

Portfolio development • Payments Violation of internal rules

• Portfolio strategy IT and data protection • Double payments •  Mission statement and 

ethical principles

• Code of conduct

• Financial organisation

• Location strategy • Data theft ; espionage •  Manipulation of  
master data• Abuse of data access rights

Mergers and Acquisitions (M&A) 

• Valuation and pricing Personnel Controlling/reporting  

• Due Diligence •  Manipulation of  
master data

• Expenses

• Manipulation of key figures  

• Implementation   

PROBABILITY OF OCCuRRENCE WITHIN PLANNING HORIzON (2 YEARS)

(Almost) certain 4 Probability >= 80 percent of the risk event occurring within the planning horizon

Probable 3  Probability >= 50 percent and < 80 percent of the risk event occurring within the planning horizon

Possible 2 Probability >= 20 percent and < 50 percent of the risk event occurring within the planning horizon

unlikely 1 Probability < 20 percent of the risk event occurring within the planning horizon
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Potential to cause damage is defined in terms of the potential impact on Group EBITDA over a two-year period. 
Risks are allocated to one of four categories depending on the potential scale of the impact.

risk assessment – potential DamaGe

  STRATEGIC OPERATIONAL FINANCIAL COMPLIANCE

High  
(critical / 
threat to 
existence  
of Group)

4 Risk that most 
 strategic targets may 
not be achieved

Disruption to all busi-
ness activity (complete 
failure of IT systems, 
loss of data, fire, 
 terrorist attack)

Threat to existence of 
the Group (e.g. large-
scale systematic mani-
pulation of balance sheet 
and severe exchange 
rate fluctuations).
Single Group EBITDA 
risk >= EUR 10 million 

Serious violations of the 
law leading to external 
investigations and legal 
proceedings (risk to 
reputation)

Substantial 3 Risk that one or seve-
ral strategic targets 
may not be achieved

Serious disruption 
to business activity 
(temporary failure of IT 
systems, fluctuation of 
key personnel).

Substantial risks that 
lead to an annual deficit 
or a reduction in enter-
prise value
Single Group EBITDA 
risk >= EUR 6 million

Systematic and ongoing 
violations of the law 
with large financial 
penalties and damage to 
corporate image

Medium 2 Risk that one strate-
gic target may not be 
achieved

Significant disruption 
to/ interruption of ope-
rating processes

Significant negative 
impact on annual 
results and enterprise 
value, manipulation of 
valuations
Single Group EBITDA 
risk >= EUR 1 million

Systematic violations of 
the law with significant 
financial penalties

Low 1 Risk has very little 
potential impact 
on achievement of 
targets

Little or no impact on 
operating processes

No significant impact 
on annual results or 
enterprise value, (minor 
reporting violations)
Single Group EBITDA 
risk < EUR 1 million

Less than full compli-
ance with laws and 
internal rules (e.g. 
minor violations of the 
expenses code)

Unless provisions or insurance cover have already been 
established covering the entire potential damage, or 
unless reduced by insurance policies, all risks must be 
included if they jeopardise the existence of the Group 
or exceed the thresholds defined as critical. Details of 
any existing provisions must be added.

In this context, it is important to take not only individ-
ual risks but also the potential cumulative impact of 
several risks into consideration. Risks are classed as 
a potential threat to the existence of the Group if they 
could have a substantial impact on its asset, financial 
and earnings position.

64
Tomorrow focus AG 2015
Group management report



The following risk matrix is based on the above classi-
fications.

ual companies and any Group-level risks identified. 

4.2.1.4 Responsibility for risk management system
Responsibility for updating the risk management sys-
tem lies with the Group’s Management Board, Group 
Controlling and the senior management teams of the 
respective subsidiaries. This work may be delegated 
to a risk management officer who is not a member of 
a senior management team or the Group Management 
Board.

4.2.1.4.1 Establishing a risk management system
The subsidiaries of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG have 
established their own risk management systems on this 
basis. These should be documented. Risk workshops 
should be held as required. 

4.2.1.4.2 Maintaining risk management  
systems at subsidiaries
Responsibility for updating the risk management 
systems of subsidiaries lies with their respective senior 
management teams. All subsidiaries have designated 
a risk management officer as the point of contact for 
Group Controlling. These risk management officers are 
also responsible for the ad hoc reporting of specific 
risks of a critical nature or with the potential to jeop-
ardise the existence of their company and any breach-
es of compliance rules. 

4.2.1.5 System monitoring and documentation
As evidence of the proper functioning of risk manage-
ment systems, the corresponding documentation is con-
tinuously updated at both Group and subsidiary level.
 The documentation kept by individual Group com-
panies includes details of the organisational meas-
ures necessary to establish and operate an effective 
risk management system. Quarterly reports are also 
regarded as documentary evidence of the effectiveness 
of risk management systems.
 Risk management officers at subsidiary level are 
responsible for documenting risks and measures and 
for implementing the latter on the basis of a uniform 
scheme.
 This documentation provides evidence of the proper 
functioning of the system for internal and external au-
dit purposes. Responsibility for correct documentation 
lies with risk officers at subsidiary level and with Group 
Controlling.
 In order to facilitate a systematic response to the 
risks identified within the Group and reported to 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, the risk map is updated 
every quarter and submitted to Group Controlling. Any 
changes and new risks are highlighted.

P
O

T
E

N
T

IA
L

 D
A

M
A

G
E High

Sub-
stantial

Medium

Low

unlikely
< 20 
percent

Possible
≥ 20 
percent
< 50 
percent

Probable
≥ 50 
percent 
< 80 
percent

(Almost) 
certain
≥ 80 
percent

 PROBABILITY OF OCCuRRENCE

risk matrix

4.2.1.3 Risk management structures
The companies making up the Group organise their 
processes and information flows in such a way that 
corporate risks can be identified, evaluated and con-
trolled at an early stage. The role of the Group Risk 
Coordinator is to monitor and control the risk manage-
ment process.

4.2.1.3.1 Information flow / Ad hoc reporting
All risks and the status of those risks are reported to 
the Group Controlling unit together with the quarterly 
financial statements. Risks are updated solely through 
the Group’s own risk management tool. Following 
consultation, this may be done by the companies 
themselves or by Group Controlling. In addition, the 
Group Risk Coordinator must be advised immediately 
in writing of any critical risks, risks that jeopardise the 
existence of the Group or potentially criminal incidents 
relating to compliance rules. The Group Risk Coordina-
tor will forward the details to the Management Board.
Senior management teams at the Group’s individual 
companies are responsible for reporting any new risks 
or changes in the status of existing risks at the appro-
priate meetings (e.g. shareholder meetings).

4.2.1.3.2 Role of Group Management Board  
and Group Controlling
Group Controlling will prepare a report for the Manage-
ment Board based on the reports received from individ-
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4.2.1.6 Other elements of the risk  
management system
In addition to the dedicated risk management sys-
tem outlined above in sections 4.2.1.1 to 4.2.1.5, the 
following elements also serve to identify risk within the 
Group:
•   Operational planning, including updated intra-year 

forecasts
•   Quarterly financial statements
•   Liquidity planning
•   Monthly reporting by subsidiaries (comparing tar-

get and actual results) to the Group

4.2.1.7 Monitoring of risk management system 
In 2009, Germany’s Accounting Law Modernisation 
Act (Bilanzrechtsmodernisierungs-gesetz, BilMoG) 
imposed a duty on Supervisory Boards to assess the 
effectiveness of corporate risk management. In making 
its assessment, the Supervisory Board draws on the 
results of internal audits and information from Group 
Controlling.
  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG is also subject by law to 
an inspection by the Group’s auditor in accordance 
with section 317, paragraph 4 of the German Commer-
cial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB). The task of the 
auditor is to evaluate whether the Management Board 
has implemented the measures imposed under section 
91, paragraph 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act 
in an appropriate form and whether the corresponding 
monitoring system is designed in such a way that it can 
identify developments which jeopardise the continued 
existence of the company at an early stage.

4.2.2 Risks

4.2.2.1 Market risks of the   
TOMORROW FOCuS Group
The process of focusing the business activities of the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group on its Travel segment 
operations has been completed. As such, the Group’s 
market risks are now concentrated in this area. Inno-
vative technologies are constantly being introduced 
in the markets where the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
operates, and they are subject to rapid and significant 
change. To satisfy the needs and requirements of 
customers in these markets, the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group continually develops new products and services, 
and regularly adapts existing ones. 

Google search engine dominance
Many Internet users turn above all to search engines 
such as that operated by the market leader Google 
when they are looking for hotels, etc. Search engines 

are based on complex and confidential algorithms, 
and they present users with hit lists containing links to 
relevant third-party websites such as those of Holiday-
Check and Zoover. They also present their own web 
services such as Google Hotel Finder. Experience has 
shown that links placed high up on the first page of 
search results are clicked much more frequently than 
those on subsequent pages. A higher ranking generally 
means more traffic, and in turn this can have a positive 
impact on advertising and business revenue.
 As a result, search engine optimisation (SEO) is 
now a very important tool. Its aim is to ensure that 
an organisation’s web content is placed as high up as 
possible in the hit lists generated by search engines. 
 Search engine providers regularly make wide-rang-
ing changes to their search algorithms. As such, there 
is always a potential risk that the search engine rank-
ings of websites operated by  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
may fall temporarily or even permanently. This would 
mean a serious reduction in traffic that could signif-
icantly affect the revenue and earnings situation of 
those web portals and of the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group as a whole.
 In response, the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group aims 
to reduce its dependency on search engines, especial-
ly Google. One of these involves boosting the traffic 
generated through social media platforms.
 At the same time, we aim to attract visitors directly 
to our sites, i.e. bypassing search engines, by expand-
ing our mobile presence and intensifying our brand 
advertising.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this manage-
ment report)
Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); potential damage: high (single Group EBITDA 
risk ≥ EUR 10 million).

Competition from existing and new competitors
Increased competition (for example due to more 
intensive marketing campaigns by existing competi-
tors, the entry of new competitors to the market or the 
introduction of innovative new technology) can under-
mine website reach and usage and/or the purchase of 
products and services through the websites operated 
by  TOMORROW FOCUS Group companies. In turn, 
this can lead to a significant decline in revenue and 
earnings and may even jeopardise the existence of the 
Group as a whole.
 Companies such as Google and Facebook are 
of particular concern in this context. As described 
above, the hit lists presented by Google include its 
own services such as Google Flight Search, Google 
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Hotel Finder and Google Shopping. This puts Google 
in direct competition for traffic with other websites, 
including those operated by the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group. If high-reach providers with a correspondingly 
powerful market presence such as Google and Face-
book were to introduce new services in the same fields 
as those covered by the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group, 
this could have a similar impact to that of changes in 
search algorithms, i.e. serious reduction in traffic that 
could significantly affect the revenue and earnings 
situation of those web portals and segments and of 
the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group as a whole. The same 
applies to high-reach media companies (especially in 
the television industry) that advertise their own web 
content during broadcasts and may thus compete with 
the sites operated by the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group; 
and to competing Internet groups (including multina-
tionals) with the financial strength needed to invest 
heavily in marketing and IT in order to introduce their 
own products and expand significantly in the same sale 
markets as those targeted by the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group’s websites.
 In order to reduce these risks, the  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Group concentrates on established, well-known 
brands and screens the market on a regular basis.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this manage-
ment report)
Probability of occurrence: probable (≥ 50 – < 80 per-
cent); potential damage: high (single Group EBITDA 
risk ≥ EUR 10 million).

Other market risks 
With regard to the travel portals operated by the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group, any temporary or longer-
term stagnation in holiday travel (e.g. as a result of 
natural disasters, political unrest in popular holiday 
areas, terrorist attacks, a sharp increase in energy 
prices or a downturn in spending during periods of 
recession) could have a highly negative impact on 
the revenue and earnings of the entire  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group.
 The Group’s travel portals are also exposed to cost 
risks if considerably higher marketing expenditure 
becomes necessary, especially for television advertis-
ing and search engine marketing (SEM), particularly 
on Google. The portals in the Travel segment make 
intensive use of these marketing instruments in their 
marketing, so a substantial price increase by television 
broadcasters or Google would have a negative impact 
on the segment’s profit situation and that of the entire 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group 
management report)
Probability of occurrence: probable (≥ 50 – < 80 per-
cent); potential damage: substantial (single Group 
EBITDA risk ≥ EUR 6 million).

4.2.2.2 Technology and data protection risks faced 
by the  TOMORROW FOCuS Group

Technology risks
The use of the Group’s Internet portals and technical 
systems may be disrupted temporarily, at worst over a 
longer period or even permanently for numerous rea-
sons, and this may be accompanied by the temporary 
or permanent loss of important content, data and infor-
mation. The list of possible causes includes external or 
internal technical problems caused by fire, water dam-
age, defective software and disruption to the Internet 
or electricity supplies, e.g. through electromagnetic 
surges and targeted attacks (e.g. computer viruses, 
hacking). Depending on the nature and duration of the 
disruption, the consequences would range from a more 
or less severe loss of revenue and earnings as well 
as high damage repair and restore-to-service costs 
through to a potential threat to the continued existence 
of the entire Group. 

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this manage-
ment report)
Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); potential damage: high (single Group EBITDA 
risk ≥ EUR 10 million).

Data protection risks
The websites operated by the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group store and process personal user data, some of 
which may be highly sensitive. There is a risk that this 
data may be targeted and stolen, e.g. by hackers or 
Group employees or as a result of human error. The 
data may then end up in the public domain and in the 
worst scenario may be misused for criminal purpos-
es. The resulting damage to our image can lead to a 
serious decline in revenue and earnings for individual 
portals and in the worst-case scenario for the entire 
Group of companies. 
 In order to reduce this risk, the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group works with an external data protection special-
ist whose role includes checking compliance with data 
protection laws. In addition, the Group has implement-
ed numerous security measures of a technical nature, 
e.g. state-of-the-art firewall and antivirus technologies. 
HolidayCheck and other portals are regularly certified 
by the German technical control board (TÜV).
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Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this manage-
ment report)
Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); potential damage: medium (single Group EBIT-
DA risk ≥ EUR 1 million).

4.2.2.3 Strategic risks of the   
TOMORROW FOCuS Group
The corporate strategy adopted by the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group envisages further expansion of its 
market position in the travel sector. The target will be 
achieved by developing successful new products and 
business models, and implementing other measures to 
increase the market share and achieve further corpo-
rate growth. However this also exposes the company to 
risks which may have a negative impact on its financial 
position and earnings. 

The company is particularly exposed to strategic risks 
in connection with corporate acquisitions, long-term 
equity investments and the organic expansion of new 
business models. These harbour intrinsic risks such as 
the risk of integrating employees, processes, tech-
nologies and products. As a result, it is impossible to 
guarantee that all bought-in or internally developed 
business models can be successfully integrated and 
established in the market, or that they will develop 
as planned. Corporate acquisitions, long-term equity 
investments and the organic expansion of new busi-
ness models can also generate substantial acquisition, 
development, administration and other costs, including 
the cost of integrating newly acquired business activi-
ties. Portfolio measures may also result in additional fi-
nancing requirements, which in turn can increase debt 
and have a negative impact on the financing structure. 
Acquisitions and long-term equity investments can 
substantially appreciate the value of non-current as-
sets, including goodwill.
 Impairment of and subsequent write-downs on 
these assets due to unforeseen business developments, 
e.g. a downturn in the wider economy, can strongly 
depress operating results. 

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this manage-
ment report)
Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); potential damage: substantial (single Group 
EBITDA risk ≥ EUR 6 million).

4.2.2.4 Economic risks of the   
TOMORROW FOCuS Group
Any decline in consumer spending in response to 
economic, political, legal or social crises could have a 

negative impact on the business activities and the as-
set, financial and earnings position of the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group. Central Europe is the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group’s core market. In the past it has proven 
to be a relatively stable economic area, offering good 
development opportunities to the companies operat-
ing there. In the wake of the economic crisis that hit 
Europe in 2009 and swiftly increasing levels of debt 
among EU member states, wide-ranging measures 
were initiated to tackle this debt issue. It remains to be 
seen how successful these measures will be in the long 
term. If they fail, the result could be further political, 
legal and social unrest on a large scale in individual 
member states of the European Union, with a massive 
impact on those companies, including the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group, which operate there.
 Natural disasters, epidemics or terrorist attacks 
can also result in economic, political and social in-
stability. This, in turn, can have a negative impact on 
the local, regional and even the world economy and 
place constraints on the investment decisions of the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s customers and their read-
iness to invest. However, the negative impacts of events 
of this nature on the economy in recent years have been 
relatively short-lived, and therefore have no long-term 
significance for our business development. At the same 
time, we would like to emphasise that an event such 
as the outbreak of a global flu epidemic could have 
an extremely serious effect on the world economy 
and particularly on companies operating in the travel 
market. Terrorist attacks such as those targeted at the 
Internet’s infrastructure could also have a significant 
impact on the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s results and 
possibly even jeopardise its going concern status. 

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this manage-
ment report)
Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); potential damage: substantial (single Group 
EBITDA risk ≥ EUR 6 million).

4.2.2.5 Impairment risks of the   
TOMORROW FOCuS Group
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG performs annual impairment 
tests to assess whether there has been any impair-
ment in the respective valuations of long-term equity 
investments in its separate financial statements or of 
goodwill within the Group. This might result in major 
write-downs which would not lead to payouts but 
could considerably depress the results of the entire 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group.
  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG counteracts this as well as 
possible by way of central long-term equity investment 
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control and monthly reports from all equity invest-
ments. Deviations from targets are reported to the 
Management Board promptly so that suitable counter-
measures can be initiated.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this manage-
ment report)
Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); potential damage: substantial (single Group 
EBITDA risk ≥ EUR 6 million).

4.2.2.6 Financial risks of the   
TOMORROW FOCuS Group
In respect of financial risks, the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group is primarily exposed to liquidity, currency and 
interest rate risks. 

Negative developments on the capital markets can sub-
stantially increase the Group’s financing costs or even 
restrict its ability to obtain financing, thus seriously 
reducing its flexibility with regard to borrowing. As a 
consequence, the cash and cash equivalents available 
to the Group may not be sufficient to meet its financial 
obligations within the stipulated periods.
 In Germany, the past economic and financial 
crisis led to certain restrictions on the availability 
of corporate finance and created a scenario such as 
that outlined above. Even against this background, 
the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group was able to secure 
long-term refinancing for all its liabilities to banks on 
relatively favourable terms.
 The medium-term liquidity situation can be de-
scribed as secure, thanks in part to cash inflows from 
disposals of former long-term equity investments in 
financial 2015. 
 However, looking ahead at the longer term, it is not 
possible to completely exclude future restrictions on 
the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s liquidity situation, 
especially in the case of a return to the scenario de-
scribed above. The Group conducts regular simulations 
and analyses different scenarios to reduce the risk of 
an unexpected shortage of cash or financing.

The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s asset, financial and 
earnings position is largely dependent on the perfor-
mance of its operating segments, but also on portfolio 
measures. A decline in operating results and cash 
flows or an increase in net debt could reduce its credit 
rating; in turn, this could drive up the cost of funds and 
have a negative impact on the earnings situation.
 At present, the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group can 
take advantage of comparatively attractive refinancing 
options. This is clear, for example, from its available 

credit lines. 

Holiday Check AG uses the euro as its functional 
currency, and the Group’s liabilities towards it are 
therefore charged in euros. The income generated 
by Holiday Check AG is also calculated in euros. This 
has reduced the currency risk, although certain risks 
remain. There is a risk that the company’s salary, 
rent, marketing and other costs could rise substan-
tially in the event of an increase in the relative value 
of the Swiss franc against the euro, as was the case in 
January 2015, and this could have a negative impact on 
Holiday Check AG’s profits. For this reason, the Man-
agement Board has decided to invest a corresponding 
portion of its cash reserves in Swiss francs and to 
enter into currency forward contracts. 

The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group is also exposed to a 
receivables default risk in connection with its oper-
ating activities. Accounts receivable are deliberately 
managed on a decentralised basis by the long-term eq-
uity investments. The Group counteracts default risks 
in connection with financial investments and accounts 
receivable by way of regular controls within a narrow 
time frame, continuous liquidity monitoring and liquidi-
ty control, and consistent debt management. 

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this manage-
ment report)
Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); potential damage: medium (single Group EBIT-
DA risk >= EUR 1 million).

4.2.2.7 Personnel risks of the   
TOMORROW FOCuS Group
Highly-qualified employees and managers are essential 
to the long-term success of any business undertaking. 
The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group is strongly commit-
ted to fostering its employees’ long-term loyalty to 
the company and to recruiting new, highly-qualified 
employees. Business development could be impaired if 
a large number of these employees leave the company 
within a short time span and no adequate replacements 
can be found. In particular in the event of increased 
competition in the labour market to recruit highly-qual-
ified employees, especially people with IT and Internet 
expertise, there is no guarantee that the Group will be 
able to retain key personnel over the long term.

The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group is determined to ex-
ploit all business opportunities that present themselves 
and at the same time counteract general personnel risks 
through a series of measures, in particular the  provision 
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of advanced training for further qualifications and the 
professional development for employees, rigorous suc-
cession planning and additional benefits such as per-
formance-based remuneration systems. As a result of 
these measures and the Group’s establishment of a solid 
reputation as an attractive employer over the past years, 
the company believes that it can draw on its employees’ 
skills to make effective use of the available business 
opportunities. It therefore currently classifies the risk 
of significant impairment to business development as a 
result of the loss of employees and senior staff as low. 

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this manage-
ment report)
Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); potential damage: medium (single Group EBIT-
DA risk ≥ EUR 1 million).

4.2.2.8 Overall assessment of risks
The risks described in the above risk report could 
potentially have a substantial impact on the earnings, 
assets and financial position of the  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Group. 
 The overall risk situation of the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group is improved compared with the preceding year 
as a result of the now-completed process of concen-
trating on business operations in the Travel segment 
and a significantly better liquidity situation. When all 
known facts and circumstances are taken into consid-
eration, no risks currently exist, whether individually 
or in combination, that could jeopardise the company’s 
continued existence in the foreseeable future.

4.3 Opportunities report
With regard to its business activities,  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG is largely faced with the same opportunities 
as the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group. In general, the op-
portunities available to  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG reflect 
the size of its holding in subsidiaries and long-term 
equity investments. For this reason, potential opportu-
nities are also expressed in relation to Group EBITDA.
 Business opportunities are not reported as part of 
the risk management system. They are identified in the 
Group’s annual operational planning and followed up 
during the year in its periodic consolidated reporting. 
Direct responsibility for the early identification and 
exploitation of opportunities lies with the managing 
directors of subsidiaries. The strategy process involves 
identifying opportunities for further profitable growth 
in the long term. These are then considered as part of 
the decision-making processes.

4.3.1 Economic opportunities of the   
TOMORROW FOCuS Group 
As a business in the Internet sector, consumer con-
fidence and spending can have a direct or at least 
indirect impact on the revenue development. By way 
of example, improvements in the wider economy and 
fiscal incentives can stimulate consumer demand and 
therefore provide a boost to revenue and profitability 
of the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group. Legislative chang-
es, e.g. to the rate of taxation on corporate profits, can 
also have a positive impact on the Group’s profitability.

Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); Group EBITDA potential over two-year period: 
medium (≥ EUR 1 million).

4.3.2 Market opportunities of the   
TOMORROW FOCuS Group
As an established Internet-based travel group with 
a strong position in some areas of the industry, the 
Management Board estimates that the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group is well placed to benefit in the medium 
and long term from an anticipated period of market 
consolidation within the industry. This should enable it 
to take a greater share of the market and, in doing so, 
to increase revenue and profits, as expected. 
Equally, as the stationary and especially the mobile 
Internet continue to penetrate the markets in Germany 
and in other European countries, there are opportu-
nities for the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group to achieve a 
sustained increase in revenue and profits.
This trend could boost demand for the Group’s portfo-
lio of Internet-based services, thus leading to a greater 
number of holiday and hotel bookings through our 
sites and improving the Group’s revenue and earnings 
position.

Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); Group EBITDA potential over two-year period: 
medium (≥ EUR 1 million).

4.3.3 Other opportunities arising  
from operating activities
The continuous optimisation of key business processes 
and strict controls on costs are crucial in assuring high 
levels of profitability and return on capital.
At both a centralised and decentralised level, the 
Group consistently pursues new approaches with a 
view to achieving continuous improvements in prof-
itability. In this context, one of our aims is to fur-
ther simplify processes across the entire Group and 
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individual segments as a means of reducing operating 
inefficiencies.
Thanks to the expertise of individual companies and 
business units, the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group is able 
to generate synergies that help to boost profits. 

Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); Group EBITDA potential over two-year period: 
medium (≥ EUR 1 million).

4.3.4 Strategic opportunities of the  
 TOMORROW FOCuS Group
The Group’s corporate strategy is coordinated by 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG and monitored and agreed on 
a regular basis in consultation with the subsidiaries. 
An experienced management team and streamlined 
corporate structures also provide an excellent basis for 
the Group to make the most effective use of potential 
opportunities and achieve sustained corporate growth. 
A close-knit structure and the ensuing interaction 
between the companies making up the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group also present opportunities.

Probability of occurrence: probable (≥ 50 – < 80 per-
cent); Group EBITDA potential over two-year period: 
medium (≥ EUR 1 million).

4.3.5 Personnel opportunities of the   
TOMORROW FOCuS Group
The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group provides numerous 
opportunities for its staff to obtain further qualifi-
cations and participate in professional development 
training programmes. It also offers additional benefits 
such as performance-based remuneration systems. As 
a result of these measures and its successful corporate 
record in past years, the company sees itself as an at-
tractive employer and one that is in a position to make 
effective use of its employees’ skills to exploit potential 
business opportunities. 

Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); Group EBITDA potential over two-year period: 
low (< EUR 1 million).

4.3.6 Financial opportunities of the   
TOMORROW FOCuS Group
Favourable exchange rate and interest rate devel-
opments can have a positive impact on the Group’s 
financial result. The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s cen-
tralised Finance department monitors developments 
in the financial markets closely in order to identify 

opportunities and exploit them in the interest of the 
Group as a whole.

Probability of occurrence: possible (≥ 20 – < 50 per-
cent); Group EBITDA potential over two-year period: 
low (< EUR 1 million). 

4.3.7 Overall assessment of opportunities
It is our assessment that in the financial year 2015 the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group was able to slightly ex-
pand its overall market position. This is clear from the 
consolidated revenue figures for continuing operations, 
which show an improvement over the preceding year. 
By contrast, the earnings figures were down on the 
previous year, partly as a result of substantially higher 
marketing, product development and IT expenses. 
Consequently, there was no significant change in the 
overall opportunities situation. 
 The Management Board is confident that the now 
fully established focus on business operations in the 
Travel segment will continue to provide a solid founda-
tion for positive development of the business.
Looking ahead, in terms of opportunities, we believe 
that in financial 2016 the situation of the Group will be 
unchanged compared with 2015.
 There is a distinct possibility that some of our key 
indicators will exceed the levels anticipated in the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s forward planning with 
an additional positive impact on its earnings, asset and 
financial position. 
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5. inTeRnal COnTROl SySTeM and 
RiSk ManaGeMenT SySTeM aS paRT  
OF The GROUp aCCOUnTinG pROCeSS

The objective of the internal control system (ICS) for 
the accounting process is to ensure that the financial 
statements are drawn up in compliance with regu-
lations. In the internal control and risk management 
system adopted by  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, the struc-
tures and processes related to accounting policies are 
defined and implemented within the organisation. This 
ensures that accounting procedures are reliable and 
performed correctly, that business transactions are 
fully and promptly reported as prescribed by law and in 
the articles of association, and that legal standards and 
internal accounting guidelines are observed. Amend-
ments to legislation and accounting standards are 
continuously analysed in order to determine whether 
they are relevant to the consolidated financial state-
ments, and any resultant changes are incorporated in 
the Group’s internal processes and systems.

Across the entire Group,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG has 
established planning, reporting, controlling and early 
warning systems and processes that allow it to com-
prehensively analyse and manage income-related risk 
factors and going-concern threats. Functional respon-
sibilities are clearly defined for all (Group) accounting 
processes (e.g. accounting system, financial account-
ing and controlling). Wherever accounting processes 
are outsourced to service providers, their control and 
risk management systems are adapted to the particular 
requirements of our company and monitored by us on 
an ongoing basis.
 As the company is relatively small and not particu-
larly complex,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG has so far 
decided not to set up its own separate audit unit. Any 
internal audit work that may be required is carried out 
by external service providers.

Basic principles of accounting-based  
internal control system
As the parent company,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
produces the consolidated financial statements of the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group. This process is based on 
the financial reports of the Group companies included 
in the consolidated financial statements, all of which 
prepare their individual financial statements locally. 
Using a defined Group-wide reporting system, they are 
then sent to the Finance and Controlling department 
in Munich, Germany, and an external Shared Service 
Centre in Offenburg, Germany, where they are validat-
ed and checked for plausibility. These measures are 

designed to ensure that the financial statements pro-
duced by  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG and its subsidiaries 
are correct and complete.

The internal control and risk management system for 
the accounting process ensures that business data 
have been correctly entered, processed and evaluated 
before they are included in external reports.
 Responsibility for compliance with Group-wide 
guidelines and procedures and for the correct and 
prompt implementation of accounting processes and 
systems lies with the individual Group companies.

Basic elements of the internal control system
•  Automatic controls are in place to ensure that 

accounting practice complies with legislation and 
accounting standards when the consolidated and 
single-entity financial statements of  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG are prepared. These controls are sup-
plemented by manual checks on the accounts and 
other approval and validation procedures (separa-
tion of functions, rules and restrictions on access, 
cross-checking and rules on payments and transfers).

•  The Finance and Controlling department carries 
out regular completeness checks and analyses any 
discrepancies from the specified business plan. It 
publishes its results in a standardised monthly report 
to the Management Board. The Finance and Con-
trolling department also produces a standardised 
monthly report for the Management Board examining 
any deviation from the business plan with regard to 
forecast income and expenditure.

•  Uniform accounting rules and instructions are in 
place across the Group to ensure that accounts are 
based on prescribed standards. This is also achieved 
by means of centralised checks on reporting pack-
ages, analyses of any deviation from prescribed 
budgets and reports on the results of monthly and 
quarterly reconciliation work.

•  The IT-based accounting systems are protected 
against unauthorised access. A uniform consolida-
tion and reporting system is in place for all external 
accounting and internal reports produced by Group 
companies.

•  Responsibility for the overall consolidation of the 
Group’s financial statements lies with an external 
Shared Service Centre in close cooperation with the 
Finance and Controlling department. Together, these 
two units implement the necessary consolidation and 
reconciliation measures and monitor compliance with 
the prescribed schedules and processes.

•  Accounting support is available to Group companies 
from key contacts at the Finance and Controlling 
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department in Munich.
•  Any particularly technical or complex matters are 

clarified on a case-by-case basis with the help of 
external experts and consultants.

•  The Finance and Controlling department ensures that 
all transactions are recognised promptly and in due 
time so that the financial statements can be drawn up 
by the scheduled date.

•  The Finance and Controlling department ensures that 
intra-group transactions are fully recognised, recon-
ciled and eliminated.

•  The Finance and Controlling department ensures that 
matters of accounting significance or those subject 
to disclosure requirements in relation to contractual 
agreements are identified and correctly shown in the 
financial statements.

In evaluating the internal control system, processes 
at the level of the single legal entities were included 
where they were deemed to be of significance for 
Group reporting purposes. The control targets were 
checked against the implemented controls and evaluat-
ed. The effectiveness of these systems is continuously 
reviewed, further developed and improved. Systematic 
checks are performed to monitor compliance with the 
internal control system and to ensure that it remains up 
to date. The results of all accounting-related internal 
controls are summarised in a report which is made 
directly available to the Management Board and Super-
visory Board.

With regard to the accounting process, it should be 
noted that the internal control and risk management 
system can only offer a relative degree of assurance. 
Regardless of the care taken in designing the system, 
it does not provide an absolute safeguard that finan-
cial reporting objectives will be met or that significant 
accounting inaccuracies will be detected or avoided.

6. RiSk RepORTinG WiTh ReGaRd TO 
The USe OF FinanCial inSTRUMenTS

The main financial instruments used by the compa-
ny are financial liabilities, trade payables and other 
liabilities. These are primarily required as a source of 
financing for the company’s business operations. The 
company’s trade receivables, other receivables, cash 
and cash equivalents, and short-term deposits are di-
rectly generated as a result of the company’s business 
operations. 

Changes in exchange rates and interest rate fluctua-
tions can also have a negative impact on the Group’s 
income, asset and financial position. Responsibility 
for managing these risks lies with the company’s 
management, which ensures that all activities of the 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Group that are exposed to finan-
cial risks are conducted in line with the corresponding 
internal directives and that financial risks are identi-
fied, measured and managed in accordance with these 
directives and with due regard for the Group’s risk pro-
file. The risk management system also takes account of 
any risk concentration affecting individual transactions 
or Group companies. 

In order to minimise the risks associated with changes 
in exchange rates and interest rates, the Group makes 
regular use of derivative financial instruments. These 
are solely intended to function as a hedge for the un-
derlying transactions.

The principle goal of currency hedging is to hedge 
payment flows against exchange rate fluctuations. To 
this end, based on the Group’s corporate planning, 
payment flows in currencies other than the functional 
currency are identified with a view to hedging them 
through the use of currency hedging instruments. This 
mainly affects the ongoing expenditure of Holiday-
Check AG in Swiss francs.  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
makes regular use of currency forwards as cash flow 
hedges for future payments.

The aim of interest rate hedging is to reduce interest 
expenses. The Group is exposed to a risk of fluc-
tuations in market interest rates, primarily from its 
non-current fixed-rate loans. As a general rule, finan-
cial liabilities are either taken out on a variable-rate 
basis or are converted into fixed-rate borrowings 
through the use of derivatives. This helps  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG to minimise its average non-current interest 
expenses.
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Where applicable, derivative financial instruments 
used to hedge foreign currency and interest rate risks 
are treated as a cash flow hedge in line with IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
The effective portion of the profit or loss from the 
hedging instruments is recognised directly in equity 
and is then transferred to profit or loss as soon as the 
hedged cash flows from the underlying transaction 
are also reflected in profit or loss or if a hedged future 
transaction does not actually take place. 

In the event that hedged future transactions (referred 
to in IAS 39 as ‘forecast transactions’) lead to the 
recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, their 
fair values are adjusted to the corresponding figure in 
equity from the hedging transaction.

A number of interest rate swaps were agreed in April 
2011 in order to hedge the risk of fluctuation in the 
interest payable on variable-rate, non-current financial 
liabilities. These were originally assigned directly to 
the underlying transactions in the form of cash flow 
hedges. The interest rate swaps in place and recog-
nised in equity at their market value were due to expire 
on 9 March 2016. 

As at 31 December 2015, these produced financial lia-
bilities totalling EUR 93 thousand (31 December 2014: 
EUR 267 thousand). Although the interest rate hedge 
remained in place, the designated hedging relation-
ships ended on repayment of the previously hedged 
underlying transactions following the restructuring of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s overall financing arrange-
ments. As such, the criteria for cash flow hedging were 
no longer met, and the hedging relationships therefore 
became ineffective.

The nominal values and terms of the above interest 
rate swaps are shown below:

7. TakeOveR-RelaTed diSClOSUReS 
and nOTeS pURSUanT TO SeCTiOn 289, 
paRaGRaph 4 and SeCTiOn 315, paRa-
GRaph 4 GeRMan COMMeRCial COde

Share capital structure
As at 31 December 2015, the company’s subscribed 
share capital amounted to EUR 58,313,628. The share 
capital is divided into 58,313,628 no-par value bearer 
shares, each with a nominal value of EUR 1. The share 
capital is paid up in full. The shareholders have no 
entitlement to the issue of physical individual shares in 
accordance with article 4, paragraph 3 of the articles of 
association, except when the issue of physical individ-
ual shares is required under the rules and regulations 
of the stock exchange where the shares are listed. The 
shares are wholly evidenced by global certificates. All 
shares carry the same rights and obligations. Each 
share entitles the holder to one vote at the sharehold-
ers’ meeting and evidences the right to a portion of 
the company’s distributable profit. This does not apply 
to treasury shares held by the company, in respect 
of which the company does not have any rights. The 
shareholders’ rights and obligations are specified in 
particular in sections 12, 53a et seq, 118 et seq and 
186 of the German Stock Corporation Act.

Transfer and voting rights restrictions 
The company is not currently aware of any transfer or 
voting rights restrictions.

Disclosures relating to direct and  
indirect shareholdings
According to the German Securities Trading Act 
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG), any investor whose 
share of voting capital reaches, exceeds or falls below 
certain thresholds as the result of purchases, disposals 
or otherwise must notify the company in question and 
the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (Bun-
desanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, BaFin) 
of this fact. In the financial year 2015, the company 
received the following notifications in respect of voting 
rights:

On 7 April 2015, Allianz Global Investors GmbH, Frank-
furt am Main, Germany, notified the company pursuant 
to section 21, paragraph 1 of the German Securi-
ties Trading Act that its share of the voting rights in 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, Munich, Germany, on 2 April 
2015 had exceeded the 3 percent threshold and on that 
date had stood at 3.28 percent (equals 1,912,145 voting 
rights).

rate swaps

NOMINAL VALuE  
EuR ’000 EuRIBOR

RESIDuAL PERIODS 
uP TO

6,000 6 months 9 March 2016
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On 27 April 2015, Baden-Württembergische Ver-
sorgungsanstalt für Ärzte, Zahnärzte und Tierärzte 
(the provider for the statutory pension scheme in the 
federal state of Baden-Württemberg), based in Tübin-
gen, Germany, notified the company pursuant to sec-
tion 21, paragraph 1 of the German Securities Trading 
Act that its share of the voting rights in  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG, Munich, Germany, on 27 April 2015 had 
fallen below the 3 percent threshold and on that date 
had stood at 2.98 percent (equals 1,740,000 voting 
rights).

On 29 April 2015, LBBW Asset Management Invest-
mentgesellschaft mbH, Stuttgart, Germany, notified 
the company pursuant to section 21, paragraph 1 of 
the German Securities Trading Act that its share of the 
voting rights in  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, Munich, Ger-
many, on 27 April 2015 had fallen below the 3 percent 
threshold and on that date had stood at 2.98 percent 
(equals 1,740,000 voting rights). 
In accordance with section 22, paragraph 1, sentence 
1, number 6 of the German Securities Trading Act, 
2.98 percent of the voting rights (equals 1,740,000 
voting rights) are attributable to the company. 

Special rights
Shares vested with special rights, such as controlling 
powers or delegation rights, do not exist.

Voting right controls relating to shares  
held by employees
The Management Board is not aware of any voting 
right controls relating to shares held by employees of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG. 

Appointment and dismissal of Management Board 
members and amendments to the articles of 
association
The appointment and dismissal of Management Board 
members is governed by sections 84 and 85 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act. Management Board 
members are appointed by the Supervisory Board for 
a maximum term of 5 years. They may be re-appointed 
or have their term extended for one or more terms of 
up to a maximum of five years each. 
 Pursuant to article 5, paragraph 1 of the articles 
of association, the Management Board is made up of 
one or more persons. The Supervisory Board appoints 
the members of the Management Board and specifies 
their number. It can also appoint deputy Management 
Board members. The Supervisory Board may appoint a 
chairperson of the Management Board.
 Pursuant to article 5, paragraph 2 of the Articles 

of Association, the company is represented by two 
members of the Management Board or by one member 
of the Management Board in conjunction with another 
employee holding general commercial power of attor-
ney (Prokurist under German law). In this respect, dep-
uty Management Board members have the same status 
as ordinary Management Board members. If only one 
member of the Management Board is appointed, he or 
she represents the company alone. The Supervisory 
Board may grant one or all members of the Manage-
ment Board the authority to represent the company 
alone and/or exempt them from the ban on multiple 
representation under section 181 of the German Civil 
Code (Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch, BGB) in so far as this 
is permissible pursuant to section 112 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act. 
 The authority of sole representation and/or exemp-
tion from the ban on multiple representation under 
section 181 of the German Civil Code may be revoked 
at any time.
 Pursuant to section 84, paragraph 3 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act the appointment of Management 
Board members and the appointment of the chairper-
son of the Management Board may be revoked if there 
is good cause.
 Amendments to the articles of association are sub-
ject to a resolution of the general meeting of share-
holders pursuant to section 179 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act. The authority to make amendments to 
the wording only is accorded to the Supervisory Board 
in article 8, paragraph 5 of the articles of association. 
The Supervisory Board is also authorised by resolution 
of the shareholders’ meeting to amend article 4 of the 
articles of association in accordance with the use of 
contingent capital.
 Resolutions by the general meeting of shareholders 
are taken by simple majority pursuant to article 18 of 
the articles of association unless a larger majority is 
mandatory by law. 
 Resolutions on amendments to the articles of 
association require at least a three-quarter majority 
of share capital represented according to section 179, 
paragraph 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act, 
unless otherwise stipulated in the company’s articles of 
association. 

Authority of the Management Board to buy back the 
company’s own shares and/or to issue new shares
1.  The Management Board is authorised, subject to 

Supervisory Board approval, to undertake one or 
more increases in the company’s share capital until 
11 June 2018 up to a maximum of EUR 14,578,407 
by issuing 14,578,407 new no-par value shares 
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in exchange for cash or non-cash contributions 
(authorised capital 2013). The Management Board 
is authorised, subject to Supervisory Board approv-
al, to exclude shareholders’ statutory subscription 
rights in the following circumstances:

• where required, to settle fractional amounts;
•  where a capital increase in exchange for cash con-

tributions does not exceed 10 percent of the share 
capital, and the issue price for the new shares is 
not significantly lower than the stock market price 
(section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act); if this authority to exclude 
subscription rights under section 186, paragraph 
3, sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act 
is exercised, due regard should be given to other 
authorities to exclude subscription rights granted by 
section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act;

•  where a capital increase in exchange for non-cash 
contributions is carried out for the purpose of 
acquiring another company, a long-term equity 
investment in another company or parts of another 
company or in order to purchase claims against the 
company.

Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
the Management Board is authorised to specify the 
remaining details pertaining to the capital increase and 
its implementation. The Supervisory Board is author-
ised to amend the wording of the articles of association 
in line with the use made of authorised capital.

2.  A conditional increase in share capital up to 
EUR 11,600,000 by way of issuing up to 11,600,000 
no-par value bearer shares has been carried out 
(conditional capital 2015). This conditional capital 
increase is only implemented to the extent that the 
holders of the convertible bonds and/or bonds with 
warrants issued by the company up to 15 June 2020, 
on the basis of the authorisation of the general 
meeting of shareholders of 16 June 2015, actually 
exercise their conversion or option rights or where 
the conversion obligations linked to such bonds 
are met and to the extent that no other methods 
of servicing such commitments are used. The new 
shares carry dividend rights from the beginning of 
the financial year in which they are created by the 
exercise of conversion or option rights or through 
the fulfilment of conversion obligations. 
Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
the Management Board is authorised to establish 
the further details pertaining to the execution of the 
conditional capital increase. The Supervisory Board 

is authorised to amend the wording of the articles of 
association in line with the use made of conditional 
capital. The same conditions apply if the authority to 
issue convertible bonds and/or bonds with warrants 
is not used before the end of the designated period, 
or if conditional capital 2015 has not been used on 
expiry of the deadlines for the exercise of conversion 
and/or option rights or for the fulfilment of conver-
sion and/or option obligations.

3.  By resolution of the annual shareholders’ meeting of 
16 June 2015, the Management Board has been au-
thorised to purchase the company’s own shares sub-
ject to the following conditions. This authorisation is 
limited to the purchase of the company’s own shares 
worth up to 10 percent of its share capital, based on 
the accounting par value. It may be exercised in full 
or in partial amounts, on one or more occasions, by 
the company or by third parties acting on its behalf. 
The authorisation expires on 15 June 2020. 

The purchase should be concluded on the stock ex-
change or by means of a public offering directed at all 
the company’s shareholders. 
aa)  If the shares are purchased on the stock exchange, 

the consideration per share paid by the company 
(excluding ancillary purchase costs) may not be 
more than 10 percent higher or 10 percent lower 
than the average closing price over the ten trading 
days on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (Frankfurter 
Wertpapierbörse, FWB) preceding the purchase 
of the shares (on the electronic trading platform 
XETRA or a comparable successor trading system) 
for shares with the same features.

bb)  If the shares are acquired by means of a public of-
fering to all the company’s shareholders, the price 
per share offered (excluding ancillary purchase 
costs) may not be more than 10 percent higher or 
10 percent lower than the average closing price 
(on the electronic trading platform XETRA or a 
comparable successor trading system) over the 
last three trading days on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange (Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse, FWB) 
preceding the publication of the offer for shares 
with the same properties. The purchase offer may 
stipulate further conditions. The volume for the 
offer may be limited. If the total number of shares 
offered for sale by shareholders exceeds this vol-
ume, the shares will be accepted in the ratio of the 
shares offered. The public offering may stipulate 
that priority will be given to smaller bundles of up 
to 50 shares per shareholder offered for sale and 
may also allow for commercial rounding to avoid 
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creating factions of shares. Beyond this, share-
holders are not entitled to require the company to 
purchase their shares.

With respect to shares in the company that are ac-
quired on the basis of this authorisation or that have 
been acquired on the basis of previous authorisations, 
the Management Board has been authorised, with the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, to dispose of the 
shares by means of an offering to all shareholders or 
selling on the stock exchange, or in addition:

a)  to offer them as consideration to third parties under 
a business combination agreement, for the acqui-
sition of another company or of a long-term equity 
investment in another company or parts of another 
company or for the purchase of claims against the 
company;

b)   to dispose of them to third parties; the price at 
which the shares are sold to third parties may not 
be significantly lower than the stock exchange price 
at the time of their disposal; if the company decides 
to make use of this authorisation, the exclusion of 
subscription rights on account of other authorisa-
tions pursuant to section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 
4 of the German Stock Corporation Act should be 
observed;

c)  to use them to fulfil option and/or conversion rights 
or obligations in respect of bonds with warrants 
and/or convertible bonds issued by the company or 
its Group companies;

d)  to offer them for sale to employees of the compa-
ny and its affiliated entities and senior managers 
or to transfer the acquired shares to them and/or 
use them to fulfil commitments or obligations to 
purchase company shares that have been or may 
in future be granted to employees of the company 
and its affiliated entities and senior managers. In 
particular they may also be used to service purchase 
obligations or rights in respect of company shares 
that have been agreed with senior managers under 
the terms of employee stock option plans. If mem-
bers of the company’s Management Board qualify, 
the Supervisory Board is responsible for selecting 
those who qualify and determining the number of 
shares to be granted in each case;

e)  to withdraw the shares without a requirement for 
the withdrawal or its execution to be approved by 
means of a further resolution by the sharehold-

ers’ meeting; any such withdrawal would lead to a 
capital reduction; the shares may also be withdrawn 
by means of a simplified procedure without a capital 
reduction by adjusting the proportional accounting 
nominal value of the remaining no-par value shares 
to the company’s share capital; withdrawal may be 
limited to part of the shares acquired by this means.

The above authorisations concerning the use of treas-
ury shares acquired by the company may be exercised 
on one or more occasions, wholly or partially and 
singly or together. Shareholders’ subscription rights to 
treasury shares acquired by the company are excluded 
provided that the shares in question are used under 
the authorisations detailed above in a), b) and c). In 
addition, the Management Board is entitled, subject to 
approval by the Supervisory Board, to exclude the sub-
scription rights of shareholders in respect of fractional 
amounts in cases where shares are sold in the form of 
an offer for sale. The Management Board will in each 
case report to the shareholders’ meeting on the rea-
sons for and the purpose of the acquisition of treasury 
shares, the number of shares purchased, the amount of 
share capital they represent and the consideration paid 
for the shares. 

The Supervisory Board is authorised to amend the 
wording of the articles of association depending on the 
use made in individual cases of the authorisation to call 
in shares.

As at 31 December 2015, the company did not hold any 
treasury shares.

Significant agreements to which the company is 
party that take effect upon a change of control 
following a takeover bid
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG is not aware of any agree-
ments which take effect upon a change of control 
following a takeover bid.

Compensation agreements between the company 
and members of the Management Board or 
employees providing for the event that a takeover 
bid takes place 
There are no compensation agreements between the 
company and current members of the Management 
Board or employees in the event of a takeover bid. 
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8. deClaRaTiOn On CORpORaTe 
GOveRnanCe

The actions taken by the management and controlling 
bodies of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG are determined 
by the principles of responsible and proper corporate 
governance. For further details, please see the 
Declaration on Corporate Governance in accordance 
with section 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance 
Code and section 289a, paragraph 1 of the German 
Commercial Code. This declaration was released 
by the Management Board, also on behalf of the 
Supervisory Board, and can be found on the website of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG at http://www. TOMORROW-
focus.com/investor-relations/fixed/investor-relations-
corporate-governance_aid_160.html.

9. ReMUneRaTiOn RepORT

Remuneration report for the Management Board
The overall structure of the remuneration system for 
the Management Board is determined by the entire 
Supervisory Board. There is therefore no committee 
within the Supervisory Board that deals specifically 
with the issue of remuneration for members of the 
Management Board. The remuneration paid to the 
members of the Management Board depends on the 
company’s size and orientation, as well as its economic 
and financial position. It is also fixed at a competitive 
rate as an incentive for committed and effective work 
in a dynamic environment.

The short-term remuneration of Management Board 
members includes a fixed element which is not based 
on performance and a variable performance-related 
element of between 20 percent and 35 percent. 50 per-
cent of this variable element is based on profit targets, 
25 percent on revenue targets and the remaining 
25 percent on individual performance targets. All three 
components are specified by the Supervisory Board for 
each new financial year.

Since 2011, virtual shares have been issued to mem-
bers of the Management Board and other employees 
of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG and its subsidiaries under 
a long-term incentive programme (LTIP). The virtual 
shares entitle the holder to a cash payment based on 
the average share price over the last one hundred stock 
exchange trading days up to the payment date. There 
is no automatic entitlement to shares in  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG. Under the terms of the LTIP, virtual shares 
are granted in annual tranches up to and including 
2015. There is no link between these tranches. 

Qualification for the virtual shares conferred under 
the LTIP is subject to meeting individually negotiat-
ed EBTA targets (earnings before tax and purchase 
price allocation amortisation) for each financial year. 
Depending on the extent to which targets are met in 
the financial year in which the tranche was granted, 
the original number of virtual shares is increased or 
reduced. If a specified minimum target is not achieved, 
or if the company’s liabilities exceed a certain thresh-
old, entitlement to the virtual shares may be forfeited 
completely. After this point, the virtual shares must be 
held for a further three years.

On expiry of the minimum holding period, the benefi-
ciaries are entitled to a cash payment (plus accumulat-
ed dividends) based on their holding of virtual shares. 
The total payment may not exceed three times the 
grant value of that tranche of virtual shares. The grant 
value, assuming complete attainment of the target, 
is an individual gross amount converted into virtual 
shares on the basis of the average share price (initial 
reference price) over the last one hundred stock ex-
change trading days up to the annual general meeting 
at which the consolidated financial statements ap-
proved by the Supervisory Board for the financial year 
in question are presented to shareholders.

The LTIP figures for 2015 for members of the Manage-
ment Board are shown in the following table:

other liaBilities

2015
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Liabilities from share-based payment transactions with cash settlement 1,120 1,415

Total 1,120 1,415
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The holding period for the virtual shares granted in the 
2011 tranche of the LTIP ended in the financial year 
under review. Accordingly, the members of the Man-
agement Board were paid a total of EUR 636 thousand 
in respect of 136,623 virtual shares from that tranche.

Liabilities to members of the Management Board total 
EUR 2.6 million (2014: EUR 1.7 million). In addition 
to liabilities from share-based payment transactions 
with cash settlement, this figure contains liabilities 
of EUR 1.1 million (2014: EUR 0.0 million) in respect 
of remuneration for the early termination of Man-
agement Board service. The figure for liabilities from 
share-based payment transactions includes liabilities 
of EUR 0.3 million (2014: EUR 0.0 million) to former 
members of the Management Board. There are no 
amounts receivable from the Management Board.
The personnel costs incurred by  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG up to the balance sheet date in connection 
with the Management Board LTIP are shown below:

The above personnel costs mainly comprise expenses 
for the 2015 tranche granted in the year under review 
and expenses from revaluation of the 2011 to 2013 
tranches. In financial 2014 the corresponding income 
arose solely from revaluation of the 2011 to 2013 
tranches.

The total remuneration of the members of the Manage-
ment Board for the financial year under review came 

to EUR 3.0 million (2014: EUR 1.3 million). This figure 
contains remuneration of EUR 1.3 million (EUR 0.0 mil-
lion) for the early termination of Management Board 
service, variable components of EUR 0.2 million 
(2014: 0.2 million) and share-based payments of 
EUR 0.34 million (2014: minus EUR 0.19 million). Out 
of the figure for share-based payments, the amount 
attributable to former members of the Management 
Board is EUR 0.0 million (2014: EUR 0.0 million).

Two members of the Management Board were each 
provided with a company car. There are no further 
elements of remuneration.

At their general meeting on 1 June 2011 the sharehold-
ers decided by qualified majority to apply an opt-out 
clause, thus exempting  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG from 
the statutory obligation to provide individual disclo-
sures up to and including the financial year 2015.

personnel costs

2015
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Cost (+) of / income (-) from share-based payment transactions with cash settlement 340 -94

Total 340 -94
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Shareholdings of Management Board members
Christoph Schuh held a total of 16,600  TOMORROW 
FOCUS shares as at 31 December 2015. This cor-
responds to around 0.03 percent of the company’s 
shares.
 Timo Salzsieder held a total of 5,000  TOMORROW 
FOCUS shares as at 31 December 2015. This corres-
ponds to approximately 0.01 percent of the company’s 
shares.
 Dr Dirk Schmelzer held a total of 5,000  TOMORROW 
FOCUS shares as at 31 December 2015. This corre-
sponds to approximately 0.01 percent of the company’s 
shares.

In financial 2015,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG received 
the following disclosures of securities transactions 
involving members of the Management Board pursuant 
to section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act: 
see table above.

Other Management Board-related disclosures
The members of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s execu-
tive bodies and the executive bodies of all affiliated 
entities are exempted by  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
from third-party claims if such exemption is legally 
admissible. The company has third-party liability cover 
(D&O insurance) in respect of the members of its 

transactions involvinG memBers of the manaGement BoarD

executive bodies and its executive officers. It covers 
personal liability for claims in respect of financial loss 
arising from the managerial activities of directors and 
officers. There is a deductible of EUR 0.55 million on 
the above D&O insurance for members of the Manage-
ment Board. 
 There are no other pension commitments in respect 
of Management Board members.

Remuneration report for the Supervisory Board
The remuneration of the  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
Supervisory Board is regulated in article 11 of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s articles of association, 
which stipulates a fixed amount of EUR 25,000 for 
every member of the Supervisory Board for each 
complete financial year and double this amount for 
the Chairperson. An additional sum of EUR 10,000 is 
paid to the Chairperson of each Supervisory Board 
Committee for each complete financial year. Each other 
member of the Committee receives an additional com-
pensation of EUR 5,000 per annum. A pro rata sum is 
paid to members of the Supervisory Board who do not 
serve for a full financial year. 

The members of the Supervisory Board received the 
following remuneration in the financial year 2015: see 
table on top of next page.

PERSON SuBJECT TO
TRANSACTION 
DATE TRANSACTION STOCk MARkET QuANTITY

SHARE PRICE  
PER uNIT

Dr Dirk Schmelzer 15 June 2015 Sale Xetra 8,372 EUR 4.421149

Dr Dirk Schmelzer 16 June 2015 Sale Xetra 16,628 EUR 4.409173

Dr Dirk Schmelzer 22 June 2015 Sale Xetra 15,000 EUR 4.40

Christoph Schuh 3 July 2015 Sale Xetra 60,000 EUR 4.224

Christoph Schuh 21 August 2015 Purchase Xetra 5,000 EUR 3.11

Christoph Schuh 31 August 2015 Purchase Xetra 10,000 EUR 3.06

Timo Salzsieder 31 August 2015 Purchase Xetra 5,000 EUR 3.1073692

Dr Dirk Schmelzer 31 August 2015 Purchase Frankfurt 5,000 EUR 3.12
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transactions involvinG memBers of the supervisory BoarD

In 2014, the company incurred EUR 0.06 million in 
costs in connection with a service contract with a firm 
of lawyers in which one Supervisory Board member 
was a partner up to the end of June 2015.

Shareholdings of Supervisory Board members
At the end of the financial year 2015, the total number 
of shares in  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG held directly or 
indirectly by all members of the Supervisory Board 
stood at 104,799.

In the financial year 2015,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
received the following disclosures from Supervisory 
Board members of securities transactions as required 
by section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act.

Other disclosures relating to the Supervisory Board
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG has third-party liability cover 
(D&O insurance) without a deductible in respect of the 
members of its Supervisory Board. Further information 
about this insurance is provided under Other Manage-
ment Board-related disclosures which forms part of 
this remuneration report.

Other disclosures
There are no stock option plans or similar securities- 
based incentive schemes for the Supervisory Board or 
other employees at  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG. 

*  In accordance with section 15a paragraph 3 of the German Securities Trading Act shares in  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG held by Two Wins GmbH are attributed to Stefan 
Winners, Chairperson of the Supervisory Board. Accordingly, transactions in these shares made by Two Wins GmbH must be disclosed in accordance with section 
15a paragraph 1 of the German Securities Trading Act.

PERSON/ENTITY SuBJECT TO
TRANSACTION 
DATE TRANSACTION STOCk MARkET QuANTITY 

SHARE PRICE  
PER uNIT

Two Wins GmbH* 20 March 2015 Purchase Tradegate 11,628 EUR 4.285

Two Wins GmbH* 7 August 2015 Purchase Xetra 5,355 EUR 3.738831 

Two Wins GmbH* 21 August 2015 Purchase Xetra 4,000 EUR 3.1641

remuneration report for the supervisory BoarD in 2015

PERSON SuBJECT TO
REMuNERATION 
IN EUR

Stefan Winners (Chairperson, member of the Audit Committee) 55,000.00

Dr Dirk Altenbeck (member of the Supervisory Board since 16 June 2015) 35,000.00

Dr Thomas Döring (member of the Supervisory Board since 16 June 2015) 13,561.64

Dr Andreas Rittstieg (member of the Audit Committee) 30,000.00

Holger Taubmann 25,000.00

Aliz Tepfenhart (member of the Supervisory Board since 16 June 2015) 13,561.64

Martin Weiss (stepped down from Supervisory Board on 16 June 2015) 11,438.36

Philipp Welte (stepped down from Supervisory Board on 16 June 2015) 11,438.36
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10. eMplOyeeS

The average headcount for the continuing operations 
of the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group in 2015 was 387 
full-time equivalents (FTEs). The corresponding figure 
for the Group’s continuing operations in 2014 was 377 
FTEs. On average, 24 people worked at  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG during the year (2014: 28), including the 
members of the Management Board. 

The employees of the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
worked in the following segments (average figures for 
the year): see table above.

The  TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s personnel costs 
amounted to EUR 32.1 million in financial 2015 follow-
ing EUR 26.4 million in the previous year.

11. nOTeS and FORWaRd-lOOkinG 
STaTeMenTS

Definitions 
All mentions of ‘ TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’, ‘the group 
of companies’ or ‘the Group’ in this management re-
port relate to the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group. 

Forward-looking statements 
This management report contains statements relating 
to future business and financial performance and fu-
ture events or developments concerning  TOMORROW 
FOCUS that may constitute forward-looking state-
ments. These statements may be identified by words 
such as ‘expects’, ‘looks forward to’, ‘anticipates’, 
‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘believes’, ‘seeks’, ‘estimates’, ‘will’, 
‘project’ or words of similar meaning. We may also 

make forward-looking statements in other reports, in 
presentations, in material delivered to shareholders 
and in media releases. In addition, our representatives 
may from time to time make oral forward-looking state-
ments. Such statements are based on current expec-
tations and certain assumptions of the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS management team, and are, therefore, subject 
to various risks and uncertainties. Numerous factors, 
many of which are beyond the control of  TOMORROW 
FOCUS, nevertheless affect its operations, perfor-
mance, business strategy and results and could cause 
the Group’s actual results, performance or achieve-
ments to be materially different from those expressed 
or implied in such forward-looking statements or antic-
ipated on the basis of historical trends. These factors 
include in particular, but are not limited to, the matters 
described in section 4.2.2 of this report under the 
heading Risks. Further information about risks and un-
certainties affecting  TOMORROW FOCUS can be found 
in this annual report and in our most recent earnings 
release, both of which are available on our website 
at www. TOMORROW-focus.com. Should one or more 
of these risks or uncertainties materialise, or should 
underlying assumptions prove incorrect, the actual 
results, performance or achievements of  TOMORROW 
FOCUS may vary materially from those described in 
the corresponding forward-looking statements as be-
ing expected, anticipated, intended, planned, believed, 
sought, estimated or projected.  TOMORROW FOCUS 
neither intends, nor assumes any obligation, to update 
or revise these forward-looking statements in light of 
developments which differ from those anticipated. 
Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this 
and other documents may not add up precisely to 
the totals shown, and percentages may not precisely 
reflect the absolute figures.

employees of the tomorrow focus Group By seGments 

HOLDING  / OTHER: 24
2014: 28

TRAVEL: 363
2014: 349
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12. ReSpOnSibiliTy STaTeMenT by The leGal RepReSenTaTiveS in aCCORdanCe 
WiTh SeCTiOn 37y, nUMbeR 1 OF The GeRMan SeCURiTieS TRadinG aCT in 
COnjUnCTiOn WiTh SeCTiOn 297, paRaGRaph 2, SenTenCe 4 and SeCTiOn 315, 
paRaGRaph 1, SenTenCe 6 OF The GeRMan COMMeRCial COde 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with 
the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated 
financial statements as at 31 December 2015 give a 
true and fair view of the assets and liabilities, financial 
position and profit or loss of the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group and the group management report includes a 

fair review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the  TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group, together with a description of the principal 
opportunities and risks associated with the expected 
development of the  TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

Munich, Germany, 21 March 2016

Georg Hesse Timo Salzsieder Dr Dirk Schmelzer
Chairperson of the Management Board Member of the Management Board Member of the Management Board
(Chief Executive Officer) (Chief Operating Officer) (Chief Financial Officer)
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A SSE T S NoTE S 31 DEC 2 015
€ ‚0 0 0

31 DEC 2 014
€ ‚0 0 0

NoN-CURRENT ASSETS 

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired for valuable consideration 10.1. 18,638 31,493

Internally generated intangible assets 10.1. 7,801 14,912

Goodwill 10.1. 100,182 123,296

126,621 169,701

Property, plant and equipment (tangible assets)

Land, land rights and buildings 20 0

Other plant, furniture and fixtures 10.2. 3,164 3,845

3,184 3,845

Financial assets 

Shares in affiliated entities 4 31

Long-term equity investments 0 459

Loans 10.3. 6,713 1,350

6,717 1,840

Receivables and other assets 

Other assets 10.8. 640 868

640 868

Deferred taxes 10.4. /10.17. 1,189 1,263

ToTAL NoN-CURRENT ASSETS 138,351 177,517

CURRENT ASSETS 

Receivables and other assets 

Trade receivables 10.6. 14,747 26,122

Receivables from affiliated entities 10.7. 462 407

Receivables from other long-term investees and investors 10.7. 0 69

Income tax receivables  416 19

Other assets 10.8. 2,792 3,134

18,417 29,751

Cash and cash equivalents 9.12. 63,702 26,640

Held-for-sale assets of discontinued operations 9.2. 946 0

ToTAL CURRENT ASSETS 83,065 56,391

ToTAL ASSETS 221,416 233,908

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
a s at 31 December 2015
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EQUIT Y AND LIABILIT IE S NoTE S 31 DEC 2 015
€ ‚0 0 0

31 DEC 2 014
€ ‚0 0 0

EQUITY 

Subscribed capital 10.10. 58,314 58,314

Capital reserves 10.10. 84,808 84,808

Other reserves 10.13. -1,684 -2,556

Consolidated retained earnings 27,423 -15,073

168,861 125,493

ToTAL EQUITY 168,861 125,493

LIABILITIES 

NoN-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Provisions for pensions 10.14. 1,001 1,796

Deferred taxes 10.4. /10.17. 5,236 5,663

Liabilities to banks 10.19. 0 54,500

Trade payables 10.21. 38 58

Other liabilities 10.20. 1,991 3,741

ToTAL NoN-CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,266 65,758

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other provisions 10.18. 964 1,189

Liabilities to banks 10.19. 15,214 842

Trade payables 10.21. 12,471 12,174

Liabilities to affiliated entities 10.7. 3,424 3,532

Income tax liabilities 260 1,977

Other liabilities 10.20. 11,858 22,943

    

Liabilities related to held-for-sale assets  
of discontinued operations 9.2. 98 0

ToTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 44,289 42,657

ToTAL LIABILITIES 52,555 108,415

ToTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 221,416 233,908
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME 

Note s 
1 JAN -  

31 DeC 2 015
€ ‚0 0 0

1 JAN -  
31 DeC 2 014

€ ‚0 0 0 1)

Revenue 11.1. 104,397 100,140

Other income 11.2. 3,049 4,756

Other own work capitalised 11.3. 3,345 3,171

 

Cost of materials 11.4. -8,272 -8,543

Personnel costs 11.6. -32,052 -26,355

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  
losses on tangible and intangible assets 10.1. /10.2. -16,142 -6,011

Other expenses 11.7. -68,851 -54,254

Other taxes -3 -4

operating result (eBIt) -14,529 12,900

Financial income 11.8. 290 241

Financial expenses 11.9. -2,150 -3,658

Financial result -1,860 -3,417

earnings from continuing operations before taxes -16,389 9,483

Actual taxes 10.17. -874 -3,003

Deferred taxes 10.4./10.17. 871 405

tax result -3 -2,598

Consolidated net income/(loss) from  
continuing operations after taxes -16,392 6,885

Consolidated net income/(loss) from  
discontinued operations after taxes 9.2. 58,888 -10,563

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes 42,496 -3,678

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes attributable to    

equity holders of the parent company  42,496 -3,678

42,496 -3,678

€ €

Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations -0.28 0.12

Basic and diluted earnings per share from  
discontinued operations 1.01 -0.18

Basic and diluted earnings per share 0.73 -0.06

Average number of shares outstanding 58,313,628 58,313,628

Note 

1)  Adjusted for the effects resulting from application of IFRS 5. Explanation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (9.2)

for the period 1 January to 31 december 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Note s
1 JAN -  

31 DeC 2 015
€ ‚0 0 0

1 JAN -  
31 DeC 2 014

€ ‚0 0 0

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes 42,496 -3,678

Items not subject to reclassification to the statement of income 930 -286

Revaluation of defined-benefit pension plans 10.13. 930 -286

    Change due to revaluation 1,132 -348

    Deferred tax effect -202 62

Items subject to possible reclassification  
to the statement of income in the future -58 308

Currency translation differences 10.13. 0 -6

Cash flow hedges 10.13. -58 314

Changes in fair value recognised in equity -71 83

Recognised in the statement of income 0 383

Deferred taxes on cash flow hedges 13 -152

other comprehensive income 872 22

Consolidated comprehensive income/(loss) 43,368 -3,656

Consolidated comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to 

equity holders of the parent company 43,368 -3,656

43,368 -3,656

for the period 1 January to 31 december 2015

87
Tomorrow focus AG 2015

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income



Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company

Other reserves

Subscribed 
capital 
€ ‚000

Capital 
reserves 

€ ‚000

Reserves for the  
revaluation of 

defined-benefit
pension plans 

€ ‚000

Reserves for 
 currency 

 translation 
€ ‚000

Reserves for 
cash flow hedges

€ ‚000

Notes 10.10. 10.10. 10.13. 10.13. 10.13. 

1 JANUARY 2014 58,314 84,808 -162 -2,102 -314

Net income/(loss) after taxes 
according to consolidated 
statement of income 0 0 0 0 0

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 
according to consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income 0 0 -286 -6 314

Consolidated comprehensive 
income/(loss) 0 0 -286 -6 314

Distribution 0 0 0 0 0

31 DECEMBER 2014 58,314 84,808 -448 -2,108 0

1 JANUARY 2015 58,314 84,808 -448 -2,108 0

Net income/(loss) after taxes 
 according to consolidated statem-
ent of income 0 0 0 0 0

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 
according to consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income 0 0 930 0 -58

Consolidated comprehensive 
income/(loss) 0 0 930 0 -58

31 DECEMBER 2015 58,314 84,808 482 -2,108 -58

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the period 1 January to 31 december 2015
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Equity attributable to equity holders  
of the parent company

Consolidated  
retained  
earnings

€ ‚000
TOTAl 
€ ‚000

TOTAl 
EqUiTY 

€ ‚000

1 JANUARY 2014 -7,896 132,648 132,648

Net income/(loss) after taxes  
according to consolidated  
statement of income -3,678 -3,678 -3,678

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  
according to consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income 0 22 22

Consolidated comprehensive  
income/(loss) 

-3,678 -3,656 -3,656

Distribution -3,499 -3,499 -3,499

31 DECEMBER 2014 -15,073 125,493 125,493

1 JANUARY 2015 -15,073 125,493 125,493

Net income/(loss) after taxes  
according to consolidated  
statement of income 42,496 42,496 42,496

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  
according to consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income 0 872 872

Consolidated comprehensive 
 income/(loss) 42,496 43,368 43,368

  

31 DECEMBER 2015 27,423 168,861 168,861

Notes

1) Adjusted for the effect from application of IAS 8. Explanation in the notes to the consolidated finacial statments (2).                                
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Notes 
1 JAN -  

31 DeC 2015 
€ ‚000

1 JAN -  
31 DeC 2014

€ ‚000

CAsh flow from operAtiNg ACtivities 

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes 42,496 -3,678

Adjustments for translation of net profit/(loss) after taxes to inflows/outflows

– Financial income 11.8. -290 -108

+ Financial expenses 11.9. 1,753 3,971

+ Impairment of financial assets 11.9. 500 0

+
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment  
losses on tangible and intangible assets 1)

10.1. / 
10.2. 20,391 24,409

 +/– Effects of deconsolidation 9.2. -64,646 1,679

 +/–
Balance of personnel costs and payments resulting from long-term incentive plans and 
stock-option programmes 

10.15. / 
10.16. -916

234

 +/– Cash outflow for performance-based payments previously recognised as expenses 10.15. -1,098 0

 –/+ Exchange rate-related revaluation or devaluation of currency holdings 0 -18

 –/+ Unrealised gains and losses on financial assets -99 -49

–/+ Changes in deferred taxes 2) 10.17. 3,144 652

+/– Changes in provisions for pensions 10.14. 337 458

= operating result before changes in net working capital 1,572 27,550

 –/+ Gains/losses from disposal of non-current assets 141 62

–/+
Increase/decrease in assets not  
attributable to investing or financing activities

 
2,571 -1,012

+/–
Increase/decrease in liabilities not attributable  
to investing or financing activities

 
3,263 5,317

–/+
Changes in receivables from/liabilities to affiliated  
entities as well as to other long-term investees and investors

 
-556 1,268

 +/– Other non-cash expenses/income 3)  170 -7,542

= Changes in net working capital 5,589 -1,907

= Cash from current operations 7,161 25,643

– Interest expenses -1,581 -2,105

= Net cash from operating activities 5,580 23,538

CAsh flow from iNvestiNg ACtivities 

 + Cash inflow from disposal of tangible and intangible assets 35 13

– Cash outflow for investment in tangible and intangible assets -9,891 -11,988

– Cash outflow for investment in financial assets 0 -600

+ Cash inflow from interest 11 30

+ Cash inflow from disposal of financial assets 179 0

+/– Cash inflow from disposal of previously consolidated entities 4) 9.2. 89,331 -5,090

–
Cash outflow for the aquistion of  
consolidated entities less cash aquired 9.2. -973 0

= Net cash used in investing activities 78,692 -17,635

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the period 1 January to 31 december 2015
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Notes 
1 JAN -  

31 DeC 2015 
€ ‚000

1 JAN -  
31 DeC 2014

€ ‚000

CAsh flow from fiNANCiNg ACtivities 

– Distribution to third parties 5) -22 -984

– Dividend payments 0 -3,499

+ Cash inflow from borrowing from banks 10.19. 0 40,000

– Cash outflow for the repayment of loans to banks 10.19. -40,270 -22,660

–
Cash outflow for payment of cash pool  
liabilities to deconsolidated entities 6) 9.2. -3,061 0

+
Cash inflow for purchase price payments relating to the disposal of  
previously deconsolidated entities, made in subsequent periods 42 0

–
Cash outflow for purchase price payments for the aquisition of previously consolidated 
entities, made in subsequent periods 7) -3,858 -18,200

= Net cash used in financing activities -47,169 -5,343

vAluAtioN-relAteD ChANges iN CAsh 

+/–
Non-cash change resulting from translation  
of cash flows to average costs -1 -2

+/– Change in value of cash due to closing rate changes 1 -4

+/– Exchange rate-related revaluation or devaluation of currency holdings -36 18

= valuation-related changes in cash -36 12

= Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 37,067 572

+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 26,640 26,068

= Cash at the end of the period  63,707 26,640

 thereof cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations 63,702

 thereof cash and cash equivalents related to held-for-sale assets from discontinued operations 5

Additional information

In the financial year 2015, there were tax outflows of € 3,300 thousand (2014: € 3,749 thousand) and tax inflows of € 19 thousand (2014: € 57 thousand).

Note

1)  A total of € 4,429 thousand (2014: € 18,399 thousand) from discontinued operations is included in the figure shown for amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses.

2)  This item contains deferred taxes of € 4,016 thousand from discontinued operations.

3)  The non-cash income in 2014 mainly refers to income in connection with the revaluation of put option/earn-out option liabilities and compensation-related liabili-

ties linked to the purchase of the remaining shares in WebAssets B.V. (EUR 1,980 thousand), RPC Voyages SAS (EUR 5,299 thousand) and  jameda GmbH  

(EUR 263 thousand).

4)  The Group received a cash inflow of EUR 29,896 thousand from the disposal of BurdaForward GmbH (formerly TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH) and its 

subsidiaries. Furthermore, there was a cash inflow resulting from a liquidation surplus in connection with the disposal of shares in EliteMedianet GmbH (€ 12,718 

thousand) and jameda (€ 46,717 thousand). There was a cash outflow in 2014 for the disposal of shares in Cellular GmbH (€ 805 thousand) and RPC Voyages SAS 

(€ 3,935 thousand). In addition, the amount shown of EUR 350 thousand for the 2014 reporting period refers to a reimbursement to the buyers due to the disposal 

of shares in TFT TIE Kinetix GmbH (formely TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH) in 2013. The amounts shown respectively include the revenue figures, less 

cash disposed of. 

5)  In 2014, this amount included profit distribution payments to former shareholders of subsidiaries.

6)  The item refers to the balancing of cash pool accounts of the disposed BurdaForward Group after its deconsolidation.

7)  In the current financial year, there was a cash outflow due to maturing earn-out liabilities for shares held in jameda GmbH. The amount shown for the 2014 

 reporting period refers to payments made for the purchase of the remaining shares in WebAssets B.V.
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CARRYING AMOUNTS

31 DEC 2015
€ ‚000

31 DEC 2014
€ ‚000

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired for valuable consideration 18,638 31,493

Internally generated intangible assets 7,801 14,912

Goodwill 100,182 123,296

126,621 169,701

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (TANGIBLE ASSETS)

Land, land rights and buildings 20 0

Other plant, furniture and fixtures 3,164 3,845

3,184 3,845

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Shares in affiliated entities 4 31

Long-term equity investments 0 459

Loans 6,713 1,350

6,717 1,840

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired for valuable consideration 

Internally generated intangible assets 

Goodwill 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (TANGIBLE ASSETS)

Land, land rights and buildings

Other plant, furniture and fixtures 

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Shares in affiliated entities 

Long-term equity investments 

Loans 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN NON-CURRENT ASSETS
for the period 1 January to 31 december 2015,  
part of the notes to the consolidated financial statements

92
Tomorrow focus AG 2015
Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets



ACQUISITION AND PRODUCTION COSTS 

1 JAN 2015
€ ‚000

ADDITIONS  
€ ‚000

DISPOSALS
€ ‚000

DISPOSALS TO 
REPORTING 

ENTITY 
€ ‚000

DISPOSALS 
ACCORDING 

TO IFRS 5
€ ‚000

TRANSFERS 
€ ‚000

31 DEC 2015
€ ‚000

45,482 2,112 763 13,856 55 0 32,920

25,102 6,182 2,023 9,774 2,609 0 16,878

125,006 0 0 19,745 0 0 105,261

195,590 8,294 2,786 43,375 2,664 0 155,059

0 0 0 0 0 22 22

8,331 1,597 520 2,406 30 -22 6,950

8,331 1,597 520 2,406 30 0 6,972

56 0 52 0 0 0 4

483 0 0 483 0 0 0

1,369 6,000 137 0 0 0 7,232

1,908 6,000 189 483 0 0 7,236

AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION AND WRITE-DOWNS

1 JAN 2015
€ ‚000

ADDITIONS 1)

AMORTISA-
TION AND 

 DEPRECIATION
€ ‚000

ADDITIONS 1)

WRITE-DOWNS 
€ ‚000

DISPOSALS
AMORTISA-

TION AND 
 DEPRECIATION 

€ ‚000

DISPOSALS TO 
REPORTING 

ENTITY 
€ ‚000

DISPOSALS 
ACCORDING 

TO IFRS 5
€ ‚000

31 DEC 2015
€ ‚000

13,989 2,989 3,231 630 5,260 37 14,282

10,190 3,357 4,057 2,023 4,804 1,700 9,077

1,710 0 5,469 0 2,100 0 5,079

25,889 6,346 12,757 2,653 12,164 1,737 28,438

0 2 0 0 0 0 2

4,486 1,232 54 462 1,503 21 3,786

4,486 1,234 54 462 1,503 21 3,788

 

25 0 0 25 0 0 0

24 0 0 0 24 0 0

19 0 500 0 0 0 519

68 0 500 25 24 0 519

Note

1)  Includes additions of EUR 783 thousand to amortisation and depreciation, additions of EUR 3,310 thousand to write-downs on 

 intangible assets, and additions of EUR 156 thousand to depreciation on tangible assets of discontinued operations.
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CARRYING AMOUNTS

31 DEC 2014
€ ‚000

31 DEC 2013
€ ‚000

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired for valuable consideration 31,493 37,436

Internally generated intangible assets 14,912 12,825

Goodwill 123,296 134,382

169,701 184,643

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (TANGIBLE ASSETS)

Property and equivalent rights 0 6

Other property, plant and equipment; furniture and fixtures 3,845 3,851

3,845 3,857

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Shares in affiliated entities 31 31

Long-term equity investments 459 459

Loans 1,350 1,072

1,840 1,562

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired for valuable consideration 

Internally generated intangible assets 

Goodwill 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (TANGIBLE ASSETS)

Property and equivalent rights 

Other property, plant and equipment; furniture and fixtures 

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Shares in affiliated entities 

Long-term equity investments 

Loans 

Consolidated statement of  
Changes in non-Current assets
for the period 1 January to 31 december 2014,  
part of the notes to the consolidated financial statements
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ACQUISITION AND PRODUCTION COSTS

1 JAN 2014
€ ‚000

ADDITIONS  
€ ‚000

DISPOSALS
€ ‚000

DISPOSALS TO 
REPORTING 

ENTITY 
€ ‚000

CURRENCY 
RESERvES 

€ ‚000
31 DEC 2014

€ ‚000

50,324 1,629 1,204 5,267 0 45,482

24,094 8,672 3,558 4,106 0 25,102

142,250 0 0 17,244 0 125,006

216,668 10,301 4,762 26,617 0 195,590

7 0 7 0 0 0

8,077 1,687 672 757 -4 8,331

8,084 1,687 679 757 -4 8,331

56 0 0 0 0 56

483 0 0 0 0 483

1,091 600 203 119 0 1,369

1,630 600 203 119 0 1,908

AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION AND WRITE-DOWNS

1 JAN 2014
€ ‚000

ADDITIONS 1)

AMORTISA-
TION AND 

 DEPRECIATION 
€ ‚000

ADDITIONS 1)

WRITE-DOWNS 
€ ‚000

DISPOSALS
AMORTISA-

TION AND 
 DEPRECIATION

€ ‚000

DISPOSALS
TO REPORTIMG 

ENTITY 
€ ‚000

CURRENCY 
RESERvES

€ ‚000
31 DEC 2014

€ ‚000

12,888 3,689 3,815 1,144 5,259 0 13,989

11,269 4,125 56 3,557 1,703 0 10,190

7,868 0 11,086 0 17,244 0 1,710

32,025 7,814 14,957 4,701 24,206 0 25,889

1 0 0 1 0 0 0

4,226 1,420 218 665 711 -2 4,486

4,227 1,420 218 666 711 -2 4,486

 

25 0 0 0 0 0 25

24 0 0 0 0 0 24

19 0 0 0 0 0 19

68 0 0 0 0 0 68

Note

1)  Includes EUR 2,791 thousand for amortisation and depreciation and € 14,901 thousand for write-downs on intangible assets.  

It also includes € 218 thousand for depreciation on property, plant and equipment from discontinued operations. 
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T r av e l
1 Ja N -  3 1  D eC

2 0 15
€ ‚000

2 0 14
€ ‚000 1)

External revenue 104,217 99,820

Inter-company revenue 7,968 3,365

112,185 103,185

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (eBITDa) 11,543 23,741

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses  
on tangible and intangible assets 15,969 5,829

SegmeNT earNINgS Before INTereST aND TaxeS (eBIT) -4,426 17,912

external revenue by company location

thereof in Switzerland 

thereof in the Netherlands 

thereof in other countries 

Non-current assets 

thereof in Switzerland 

thereof in the Netherlands 

thereof in other countries 

CONSOLIDATED SEGMENT REPORT
for the period 1 January to 31 december
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H o l D I N g / o T H e r
1 Ja N -  3 1  D eC

Co N S o l I DaT e D 
1  Ja N -  3 1  D eC

g r o U P
1 Ja N -  3 1  D eC

2 0 15
€ ‚000

2 0 14
€ ‚000 1)

2 0 15
€ ‚000

2 0 14
€ ‚000

2 0 15
€ ‚000

2 0 14
€ ‚000

180 320 0 0 104,397 100,140

296 299 -8,264 -3,664 0 0

476 619 -8,264 -3,664 104,397 100,140

-9,930 -4,830 0 0 1,613 18,911

173 182 0 0 16,142 6,011

-10,103 -5,012 0 0 -14,529 12,900

N aT I o N a l 
1  Ja N -  3 1  D eC

I N T e r N aT I o N a l
1 Ja N -  3 1  D eC

g r o U P
1 Ja N -  3 1  D eC

2 0 15
€ ‚000

2 0 14
€ ‚000 1)

2 0 15
€ ‚000

2 0 14
€ ‚000 1)

2 0 15
€ ‚000

2 0 14
€ ‚000 1)

402 320 103,995 99,820 104,397 100.140

91,445 84,968 91,445 84.968

12,461 14,850 12,461 14.850

89 2 89 2

1,011 36,676 129,434 137,738 130,445 174.414

84,155 85,016 84,155 85.016

45,221 52,672 45,221 52.672

58 50 58 50

Note

1) Adjusted for the effects resulting from application of IFRS 5. Explanation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (9.2) 
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 TOMORROW  FOCUS  AG, MUniCh, GeRMAny
nOTeS TO The COnSOlidATed FinAnCiAl 
STATeMenTS FOR The FinAnCiAl yeAR 2015

1. GeneRAl diSClOSUReS

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG (also referred to below as 
‘TOMORROW FOCUS’, ‘TFAG’ or ‘the company’), a 
joint stock corporation under German law with its 
registered office in Munich, Germany, is the parent 
company of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group, an Inter-
net group with operations in Central Europe. Over the 
course of financial 2015, as part of a strategy of rea-
lignment towards the business activities of the Travel 
segment,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold all its operat-
ing companies outside the Travel segment, with the 
exception of MeteoVista and organize.me. The brands 
that make up the Travel segment occupy leading posi-
tions in their respective markets. 

The company is listed in the Prime Standard seg-
ment of Deutsche Börse AG and a total of 58,313,628 
shares (ISIN: DE0005495329; stock exchange symbol: 
TFA) were admitted to trading on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange (Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse, FWG) on the 
reporting date. The shares are no-par value bearer 
shares, each representing EUR 1 of the company’s 
share capital.

TFAG can be contacted at the following addresses:

Visitors’ address:  Postal address:
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG
Neumarkter Strasse 61 P.O. Box 81 01 64
81673 Munich 81901 Munich
Germany Germany

The companies of the TFAG Group are mentioned in 
the notes as follows: 
•  TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH, Munich, 

Germany (‘TFP’) 
 •  TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH, Munich, 

 Germany (‘TF News+’)
 •  TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH, Munich, 

Germany (‘TF Media’)
 •  TOMORROW FOCUS Content & Service GmbH, 

Munich, Germany (‘HuffPo’)
 •  TF Digital GmbH, Munich, Germany (‘TFD’)
 •  HolidayCheck AG, Bottighofen, Switzerland (‘HC’)
 •  EliteMedianet GmbH, Hamburg, Germany (‘EP’)

 •  jameda GmbH, Munich, Germany (‘jameda’)
 •  Tomorrow Travel B.V., Zeist, Netherlands 

(‘Tomorrow Travel’)
 •  WebAssets B.V., Zeist, Netherlands (‘WebAssets’)
 •  RPC Voyages SAS, Paris, France (‘RPC’)
 •  organize.me GmbH, Munich, Germany (‘o.me’)
 •  Tomorrow Travel Solutions GmbH, Munich, 

Germany (‘TTS GmbH’)
 •  MeteoVista B.V., Zeist, Netherlands (‘MeteoVista’) 

2. PRePARATiOn OF The AnnUAl 
RePORT – ACCOUnTinG bASiS And 
STAndARdS

The consolidated financial statements of TFAG are 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as applicable in the Euro-
pean Union, and also according to the supplementary 
rules set out in section 315a paragraph 1 of the Ger-
man Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB).

The consolidated financial statements of TFAG have 
been prepared on a going concern basis.

With the exception of certain financial instruments 
recognised at fair value, the consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared on the basis of histori-
cal cost. 

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG has prepared a statement of 
income based on the nature of expense method.

The company’s reporting currency is the euro. Numeri-
cal disclosures are generally made in EUR thousand (or 
EUR ‘000). 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on 
the basis of the single-entity financial statements as at 
31 December 2015 of those companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements.

All International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
that were mandatory and endorsed by the EU as at 
31 December 2015 were applied. This also includes 
the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the 
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interpretations issued by the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the 
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).

2.1. Effect of new or revised standards
The companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements all apply the same accounting and valuation 
policies. There has generally been no change from the 
accounting and valuation policies applied in TFAG’s 
consolidated financial statements for 2014. 

In addition, the Group has applied the following new or 
revised standards that were mandatory for the financial 
year commencing on 1 January 2015:

• IFRIC 21, Levies
•  Annual improvements to International Reporting 

Standards (2011-2013 cycle)

IFRIC 21 Levies was published by the IASB in May 
2013 and contains a series of rules on the accounting 
treatment of payment obligations to public authorities 
that do not constitute obligations for the purposes of 
IAS 12 Income Taxes. With regard to levies of this kind, 
the interpretation clarifies how and in particular when 
provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
should be treated as balance sheet liabilities in ac-
cordance with IAS 37. The interpretation was adopted 
into European Union legislation on 14 June 2014 and 
became mandatory for financial years beginning on or 
after 17 June 2014.

In December 2013 the IASB published a number of 
changes resulting from the 2011-2013 cycle of its 
annual improvements project. These changes provide 
clarification of four standards: IFRS 1 First-time 
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards, IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IFRS 13 Fair 
Value Measurement and IAS 40 Investment Proper-
ty. The changes were adopted into European Union 
legislation on 19 December 2014 and must be applied 
(in derogation of the IASB’s mandatory first-time 
application date of 1 July 2014) by all companies in 
the European Union whose financial statements are 
drawn up under IFRS rules for reporting periods be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2015. Earlier adoption 

was admissible.
The changes had no significant impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements of TFAG.

2.2. New or revised standards and  
interpretations not applied
The IASB has adopted the following new or revised 
standards that are relevant in principle to TFAG from 
our current perspective. However, as these standards 
are not yet mandatory or have not yet been formally 
endorsed by the European Union, they have not been 
applied to the consolidated financial statements as at 
31 December 2015. New standards or amendments to 
existing standards must be applied to financial years 
that begin on or after the standards take effect. TFAG 
does not generally apply standards before they become 
mandatory even though certain standards provide for 
this option. See table on the next page.
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2.3 IAS 8 disclosures

Change to procedure for recognising intragroup 
transactions between continuing and discontinued 
operations
Intragroup transactions with discontinued operations 
were previously eliminated by the company on the 
basis of an economic perspective. In terms of pres-
entation, no adjustment was made compared with 
the consolidated Group figures in cases where trade 
relationships with discontinued operations or with 
third parties were ended in respect of future periods. 
If trade relationships between continuing and discon-
tinued operations were maintained after disposal, the 
situation was presented on a pre-consolidation basis 
(gross presentation). 

The International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) published an agenda decision on 
the presentation of intragroup transactions with dis-
continued operations on 12 January 2016. According to 
this agenda decision, neither IFRS 5 nor IAS 1 contains 

rules that take precedence over the rules on consoli-
dated financial statements in IFRS 10. It specifies that 
two procedures are admissible for the presentation 
of intragroup transactions between continuing and 
discontinued operations:

Procedure 1 
Eliminate the intragroup transactions in accordance 
with IFRS 10.B86(c) without adjustments.

Procedure 2 
Eliminate the intragroup transactions taking account 
of adjustments in order to show the impact of the 
transactions on the continuing operation after disposal 
of the discontinued operation in accordance with IFRS 
5.30 (net presentation).

In the year under review, intragroup transactions with-
in the TFAG Group were eliminated using the second 
of these two procedures. The retrospective adjustment 
had no impact on earnings from discontinued opera-
tions. Only the presentation of the IFRS 5 disclosures 

non-applied new / or revised standards and interpretations of iasB and ifriC

1) Date first applicable in EU

APPLICAbLE 
FRom 1)

EARLy 
 AdoPtIoN

ENdoRSEd 
by EU

Annual Improvements to International Reporting Standards (2010-2012 cycle) 1 February 2015 No Yes

Amendment to IAS 19 Employee Benefits 1 July 2015 No Yes

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IFRS 10, 12; IAS 28 Applying the Consolidation Exception 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets  
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IAS 1 Notes to the Financial Statements 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable  
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2016 No No

Annual Improvements to International Reporting Standards (2012-2014 cycle) 1 January 2016 No No

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 No No

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 No No
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in the notes to the financial statements for 2014 for 
discontinued B2B and French travel market operations 
is now consolidated.

For an explanation of intragroup transactions between 
continuing and discontinued operations see section 6 
‘Accounting and valuation principles’.

3. PRinCiPleS OF COnSOlidATiOn

The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
annual accounts of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG and its 
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, which is the 
balance sheet date for all Group entities. Subsidiaries 
are companies that are controlled by  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG, i.e. if the company is exposed to risk, or 
has rights to variable returns, from its involvement 
with the long-term equity investment, and the Group is 
in a position to use its power over the equity invest-
ment to affect the returns of the latter.

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG re-evaluates whether or not it 
controls a long-term equity investment whenever facts 
and circumstances indicate that one or more of the 
above control criteria has changed.

The separate financial statements of the subsidiaries 
are prepared on the basis of uniform accounting and 
valuation policies at the same balance sheet date as the 
parent company. 

All intra-group balances, transactions, revenue, 
expenses, profits and losses from intra-group trans-
actions contained in the carrying amount of assets are 
eliminated in full.

A list of all the subsidiaries of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
can be found in section 9.1 ‘Composition of the Group’.

business combinations
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of 
acquisition, i.e. from the time when the TFAG Group 
gains control. Subsidiaries are no longer included in 
the consolidated financial statements as soon as the 
parent company surrenders control.

Newly acquired Group companies are recognised 
using the acquisition method of accounting. This 
means that the costs of the business combination are 
distributed over the acquired, identifiable assets and 
the acquired identifiable liabilities and contingent 

liabilities according to their fair values on the date of 
acquisition. Goodwill is created in cases where the 
costs of the long-term equity investment exceed the 
Group’s share in the calculated equity of the company 
in question. This goodwill is checked for impairment 
at regular intervals on the balance sheet date and 
whenever there are indications that a Group company’s 
value may have fallen. Where necessary, the value of 
goodwill is written down by means of impairment. 

If the Group loses control or significant influence 
over an entity, the remaining interest is remeasured at 
fair value and the resulting difference recognised as a 
profit or loss. The fair value is that calculated on first 
recognition. In addition, all amounts relating to that en-
tity and shown under other comprehensive income are 
accounted for using the same rules that would apply 
if the parent company had sold the associated assets 
and liabilities directly. This means that any profit or 
loss previously recognised under other comprehensive 
income is transferred from equity to the statement of 
income.

A discontinued operation is part of the Group’s busi-
ness which contains operations and cash flows that can 
be clearly set apart from the rest of the Group, which 
has been sold or identified for sale, and which:

•  constitutes a separate, significant line of business or 
geographical business area;

•  forms part of a single, agreed plan to dispose of a 
separate, significant line of business or 

•  geographical business area; or
•  constitutes a subsidiary that was acquired with the 

sole purpose of selling it on.

Any such business unit is classed as a discontinued 
operation when it is sold or earlier once it meets the 
criteria for treatment as ‘held for sale’.

Whenever a business unit is classed as a discontinued 
operation, the statement of comprehensive income for 
the reference year is adjusted and the results shown 
as though the business unit had been discontinued 
at the beginning of that reference year. For details of 
the procedure for recognising intragroup transactions 
between continuing and discontinued operations see 
section 6 ‘Accounting and valuation principles’.
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4. SeGMenT RePORTinG

Business segment reporting is laid out in such a way as 
to conform to the method of in-house reporting to the 
principal decision-making body. The principal deci-
sion-making body is responsible for decisions on the 
allocation of resources to business segments and for 
the evaluation of their profitability. The Management 
Board of TFAG constitutes the principal decision-mak-
ing body.

In 2015 the TFAG Group was made up  
of the following segments: 
 •  Travel
 •  Holding/Other

In 2014 the TFAG Group was made up  
of the following segments:
 •  Travel
 •  Publishing
 •  Subscription
 •  Holding/Other

5. RePORTinG CURRenCy And 
CURRenCy TRAnSlATiOn

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in 
euros (EUR), the Group’s functional currency and pres-
entation currency. Each entity within the Group deter-
mines its own functional currency. The items included 
in the financial statements of the entity in question are 
measured in this functional currency. Transactions in 
a currency other than the euro are initially translated 
between the functional currency and the other curren-
cy at the spot rate valid on the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than 
the euro are translated into the functional currency on 
the reporting date. All currency differences are recog-
nised in the statement of income. Non-monetary items 
that are measured at cost in a currency other than the 
euro are translated at the rate applicable on the date 
of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at 
their fair value in a currency other than the euro are 
translated at the rate applicable at the time that the fair 
value was calculated. 

In the financial year 2015, with the exception of Hol-
idayCheck Polska, whose functional currency is the 
zloty (PLN), all entities within the Group adopted the 
euro (EUR) as their functional currency.

The assets and liabilities of all Group entities with a 
functional currency other than the euro are translated 
into euros on the balance sheet date for consolidation 
purposes. Income and expenditure are translated for 
each statement of income at the average exchange 
rate. All translation differences are recognised as a 
separate item in equity under other reserves.

Any goodwill created through the acquisition of a 
foreign entity and any adjustments to the fair values 
of the identifiable assets and liabilities are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated 
on the balance sheet date. Any resulting translation dif-
ferences are shown in the foreign currency translation 
reserve. On disposal of this foreign entity, any corre-
sponding amount in the foreign currency translation 
reserve is transferred to the statement of income.
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6. ACCOUnTinG And  
vAlUATiOn PRinCiPleS 

The companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements all apply the same accounting and valua-
tion principles. The following section describes the 

main accounting and valuation principles applied in 
the preparation of these consolidated financial state-
ments.

aCCounting and valuation prinCiples 

bALANCE ShEEt ItEmS VALUAtIoN bASIS

ASSEtS

Cash and cash equivalents Nominal value

Financial investments Fair value/Amortised cost

Trade receivables Fair value/Amortised cost

Inventories Lower of acquisition/production cost and net realisable value

Assets held for sale Lower of carrying value and fair value less selling costs

Property, plant and equipment (Amortised) acquisition/production cost  

Goodwill Impairment-only approach

Intangible assets (excluding goodwill):

   with specified useful life Amortised acquisition/production cost

   with unspecified useful life Impairment-only approach

Other assets (current and non-current):

Other financial assets:

   Loans and receivables Fair value/Amortised cost

   Available for sale Fair value not recognised in income

   Valuation based on fair value recognised in income Fair value recognised in income

Other assets (Amortised) acquisition cost

LIAbILItIES  

Trade payables Fair value/Amortised cost

Financial liabilities Fair value/Amortised cost

Provisions

   Pensions Projected unit credit method

   Other provisions Fulfilment amount

Other liabilities:

Other financial liabilities (current and non-current):

   Valuation based on fair value recognised in income Fair value recognised in income

   Designated hedging instruments Fair value not recognised in income

   Other financial liabilities Fair value/Amortised cost

Other liabilities Fair value/Amortised cost
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Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment (tangible assets) are 
recognised at the cost of acquisition less accumulated 
depreciation. The cost figure includes all costs directly 
attributable to the purchase together with the cost of 
borrowed funds (providing the recognition criteria are 
met).

Throughout the Group, the depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment is based on the following useful 
lives for important assets:

Property, plant and equipment items are written down 
according to the straight-line method.

The cost of maintenance is treated as expense for the 
period.

Profits and losses on the disposal of property, plant 
and equipment are shown in the consolidated state-
ment of income under other income or other expenses. 

Intangible assets
The two main items that make up the Group’s intan-
gible assets are goodwill and trade marks from the 
acquisition of fully consolidated subsidiaries.

Intangible assets acquired from third parties in re-
turn for payment are recognised at cost. Where there 
is a definite normal useful life, this figure is reduced by 
amortisation according to the straight-line method over 
the intangible assets’ normal useful lives. They are rec-
ognised only if it is sufficiently probable that a future 
benefit will thus accrue to the enterprise and the acqui-
sition costs of the asset can be reliably determined.

The normal useful life of an asset is generally estimat-
ed taking account of the following criteria: 

 •  anticipated use of the asset by the enterprise; 

 •  typical product life cycle and public information 
concerning the estimated useful lives of comparable 
assets; 

 •  technical, technological and other types of obsoles-
cence;

 •  stability of the sector in which the asset is em-
ployed. 

Self-generated intangible assets are recognised to the 
extent of the directly attributable development costs 
if all the conditions set out in IAS 38.57 have been 
fulfilled. The capitalisation of the costs ends when the 
product has been completed and has been generally 
released. 

According to IAS 38.57, the following six requirements 
need to be met in order for development costs to be 
capitalised; in the following cases they have been met 
in full: 

1.  technical feasibility of the completion of the asset so 
that it is available for internal use and/or sale;

2.  the intention to complete the intangible asset and to 
either use or sell it;

3.  the ability to either use or to sell the intangible asset;
4.  evidence of presumable future economic benefits; 
5.  the availability of adequate technical, financial and 

other resources to complete the development and 
the ability to either use or to sell the intangible 
asset; and 

6.  the ability to establish a reliable measure of the 
expenditure attributable to the company during the 
development of the asset. 

In accordance with SIC-32, relaunches were not cap-
italised on producing the website if these were only 
updates of a pre-existing website. 

Expenses for general development that do not meet the 
above criteria are recognised immediately as expense 
in accordance with IAS 38. 

The normal useful life of the asset also forms the basis 
for straight-line amortisation of both purchased and 
internally generated intangible assets, starting from 
the time of completion and the market readiness of the 
internally generated intangible assets. 

Throughout the Group, the following useful lives form 
the basis of amortisation for important intangible 
assets. Intangible assets acquired from third parties in 
return for payment and assets that are internally gen-
erated are amortised over the same periods.

depreCiation of property,  
plant and equipment

IT hardware 3 years

Lines, technical installations 8 years

Furnishings 10 years

Technical devices 4 to 5 years
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Brands acquired as a result of business combinations 
are not amortised according to a planned schedule as 
these are Internet brands whose rights are in the full 
ownership of the company. They are tested for impair-
ment every year. In this context, ‘in the full ownership 
of the company’ means that the company can directly 
influence the brand’s development by taking targeted 
measures. As it is assumed that the Internet domains 
depend on the brand names, there is no regular amor-
tisation in this case either.

Impairment losses on intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment (tangible assets)
The amortisation or depreciation period and the meth-
od of amortisation or depreciation for intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment (tangible assets) 
are reviewed at the end of each financial year. If the 
expected useful life of an asset significantly deviates 
from prior estimates, the amortisation or depreciation 
period is adjusted accordingly. In the case of material 
changes during the course of amortisation or deprecia-
tion, a suitable amortisation or depreciation method is 
selected.

All intangible assets and all items of property, plant 
and equipment (tangible assets) are tested for impair-
ment at the end of each financial year if the circum-
stances or changes in the circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of the assets may possibly be 
irrecoverable. If the recoverable amount of the asset is 
lower than the carrying amount, the impairment loss 
is recognised in the statement of income. The recover-
able amount is the higher of the net selling price and 
the value in use of the asset. The net selling price is 
the recoverable amount from the sale of an asset at fair 
value less selling costs. The value in use is the present 
value of the estimated future cash flow to be expected 
from the continued use of an asset and its disposal at 
the end of its useful life. The recoverable amount is 

determined separately for each asset or, if this is not 
possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the as-
set belongs. All goodwill and all intangible assets with 
an unspecified useful life and intangible assets that are 
not yet in use are not subject to regular amortisation. 
They are tested for impairment on the balance sheet 
date or whenever there are particular grounds for 
doing so, in order to determine whether they have kept 
their value.

TFAG generally calculates the recoverable amount us-
ing valuation methods based on discounted cash flows. 
These discounted cash flows are based on five-year 
forecasts, which in turn derive from financial plans 
approved by the management. The cash flow forecasts 
take into account past experience and are based on 
the management’s best estimate of future trends and 
on other externally sourced information. Cash flows 
beyond the planning period are extrapolated using 
individual growth rates that do not however exceed in-
flation forecasts for the business units in question. The 
most important assumptions on which the value-in-use 
calculation is based are future cash flow assumptions, 
estimated growth rates, weighted average costs of 
capital (WACC) and tax rates. These assumptions and 
the underlying methodology may have a considerable 
impact on the corresponding valuations.

If necessary, impairment checks are not performed 
at the level of the individual asset but at the level of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset has been 
allocated. 

In such cases, the goodwill acquired following a busi-
ness combination is allocated to the cash-generating 
unit or the group of cash-generating units that are re-
garded as most likely to benefit from synergies created 
by the business combination.

Financial investments are valued at the costs of acqui-
sition. If there are grounds to believe that a financial 
investment shown in the balance sheet at the cost of 
acquisition may need to be impaired, an impairment 
test is conducted. Any impairment is then recognised 
in profit or loss.

amortisation of 
intangiBle assets

Goodwill no amortisation

Internet domains no amortisation

Trade mark rights/ 
brand names

5 to 20 years or no 
amortisation

Software / websites 3 to 15 years

Customer bases 3, 5 or 10 years
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Financial instruments
The accounting treatment and valuation of financial 
assets and liabilities (financial instruments) are based 
on the rules laid out in IAS 39.

They are allocated by management to one of the fol-
lowing classes:

 •  loans granted by the company and receivables;
 •  financial instruments measured at fair value and 

recognised in profit or loss;
 •  financial instruments measured at fair value but not 

recognised in profit or loss;
 •  financial assets being held to maturity;
 •  borrowings by the company and financial liabilities.

On initial recognition of financial instruments these are 
measured at cost, corresponding to the fair value of 
the consideration given on acquiring them. Transaction 
costs are included in as far as the financial instrument 
is not recognised at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets measured at fair value and recogni-
sed in profit or loss refers to financial assets held for 
trading purposes and financial assets that were classed 
on initial recognition as being measured at fair value 
and recognised in profit or loss. Financial assets are 
classed as held for trading purposes if they have been 
acquired with the intention of selling them in the near 
future.

Financial instruments measured at fair value and rec-
ognised in profit or loss are recognised at their value 
on the settlement date, taking account of fluctuations 
in value between the trade date and the settlement 
date. They are measured at their market values on the 
balance sheet date. The resulting income or expense is 
immediately recognised in the statement of income.

Financial instruments such as cash and cash equiva-
lents, receivables and payables are measured at their 
nominal value. Because of their maturity, this is also 
their fair value. 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
liabilities or assets with fixed or identifiable payments 
that are not listed on an active market. After initial 
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method less any impairment. 
If they are derecognised or written down or their value 
reduced by amortisation, any profits and losses are 
recognised in profit and loss in the same period.

Valuation adjustments are made in response to iden-
tifiable risks of default in the case of loans and receiv-
ables. The value of available-for-sale financial assets 
is adjusted as soon as there is objective information 
pointing to a permanent loss of value.

Financial instruments are derecognised when the 
underlying rights and obligations expire or are trans-
ferred.

As a general rule, financial assets and financial liabili-
ties are not netted in the financial statements. They are 
only netted if there is at the time a legally enforceable 
right to offset the amounts in question and the Group 
intends to arrange for settlement on a net basis.

hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such 
as currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps 
as a hedge against interest rate and currency fluctua-
tion risks. These derivative financial instruments are 
recognised at fair value when the contract is signed 
and remeasured at fair value in subsequent periods. 

The Group makes regular use of derivatives to secure 
future cash flows from pending or planned transactions 
(cash flow hedges).

When the hedge is first established, both the hedging 
relationship and the Group’s risk management objec-
tives and strategies in respect of the hedge are for-
mally defined and documented. The documentation is 
regularly assessed to determine whether it was indeed 
highly effective during the entire reporting period for 
which the hedging relationship was defined.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised as 
financial assets if the fair value of the derivative is posi-
tive and as liabilities if their fair value is negative.

Profits or losses from changes to the fair value of 
derivative financial instruments during the financial 
year that do not meet the criteria for recognition as 
hedging relationships are immediately shown in profit 
or loss together with the ineffective portion of an 
effective hedging instrument. The effective portion of 
changes in the market value of derivative instruments 
intended as cash flow hedges is shown in equity under 
other reserves (after taking account of deferred taxes). 
The amounts accrued in equity are recognised in the 
statement of income in the financial year in which the 
underlying transaction is considered in the statement 
of income. For further information, please see note 
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10.13 ‘Other reserves’.
 When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
cancelled or exercised without being replaced or rolled 
over into another hedging instrument, or if the criteria 
for recognition as a hedging relationship are no longer 
met, the amounts recognised in equity up to that point 
remain as a separate item in equity until such time as 
the anticipated transaction or fixed obligation occur or 
take effect.

Share-based payments 
All of the Group’s share-based payment plans are re-
muneration schemes with cash settlement. 

In the case of share-based payments with cash settle-
ment, the Group’s corresponding liability is recognised 
as an expense at its fair value when the beneficiary ful-
fils the relevant conditions. Until the liability is settled, 
its fair value is remeasured on every balance sheet date 
and any changes recognised in profit or loss.

At TFAG, share-based payments with cash settlement 
form part of a long-term incentive plan (LTIP) for 
senior staff and the Management Board. In accordance 
with IFRS 2, these payments are recognised as per-
sonnel costs and as a corresponding increase in other 
liabilities. See 10.15.  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG stock 
option plans.

If the criteria for exercising an entitlement under the 
LTIP are not met, there is no corresponding expense.

In addition to the long-term incentive plan for sen-
ior staff and the Management Board, a share-based 
payment programme is also in place for the managing 
director of a subsidiary. See 10.16. Stock options for a 
managing director at WebAssets B.V.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and other 
short-term, highly liquid financial assets with an orig-
inal time to maturity of no more than three months. 
On the balance sheet, current account overdrafts are 
shown as payables to banks under current financial 
liabilities.

other non-financial assets
Other non-financial assets are measured at amortised 
cost. Any risks associated with these assets are taken 
into account by means of valuation adjustments.

Equity
Subscribed capital is recognised in equity at nominal 

values. Transaction costs on the issue of new shares 
are deducted from the capital reserves. 

Provisions
Provisions are recognised at the amount that is neces-
sary, according to the best possible estimate, in order 
for the Group to be in a position to meet all current 
obligations, legal or de facto, at the balance sheet date. 
Future events that could have an effect on the amount 
needed to meet an obligation have to be taken into 
account in forming the provision in as far as they can 
be predicted with sufficient objective certainty. The 
amount recognised is that which seems most likely on 
a careful examination of the circumstances. Provisions 
are discounted in as far as they are material. In the 
case of discounting, the passage of time is reflected 
in the periodic increase in the carrying amount of a 
provision. This increase is recognised as an interest 
expense.

The pension provision is based on defined-benefit 
pension plans for the employees of HolidayCheck. 
The provisions recognised in the balance sheet for 
defined-benefit plans correspond to the present value 
of the defined-benefit obligation (DBO) at the balance 
sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets. The 
DBO is calculated annually by an independent actuarial 
expert using the projected unit credit method. Actu-
arial gains and losses are recognised for the period 
in which they are created, directly in equity, in other 
comprehensive income. With the exception of inter-
est income and expenses, which are reported under 
the financial result, pension costs are recognised as 
personnel costs.

Current and deferred income tax
Current tax assets and current tax liabilities for the 
current period and former periods are measured at 
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the tax authorities on the basis of the tax rates and tax 
laws applicable on the balance sheet date. Manage-
ment regularly checks tax declarations, especially with 
regard to matters that are open to interpretation, and 
establishes provisions where necessary on the basis of 
the amounts that past experience shows might have to 
be paid to the tax authorities.

deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are generally 
formed for all temporary differences between the 
amounts recognised for tax purposes and the amounts 
recognised according to IFRS approaches. This is done 
according to the liability method, which reflects the 
Group’s expectations at the balance sheet date. The 
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deferred tax assets also include unused tax credits 
resulting from the expected utilisation of existing tax 
loss carryforwards in subsequent years and whose 
realisation is sufficiently certain. Deferred taxes are 
determined on the basis of the tax rates that apply 
under current tax legislation in the individual countries 
at the time of realisation or the rates that are expect-
ed to apply when a deferred tax asset is realised or a 
deferred tax liability settled. Deferred taxes based on 
events that are recognised in other comprehensive in-
come or directly in equity are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is re-
viewed on each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer likely that sufficient taxable 
income will be available against which at least some of 
the deferred tax assets can be utilised. Deferred tax 
assets that are not recognised are reviewed on each 
balance sheet date and recognised to the extent that it 
has become likely that future taxable income will allow 
the deferred tax assets to be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are off-
set provided that there is a legal right to the netting of 
actual tax refund claims against actual tax liabilities and 
these relate to the income tax of the same taxpayer or 
taxable object, and are levied by the same tax authority.

other liabilities and other financial liabilities
other liabilities are recognised if it is expected that 
there will be an outflow of resources that embody an eco-
nomic benefit in order to settle a liability and this amount 
can be reliably determined. Liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

other financial liabilities are not recognised as liabil-
ities in the consolidated financial statements until it is 
probable that they will materialise. They are disclosed 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Recognition of income and expenses
Revenue is recognised in application of IAS 18. 
Revenue is shown less value-added tax (VAT), income 
deductions and credits, after the elimination of intra-
group sales. 

Commission revenue generated as an online travel 
agency from package holidays and hotel bookings is 
realised once the contractual obligation to the tour 
operator has been fulfilled. 

Advertising revenue is recognised in profit in the 

month in which the advertisement is placed.

Revenue for services is recognised when the service 
has been provided. Services are also provided within 
the framework of offsetting transactions. Unless these 
are of the same type, in which case they have to be 
eliminated in accordance with SIC-31, services provid-
ed are shown gross in revenue and services received in 
the corresponding expense items. 

Interest income is calculated using the effective inter-
est rate method.

Royalties from licences and rental income are allocat-
ed on a pro rata basis in accordance with the relevant 
contractual period.

Leasing payments within the framework of an operat-
ing lease are recognised as expense in the statement of 
income over the period of the lease using the straight-
line method, unless a different systematic basis corre-
sponds to the duration of the benefit for the company 
as lessee. A lease is classified as an operating lease if 
the leasing agreement, in economic terms, does not 
essentially transfer all risks, rewards and opportunities 
associated with ownership to the company.

Procedure for recognising intragroup transactions 
between continuing and discontinued operations
In accordance with IFRS 5.30, an entity must present 
and disclose information that enables users of the 
financial statements to evaluate the financial effects of 
discontinued operations and disposals of non-current 
assets. However, IFRS 5 does not contain any rules stip-
ulating how intragroup transactions between continu-
ing and discontinued operations are to be eliminated.

According to the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), neither IFRS 5 nor 
IAS 1 contains rules that take precedence over the 
rules on consolidated financial statements in IFRS 10.

In an agenda decision dated 12 January 2016, IFRIC 
specified that two procedures are admissible for the 
presentation of intragroup transactions between con-
tinuing and discontinued operations:

Procedure 1 
Eliminate the intragroup transactions in accordance 
with IFRS 10.B86(c) without adjustments.

Procedure 2 
Eliminate the intragroup transactions with appropriate 

108
Tomorrow focus AG 2015
Notes to the consolidated financial statements



adjustments to show the impact of the transactions on 
the continuing operation after disposal of the discon-
tinued operation in accordance with IFRS 5.30 (net 
presentation).

Within the TFAG Group, intragroup transactions have 
been consistently eliminated on the basis of an eco-
nomic perspective (procedure 2).

Intragroup transactions with companies in the former 
Subscription segment were eliminated in full, since 
there is no expectation of continued trade with those 
companies in future periods.

Trade between the TFAG Group and the companies 
of the former Publishing segment will be maintained 
following their disposal. Intragroup transactions were 
eliminated in the discontinued operation. As such, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and 
the notes to the financial statements reflect the situa-
tion as it would have been after disposal of the discon-
tinued operation.

With regard to comparable IFRS 5 situations in 2014 
related to the discontinued operations ‘French travel 
market’ and ‘B2B’, the same procedure was applied 
to the consolidation of such trading relations, and the 
previous year’s figures were adjusted in the notes to 
the financial statements.

7. deTeRMininG FAiR vAlUe

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured 
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. Fair value 
is the price that would be paid on the measurement 
date for the sale of an asset or transfer of a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants re-
gardless of whether the price can be directly observed 
or has been estimated using a valuation method. 

The Group has established a framework for deter-
mining fair value. TFAG’s financial team establishes 
appropriate valuation methods and input parameters 
for the measurement of fair value at level three of the 
hierarchy.

Wherever possible, TFAG uses observable market 
data in order to determine the fair value of assets 
and liabilities. If such level 1 inputs are not available, 
TFAG engages qualified external experts to carry out 
a valuation. The Valuation Committee works closely 
with these external experts to establish appropriate 

valuation procedures and inputs. Based on the quarter-
ly financial reports of TFAG, the Chief Financial Officer 
notifies the Audit Committee every three months of the 
results of the work of the Valuation Committee in order 
to explain the reasons for any fluctuations in the fair 
value of assets and liabilities.

Details of the valuation methods and inputs used to 
determine the fair value of various assets and liabilities 
are provided in the relevant sections of this report.

When determining the fair value of an asset or liability, 
the Group considers certain characteristics of that as-
set or liability (e.g. the condition and location of an as-
set or any restrictions on sale or use) in all cases where 
market participants would also take them into account 
on the valuation date when determining a price for the 
acquisition of an asset or the transfer of a liability. As a 
general rule, in these consolidated financial statements 
fair value is calculated on this basis for valuation and/
or disclosure purposes. Exceptions are shown below: 
 •  share-based payments subject to IFRS 2 Share-

based Payments;
 •  leases within the scope of IAS 17 Leases;
 •  valuation benchmarks similar to but not the same as 

fair value, e.g. net realisable value in IAS 2 Invento-
ries or utility value in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. 

Fair value cannot always be derived from a market 
price. In many cases it has to be calculated on the basis 
of different valuation parameters. Depending on the 
availability of observable parameters and the impor-
tance of those parameters in determining overall fair 
value, fair value is classified as level 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the following criteria: 
 •  level 1 inputs are quoted (unadjusted) prices in ac-

tive markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

 •  level 2 inputs are inputs other than the quoted mar-
ket prices included within level 1 that are directly 
observable for the asset or liability or that can be 
derived indirectly from other prices;

 •  level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset 
or liability.
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8. eSTiMATeS, ASSUMPTiOnS  
And jUdGMenTS

In order to prepare the consolidated financial state-
ments, the Management Board has to make the best 
possible estimates and assumptions on the basis of 
the information currently at its disposal. These may 
influence the recognised values of assets and liabilities 
and disclosures concerning contingent assets and lia-
bilities on the balance sheet date, and also the income 
and expenses recognised for the reporting period. The 
actual results occurring at a later date may differ from 
these estimates. 

There follows an explanation of the most important 
assumptions in relation to the future and the main 
sources of uncertainty at the balance sheet date giving 
rise to the risk of material adjustments being made to 
the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities dur-
ing the coming financial year:

Impairment of goodwill and of intangible assets with 
unspecified useful lives
TFAG makes an impairment test in relation to goodwill 
at least once a year or whenever there are any indi-
cations that such impairment may have taken place. 
Goodwill impairment tests are conducted at the level 
of the cash-generating units. This is the lowest level 
at which goodwill is monitored for internal corporate 
management purposes. In each case, the cash-gen-
erating unit is defined as the corresponding Group 
company.

The criteria and underlying methods used when 
conducting an impairment test can have a significant 
influence on the resulting values and on the extent of 
any impairment of intangible assets. Calculations of 
discounted cash flows are very much subject to plan-
ning assumptions that can be sensitive to change and 
therefore to impairment.

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying value of good-
will stood at EUR 100,182 thousand (31 December 
2014: EUR 123,296 thousand). Details of intangible 
assets and the assumptions on which impairment tests 
are based can be found in section 10.1. of these notes 
under the heading ‘Intangible assets’.

Loss carryforwards 
TFAG and its subsidiaries recognise deferred tax 
assets for tax loss carryforwards, in as far as it is suf-
ficiently certain that the loss carryforwards will be uti-
lised in tax planning. For tax planning purposes, TFAG 

and its subsidiaries have to make estimates of the tax 
results to be achieved in the future. As at 31 December 
2015 the deferred tax assets for loss carryforwards 
amounted to EUR 971 thousand (EUR 5,105 thousand 
in 2014) (see also section 10.17. ‘Deferred taxes’).

Provisions
TFAG recognises provisions at the amount necessary, 
according to the best possible estimates, to cover all 
legal or de facto liabilities that the Group has on the 
balance sheet date. Future events that could affect the 
amount needed to meet a liability are reflected in the 
size of the provision, providing they can be predicted 
with sufficient objective certainty. The amount rec-
ognised is that which is most likely on an objective 
assessment of the facts. In the case of large volumes 
(e.g. warranties), calculation is based on the anticipat-
ed figure. As at 31 December 2015, other provisions 
amounted to EUR 964 thousand (EUR 1,189 thousand 
in 2014) (see also section 10.18. ‘Other provisions’).

Share-based payments
Costs that arise from the granting of equity instru-
ments and from share-based payments to staff and 
members of the Management Board with cash settle-
ment are measured within the Group at the fair value of 
the equity instruments at the time they were granted. 
The most suitable valuation method has to be identi-
fied in order to estimate the fair value of share-based 
payments; the choice of method will depend on the 
conditions under which the entitlements were grant-
ed. When producing this estimate, the Group also has 
to determine suitable input parameters for the cho-
sen method (in particular the anticipated term of the 
option, volatility and dividend yield) and make corres-
ponding assumptions. The assumptions and methods 
applied when estimating the fair value of share-based 
payments are described in section 10.15. ‘ TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG employee stock option plans’. 
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9. diSClOSUReS RelATinG  
TO SUbSidiARieS
 
9.1. Composition of the Group 
Apart from the parent company  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG, which is based in Munich, Germany, the 
Group’s year-end financial statements include thirteen 
other fully consolidated companies in respect of which 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG directly or indirectly holds a 

majority of the voting rights and therefore control. As 
such, these consolidated financial statements include 
the single-entity financial statements of all the signifi-
cant subsidiaries over which  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
has legal and/or notional control.

As at 31 December 2015,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG held 
shares in the following entities:

sCope of Consolidation as at 31 deCemBer 2015

ComPANy 
PRINCIPAL PLACE
oF bUSINESS

ShARE-
hoLdING 

(in percent)

 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG Munich, Germany -

HolidayCheck AG Bottighofen, Switzerland 100.00

HolidayCheck Polska Sp. zo.o. 1) Warsaw, Poland 100.00

Tomorrow Travel Solutions GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

Tomorrow Travel B.V. Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

WebAssets B.V. 2) Zeist, Netherlands 98.00

Zoover Media B.V. 3)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

Zoover International B.V. 3)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

Zoover GmbH 3)   Cologne, Germany 100.00

Meteovista B.V. 3)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

SARL Zoover France 3)   Paris, France 100.00

Zoover International Holland Filiaal 3) 4)  Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

Zoover Internet Teknolojileri Tuzim Ticaret  Ltd. 3) 4) 5)  Kusadasi, Turkey 95.00

Zoover Italia SARL 3) 4) 5)  Monza, Italy 95.00

Zoover Travel B.V. 3) Zeist, Netherlands 100.00

TF Digital GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

organize.me GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

1) Indirect shareholding via  HolidayCheck AG
2) A minority shareholder has a 2 percent stake; a put/call option is in place for buying back the shares. 
3) Indirect shareholding via WebAssets B.V. 
4) Non-consolidated affiliated entity due to its minor importance 
5) Company in liquidation
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9.2. discontinued operations and sale of subsidiaries 

a) Sale of and withdrawal from publishing business
On 20 March 2015, as part of the Group’s realign-
ment process, which involves concentrating on digital 
transaction business models primarily in the field of 
travel,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG signed an agreement 
with Burda Digital GmbH on the sale of TOMORROW 
FOCUS Publishing GmbH. 

The transaction for the sale of the TOMORROW 
 FOCUS Publishing sub-Group (including its subsidiar-
ies TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH, TOMORROW 
FOCUS News+ GmbH, TOMORROW FOCUS Content & 

Services GmbH and AdAudience GmbH) was closed on 
30 April 2015. 

Following the sale,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG has now 
withdrawn from the Publishing segment’s publishing 
and advertising-based activities. This move affects the 
web-based operations of Focus Online, The Huffington 
Post Germany, Finanzen100 and NetMoms, as well as 
the digital marketing specialist TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media.

The TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing sub-group was 
deconsolidated on 30 April 2015 when  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG lost control as a result of the sale.

impaCt of deConsolidation of the puBlishing segment on the group 

30 APRIL 2015
€ ‚000

Intangible assets 6,626

Property, plant and equipment 546

Long-term equity investments 459

Trade receivables 5,545

Receivables from affiliated entities 36

Deferred tax assets 285

Other assets 679

Cash and cash equivalents 301

Receivables from TFAG resulting from cash-pooling agreement 3,061

disposal of assets from discontinued operations 17,538

Other provisons -5,410

Trade payables -407

Liabilities to affiliated entities -1,736

Deferred tax liabilities -875

Other liabilities -1,247

Liabilities related to disposal of assets from discontinued operations -9,675

NEt ASSEtS dISPoSEd oF 7,863

Cash consideration received 30,197

Disposal costs incurred from sale -258

CoNSIdERAtIoN RECEIVEd (NEt oF dISPoSAL CoStS) 29,939

dECoNSoLIdAtIoN PRoFIt FRom dISPoSAL oF SUbSIdIARIES 22,076

Disposal price settled in cash (net of disposal costs) 29,939

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of -301

NEt CASh INFLow FRom dISPoSAL 29,638
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The comprehensive income of EUR 21,428 thousand 
generated from the sale of the subsidiary is shown in 
the figure for consolidated net income/(loss) from dis-
continued operations. This total is made up of profit on 
disposal of EUR 22,076 thousand and minus EUR 648 
thousand from the resulting change to deferred tax 
assets on loss carryforwards at Group level.

b) withdrawal from subscription business
As part of the Group’s realignment process, the ac-
tivities of the Subscription segment were also made 
available for sale.

The IFRS 5 valuation made necessary following the 
classification of these Group companies as ‘held for 
sale’ led to a provisional impairment expense of EUR 
3,285 thousand, thus reducing the carrying values of 
individual non-current assets in the segment (impair-

ment of EUR 2,100 thousand in the value of goodwill at 
EP and of EUR 1,185 thousand in respect of software 
developed in-house at o.me).

Sale of Elitemedianet Gmbh
Under the terms of a sale agreement dated 8 June 
2015,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold EliteMedianet 
GmbH, which operates the online dating agency 
ElitePartner, to THMMS Holding GmbH, a subsidiary of 
the private equity fund Oakley Capital Private Equity II. 
The deal was formally and legally closed after approval 
by the anti-cartel authorities on 22 October 2015 and 
fulfilment of the closing terms and conditions on 3 
November 2015.

EliteMedianet GmbH was deconsolidated as follows 
when  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG lost control as a result 
of the sale.

impaCt of deConsolidation of ep on the group 

3 NoVEmbER 2015
€ ‚000

Intangible assets 24,547

Property, plant and equipment 86

Trade receivables 2,505

Receivables from affiliated entities 68

Other assets 500

Cash and cash equivalents 3,198

disposal of assets from discontinued operations 30,904

Other provisions -1,541

Trade payables -264

Liabilities to affiliated entities -716

Deferred tax liabilities -3,088

Other liabilities -3,743

Liabilities related to disposal of assets from discontinued operations -9,352

NEt ASSEtS dISPoSEd oF 21,552

Cash consideration received 15,916

Granting of a vendor loan 6,000

Subsequent purchase price receivable 139

Disposal costs incurred from sale -724

CoNSIdERAtIoN RECEIVEd (NEt oF dISPoSAL CoStS) 21,331

dECoNSoLIdAtIoN LoSS FRom dISPoSAL oF SUbSIdIARIES -221

Disposal price settled in cash (net of selling costs incurred) 15,392

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of -3,198

NEt CASh INFLow FRom dISPoSAL 12,194
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The total comprehensive income of minus EUR 3,177 
thousand generated from the sale of the subsidiary is 
shown in the 2015 figure for consolidated net income/
(loss) after taxes from discontinued operations. This 
total is made up of loss on disposal of minus EUR 221 
thousand and minus EUR 2,956 thousand from the 
resulting change to deferred tax assets on loss carry-
forwards at Group level.

Sale of jameda Gmbh
On 6 November 2015,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold 
jameda GmbH, which operates a physician rating por-
tal by the same name, to Burda Digital GmbH.

The closing terms and conditions for the deal were 
fulfilled on 31 December 2015. At the end of that day 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG transferred control of the 
company to the buyer. Accordingly, the company was 
deconsolidated as follows as at 31 December 2015 (see 
table below).

The total comprehensive income of EUR 42,791 
thousand generated from the sale of the subsidiary is 
shown in the 2015 figure for consolidated net income/
(loss) after taxes from discontinued operations. This 
figure corresponds to the total deconsolidation profit 
on disposal of the subsidiary.

impaCt of deConsolidation of jameda on the group 

31 dECEmbER 
2015

€ ‚000

Intangible assets 54

Property, plant and equipment 235

Trade receivables 0

Other assets 23

Deferred tax assets 5

Cash and cash equivalents 70

Receivables from TFAG resulting from cash-pooling agreement 3,332

disposal of assets from discontinued operations 3,719

Other provisions -552

Trade payables -103

Liabilities to affiliated entities -86

Deferred tax liabilities -177

Other liabilities -88

Deferred income -1,470

Liabilities related to disposal of assets from discontinued assets -2,476

NEt ASSEtS dISPoSEd oF 1,243

Cash consideration received 46,787

Subsequent purchase price receivable 26

Diposal costs incurred from sale -2,779

CoNSIdERAtIoN RECEIVEd (NEt oF dISPoSAL CoStS) 44,034

dECoNSoLIdAtIoN PRoFIt FRom dISPoSAL oF SUbSIdIARIES 42,791

Disposal price settled in cash 46,596

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of -70

NEt CASh INFLow FRom dISPoSAL 46,526
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c) withdrawal from the French travel market  
and b2b activities in 2014
The annual report of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG for the 
financial year 2014 contains detailed information on 
the Group’s withdrawal from the French travel mar-
ket and its B2B activities. These are included in the 
information and disclosures presented on account of 
the obligation to provide comparative figures for the 
previous year.

d) Subsidiaries held for sale
Following the disposal of various Subscription segment 
operations in 2015, organize.me GmbH remains availa-

ble for sale. A large proportion of the company’s assets 
were sold in January 2016.

As at 31 December 2015, in accordance with IFRS 5, 
the held-for-sale assets and associated liabilities of this 
subsidiary are shown separately in the balance sheet. 

In accordance with IFRS 5.40, the previous year’s fig-
ures as at 31 December 2015 have not been adjusted. 
The following table shows a breakdown of the held-for-
sale assets and associated liabilities as at 31 December 
2015:

held-for-sale assets and assoCiated liaBilities

31 dECEmbER 2015
€ ‚000

Intangible assets 927

Property, plant and equipment 9

Deferred taxes 0

Trade receivables 4

Receivables from affiliated entites 1

Other assets 0

Cash and cash equivalents 5

held-for-sale assets from discontinued operations 946

Other provisions 17

Trade payables 30

Liabilities to affiliated entities 9

Other non-current liabilities 42

Liabilities related to held-for-sale assets from discontinued operations 98

e) Impact on the consolidated financial statements
Given their importance to the earnings, asset and 
financial position of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, the 
above-mentioned subsidiaries and Group business 
units that have been sold or are held for sale constitute 
discontinued operations within the meaning of IFRS 5.

Owing to their classification as discontinued opera-

tions, the Publishing and Subscription segments have 
been wound up in the 2015 segment report. Their con-
tribution to earnings has been combined and shown 
separately as consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes 
from discontinued operations. The corresponding fig-
ures for the previous year have been adjusted accord-
ingly in the consolidated statement of income and in 
the segment report.
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net inCome from disContinued operations

 FoR thE PERIod 1 JANUARy to 31 dECEmbER 2015 PUbLIShING 
€ ‚000

 
SUbSCRIPtIoN

€ ‚000
totAL
€ ‚000

Revenue 10,400 28,717 39,117

Other income 681 765 1,446

Other own work capitalised 170 658 828

Expenses -11,094 -31,993 -43,087

operating result (EbIt) 157 -1,853 -1,696

Financial result -12 -91 -103

Attributable income tax expense -151 -425 -576

Income/(loss) after taxes -6 -2,369 -2,375

Profit generated from sale of discontinued operations 22,076 42,791 64,867

Attributable income tax expense -648 -2,956 -3,604

Net income from discontinued operations 21,422 37,466 58,888

Earnings per share (EUR) 0.37 0.64 1.01

In financial 2015, consolidated net income/(loss) from 
continuing operations (including other comprehensive 
income of EUR 872 thousand) stood at minus EUR 

15,520 thousand. Total consolidated net income from 
discontinued operations stood at EUR 58,888 thou-
sand.

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes from discontinued operations is shown in the following table:

net inCome /(loss) from disContinued operations

 FoR thE PERIod 1 JANUARy to 31 dECEmbER 2014

FRENCh 
tRAVEL 

mARkEt 1)

€ ‚000

 b2b 
ACtIVItIES 1)

€ ‚000
PUbLIShING 

€ ‚000

 
SUbSCRIPtIoN

€ ‚000
totAL
€ ‚000

Revenue 23,715 8,657 29,706 31,925 94,003

Other income 344 259 2,152 1,042 3,797

Other own work capitalised 375 0 666 899 1,940

Expenses -26,952 -8,044 -30,352 -31,498 -96,846

operating result (EbIt) -2,518 872 2,172 2,368 2,894

Financial result -317 -10 -21 -98 -446

Attributable income tax expense 19 -18 39 -696 -656

Income/(loss) after taxes -2,816 844 2,190 1,574 1,792

Effects resulting from discontinued  
operations -9,264 -2,690 0 0 -11,954

Attributable income tax expense -401 0 0 0 -401

Net income/(loss) from discontinued  
operations -12,481 -1,846 2,190 1,574 -10,563

Earnings per share (EUR) -0.21 -0.03 0.04 0.02 -0.18

1) Adjustment according to IAS 8, see note 2.3.
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In financial 2014, consolidated net income/(loss) from 
continuing operations (including other comprehensive 
income) stood at EUR 6,907 thousand. Total consoli-
dated net loss from discontinued operations stood at 
EUR 10,563 thousand. 

There is no change in the presentation of cash flows 
attributable to the operating, investing or financing ac-

tivities of discontinued operations. These are shown in 
the consolidated statement of cash flows for both 2015 
and the previous comparison year 2014. As required, 
cash flows from discontinued operations are also pre-
sented in detail in the notes to the financial statements. 

The following table contains a breakdown of cash flows 
from discontinued operations:

9.3. other changes

Sale of assets of tomorrow travel b.V.  
and Zoover travel b.V.
The assets of Tomorrow Travel B.V. and Zoover Travel 
B.V. were sold to B.V. Reisbureau under a sale agree-
ment dated 13 November 2015. The asset sale gene-
rated a loss on disposal of EUR 169 thousand. In this 

context, the goodwill of Tomorrow Travel B.V. was 
reduced by EUR 3,369 thousand. Deferred tax assets 
on loss carryforwards of EUR 183 thousand were 
derecognised.

Cash flows from disContinued operations

 FoR thE PERIod 1 JANUARy to 31 dECEmbER 2014

FRENCh 
tRAVEL 

mARkEt 1)

€ ‚000

 b2b 
ACtIVItIES 1)

€ ‚000
PUbLIShING 

€ ‚000

 
SUbSCRIPtIoN

€ ‚000
totAL
€ ‚000

Net cash flow from operating activites 1,046 1,375 67 4,953 7,441

Net cash flow from investing activities -4,007 -625 -1,311 -1,927 -7,870

Net cash flow from financing activities 2) 0 0 0 0 0

Net cash flow from  
discontinued operations -2,961 750 -1,244 3,026 -429

Cash flows from disContinued operations

 FoR thE PERIod 1 JANUARy to 31 dECEmbER 2015 PUbLIShING 
€ ‚000

 
SUbSCRIPtIoN

€ ‚000
totAL
€ ‚000

Net cash flow from operating activities 2,541 -1,997 544

Net cash flow from investing activities 29,288 58,378 87,666

Net cash flow from financing activities 1) -3,019 0 -3,019

Net cash flow from discontinued operations 28,810 56,381 85,191

1) Where related to equity, cash flows from the financing activities of discontinued operations have been eliminated.

1) Adjustment according to IAS 8, see note 2.3.
2) Where related to equity, cash flows from the financing activities of discontinued operations have been eliminated.
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10. nOTeS TO The COnSOlidATed 
bAlAnCe SheeT

10.1. Intangible assets
The intangible assets acquired from third parties 
were mainly acquired as a result of business combi-
nations. They include the brand names and Internet 
domains Zoover (EUR 7,510 thousand; 2014: EUR 7,510 
thousand), MeteoVista/Weeronline (EUR 1,636 thou-
sand; 2014: EUR 1,636 thousand), ElitePartner (EUR 0 
thousand; 2014: EUR 7,147 thousand), HolidayCheck 
(EUR 3,386 thousand; 2014: EUR 3,386 thousand), 
Tjingo (EUR 0 thousand; 2014: EUR 144 thousand), 
and other miscellaneous Internet domains and web-
sites (EUR 509 thousand; 2014: EUR 1,416 thousand).

The main component of the other miscellaneous Inter-
net domains and websites is the domain hotelcheck.de 
(EUR 509 thousand; 2014: EUR 509 thousand).

This item also includes the customer bases acquired as 
a result of the business combinations with WebAssets 
(EUR 3,852 thousand; 2014: EUR 4,645 thousand) and 
Tjingo (EUR 0 thousand; 2014: EUR 68 thousand) as 
well as acquired software. 

In most cases, brand names and Internet domains 
acquired as a result of business combinations have 
no specific useful life, as there is no foreseeable end 
to their economic use. Brand names are allocated to 
cash-generating units at the time of acquisition. Good-
will is also allocated to these cash-generating units. If 
impairment risks are discovered while determining the 
value in use of goodwill, a write-down is performed in 
line with IAS 36.

Impairment losses totalled EUR 3,231 thousand 
(2014: EUR 2,641) for brand names and other Inter-
net domains with an undefined useful life. This figure 
includes complete write-downs of the Zoover website 
and the Internet domain Urlaub.com.

The internally generated intangible assets of EUR 
7,801 thousand (EUR 14,912 thousand in 2014) entirely 
concern software developed in-house. At EUR 7,773 
thousand, the major part was invested in programming 
and mobile applications for the Travel segment.

If additional software that has been developed and 
produced in-house is complete and ready to use, the 
capitalised development costs are written down over 
the normal useful life of the software. The company 
has estimated the normal useful life of software devel-
opment costs capitalised within the TFAG Group to be 
between 3 and 5 years maximum. This estimation has 
mainly been made on the basis of the possible techni-
cal and technological obsolescence of the software.

With regard to the development of costs and the 
amortisation of intangible assets, reference is made to 
the consolidated statement of changes in non-current 
assets for the financial years 2015 and 2014 on pages 
92 – 95. 

The total figure for goodwill in 2015 stood at EUR 
100,182 thousand (2014: EUR 123,296 thousand) and 
derives from the following acquisitions: 

goodwill from aquisitions

 
31 dECEmbER 

2014
EUR ’000

ImPAIRmENt
EUR ’000

 
dISPoSALS

EUR ’000

31 dECEmbER 
2015

EUR ’000

HolidayCheck AG 69,091 69,091

WebAssets B.V.  31,091 31,091

EliteMedianet GmbH 17,178 -2,100 -15,078 0

Tomorrow Travel B.V.  3,369 -3,369 0

TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH 2,567 -2,567 0

GoodwILL 123,296 5,469 17,645 100,182
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The decline in total goodwill in financial 2015 was 
mainly caused by disposals linked to the deconsolida-
tion of the companies sold in 2015, the write-down of 
goodwill for Tomorrow Travel. 

As required by IAS 36, all goodwill is subjected to an 
annual impairment test based on value in use following 
the procedure outlined in section 6 entitled ‘Account-
ing and valuation principles’. In each case, the compa-
ny concerned acts as the cash-generating unit.

With regard to all other Group companies, the manda-
tory annual impairment tests confirmed that there had 
been no impairment of capitalised goodwill as at 31 
December 2015. 

The above impairment tests for goodwill and for intan-
gible assets with an unspecified useful life were based 
on the following assumptions as at 31 December 2015: 
see table below. 

Write-downs of goodwill were calculated on the basis 
of impairment tests. With regard to other goodwill, a 

rise in the weighted average costs of capital (WACC) 
of 1 percent would have had as little effect on the 
impairment of goodwill as a fall in revenue of 1 percent 
over the entire planning period with a corresponding 
decline in cash flows. When determining value in use 
for the cash-generating units, TFAG takes the view that 
changes in the main assumptions classed as ‘possible’ 
will not lead to a situation where the carrying values of 
those units exceed their recoverable amounts.

10.2. Property, plant and equipment (tangible assets)
Property, plant and equipment relates primarily to 
‘Other plant, furniture and fixtures’ with a value of EUR 
3,164 thousand (2014: EUR 3,845 thousand). 

With regard to the development of costs and the de-
preciation of property, plant and equipment, reference 
is made to the consolidated statements of changes in 
non-current assets for financial years 2015 and 2014.

The development of non-current assets is shown in the 
following statements of changes in non-current assets 
(see pages 92 – 95).

ALLoCAtEd GoodwILL ANd 
INtANGIbLE ASSEtS wIth AN 

UNSPECIFIEd USEFUL LIFE
VALUAtIoN PARAmEtERS

Goodwill

brand names 
and 

Internet 
domains

Average 
revenue 
growth

Average 
EbItdA 
margin

Growth rate
 of perpetuity

discounting 
rate 

before tax

detailed 
planning

 period 
(years)

HolidayCheck AG 69.091 3.895 8.7% 
(2014: 14.8%)

5.4%
(2014: 20.3%)

2%
(2014: 2%)

9.7%
(2014: 9.2%)

5
(2014: 5)

WebAssets B.V.  31.091 9.146 20.2%
(2014: 13.5%)

27.2% 
(2014: 23.3%)

2%
(2014: 2%)

12.0%
(2014: 11.1%)

5
(2014: 5)

goodwill and intangiBle assets with an  
unspeCified useful life as at 31 deCemBer 2015

119
Tomorrow focus AG 2015

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



10.3. Loans receivable
The item of loans receivable mainly concerns loans and 
accumulated interest receivable from third parties with 
a term of 2 to 3 years valued at EUR 6,713 thousand 
(EUR 1,350 thousand in 2014).

10.4. deferred taxes
With regard to the composition and development of the 
deferred tax assets, reference is made to the com-
ments regarding deferred taxes in the section 10.17 of 
the notes ‘Deferred taxes’.

10.5. Inventories
As at the reporting date, no work in process and finis-
hed goods were included on the balance sheet. 

10.6. trade receivables
The company constantly monitors trade receivables. 
All receivables have been tested for impairment to de-
termine whether their fair value is lower than their am-
ortised cost. Risks of bad debts are taken into account 
through appropriate valuation adjustments. 

The table above shows the due dates of trade receiva-
bles.

As at 31 December 2015, there were individual allow-
ances for bad debts of EUR 1,033 thousand (2014: EUR 
4,009 thousand). In 2015, the individual allowances 
for bad debts included additions of EUR 373 thousand 
(2014: EUR 2,167 thousand), allowances used of EUR 
38 thousand (2014: EUR 1,711 thousand), disposals 
from deconsolidation of EUR 3,311 thousand (2014: 
EUR 0 thousand) and the reversal of individual allow-
ances for bad debts to the value of EUR 0 thousand 
(2014: EUR 259 thousand). There are no indications 
that the creditors of the receivables for which an allow-
ance has not been made or which are not overdue will 
not meet their payment obligations within the stipulat-
ed period.

10.7. Receivables from and liabilities to affiliated 
entities as well as other long-term investees and 
investors 
Receivables and payables in relation to affiliated enti-
ties as well as other long-term investees and investors 
are mainly due to trade relationships. All receivables 
and payables are measured at fair value. With the 
exception of a valuation adjustment of EUR 4,894 thou-
sand for the cash pool account at organize.me, their 
value has not been adjusted and they are not overdue.

trade reCeivaBles

tRAdE RECEIVAbLES 
€ ‚000

CARRyING 
AmoUNt 

thereof not 
impaired or 

overdue on re-
porting date 

Not ImPAIREd oN REPoRtING dAtE ANd  
PASt dUE IN thE FoLLowIG PERIodS

less than 
30 days 

between
 31 and  
60 days 

between 
61 and  

90 days

between
 91 and  

181 days
more than 

181 days

as at 31 December 2015 14,747 13,550 536 311 188 81 80

as at 31 December 2014 26,122 20,191 4,078 609 273 205 766

120
Tomorrow focus AG 2015
Notes to the consolidated financial statements



10.8. other assets
Other assets mainly consist of tax receivables (includ-
ing future value-added tax refund entitlements, i.e. 
German input tax, deductible in the following month), 
interest receivables, items in transit, claims against 
insurance companies, creditors with debit balances, 
prepaid expenses and prepayments received. 
Other current assets fell by EUR 342 thousand com-
pared with the previous year. This was primarily due 
to changes in the reporting entity and the decline in 
prepayments for advertising services at HC on the 
balance sheet date.

10.9. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are made up of cash on 
hand amounting to EUR 6 thousand (2014: EUR 5 
thousand) and cash at banks of EUR 63,696 thousand 
(2014: EUR 26,635 thousand).

10.10. Equity

Subscribed capital
The subscribed capital of the company at the end 
of the year was unchanged at EUR 58,313,628. It is 
divided into 58,313,628 no-par value shares, each with 
an accounting par value of EUR 1. All shares in the 
company are fully paid up.

Capital reserves
As at 31 December 2015, the capital reserves of TFAG 
were unchanged at EUR 84,808 thousand.

The capital reserves are made up of payments into the 
reserve from capital increases. They may only be uti-
lised as prescribed by German stock corporation law.

According to section 150 of the German Stock Corpo-
ration Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG), the statutory reserve 
and the capital reserves prescribed by section 272, 
paragraph 2, numbers 1 to 3 of the German Commer-
cial Code must together exceed a tenth of the share 
capital, so that they can be used to offset losses or for 
a capital increase out of company funds. As long as the 
total of statutory reserve and capital reserve does not 
exceed a tenth of the share capital, they may only be 
used to make up for losses in as far as the loss cannot 
be covered by carrying forward profits or by the net 
income/(loss) for the year and cannot be balanced by 
releasing other revenue reserves.

Authorised capital
At the general meeting of shareholders on 12 June 

2013, it was decided to nullify authorised capital 
2010/I, last valued at EUR 21,204,957 and at the same 
time to authorise the Management Board, subject to 
Supervisory Board approval, to undertake one or more 
increases in the company’s share capital until 11 June 
2018 of up to EUR 14,578,407 in exchange for cash 
and/or non-cash contributions (authorised capital 
2013/I). The Management Board is authorised to ex-
clude shareholders’ statutory subscription rights.

Contingent capital
At the general meeting of shareholders on 16 June 
2015, it was decided to nullify contingent capital 
2010/I of EUR 4,842,070. At the same time, a resolu-
tion was approved to create new contingent capital of 
EUR 11,600,000 (contingent capital 2015/I). This con-
tingent capital is used to grant shares to the holders 
of convertible bonds and/or bonds with warrants. The 
authorisation is valid up to 15 June 2020.

10.11. treasury shares
The general meeting of shareholders on 16 June 2015 
cancelled the company’s authorisation to acquire its 
own shares worth up to a total of 10 percent of its 
share capital until 15 June 2015. At the same time, 
however, the Management Board was authorised to 
acquire shares in the company up to an accounting par 
value of 10 percent of its share capital until 15 June 
2020.
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10.12. Earnings per share
Earnings per share in the reporting period, in relation 
to the shares issued or assumed as issued, were as 
follows: see table above.

10.13. other reserves
The other reserves item relates to currency reserves 
for currency differences arising from the translation 
of the results of companies whose functional currency 
is not the same as that of the Group. It also includes 
reserves for hedging transactions (cash flow hedge 
accounting). See table on next page above.

The reserve for hedging transactions covers profits and 
losses from effective cash flow hedges arising from 
changes in the fair value of the hedging transactions. 
The accumulated profit or loss from changes in the fair 
value of hedging transactions, as shown in the reserve 
for hedging transactions, was then transferred to the 
statement of income when the underlying transaction 
itself affected the statement of income, when the cash 
flows associated with the underlying transaction were 
recognised in profit or loss or if the hedged transaction 
was cancelled. As at 31 December 2015 there were no 
contingent liabilities.

10.14. Provisions for pensions
As at 31 December 2015, the provision for pensions 
amounted to EUR 1,001 thousand (EUR 1,796 thou-
sand in 2014). This figure relates to the entitlements of 
HolidayCheck AG employees. 

In order to deliver its own occupational pension 
scheme, HolidayCheck AG has joined a number of 
collective foundations. At present, the company 
maintains three employee pension schemes that pay 
out on retirement or invalidity, with benefits for the de-
pendents of deceased employees. As a minimum, the 
benefits provided under these schemes comply with 
the statutory requirements as prescribed in the Swiss 
Federal Law on Occupational Retirement, Survivors’ 
and Disability Pension Plans - LOB - (Bundesgesetz 
über die berufliche Alters-, Hinterlassenen- und Inva-
lidenvorsorge, BVG). The level of death and invalidity 
benefit depends on the underlying salary, while the 
retirement benefit is based on the credits accumulated 
by employees when they retire. In accordance with IAS 
19 (revised), these plans should be classed as de-
fined-benefit plans.

The expense of EUR 616 thousand in the financial year 
2015 (EUR 687 thousand in 2014) was recognised in 
the statement of income. 

earnings per share

 2015 2014 2013 2012

total consolidated net income/(loss)  
accruing to shareholders of tFAG EUR ‚000 42,496 -3,678 11,979 11,539

 of which from continuing operations EUR ‚000 -16,392 6,885 12,429 11,539

 of which from discontinued operations EUR ‚000 58,888 -10,563 -450

weighted average of issued shares units 58,313,628 58,313,628 58,313,628 58,313,628

Earnings per share

 of which from continuing operations EUR -0.28 0.12 0.21 0.20

 of which from discontinued operations EUR 1.01 -0.18 -0.01
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Out of these total obligations, plan assets are in place covering EUR 3,735 thousand (2014: EUR 4,896 thousand). 

development of other reserves

development of pension oBligations in the finanCial year 

Reserves for 
revaluation of 

defined-benefit 
pension plans

EUR ’000

Reserves 
for currency 

translation 
dif ferences

EUR ’000

Reserves 
from hedging 

transactions
EUR ’000

total
EUR ’000

Initial level at 1 January 2015 -448 -2,108 0 -2,556

Cash flow hedges

Fair value changes recognised in equity 0 0 -58 -58

Other changes   

Consolidated comprehensive income 930 0  0 930

Final level at 31 december 2015 482 -2,108 -58 -1,684

2015
€ ‚000

2014
€ ‚000

Present value of the pension obligations at 1 January 4,896 3,743

Expenses for additional pension entitlements acquired in the financial year 663 674

Employee contributions 486 454

Interest expenses for existing entitlements 55 83

Pension payments in the financial year -1,429 -761

Gains/(losses) resulting from changes in demographic assumptions -885 0

Gains/(losses) resulting from changes in financial assumptions 239 830

Gains/(losses) resulting from experience adjustments -782 -220

Exchange rate changes in the case of plans in a currency other than EUR 558 93

Past service costs and settlements -66 0

Present value of the pension obligations at 31 december 3,735 4,896
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The plan assets do not include any financial instru-
ments belonging to the company or property used 
by the company. The actual loss from the plan assets 

amounts to EUR 259 thousand (2014: income of EUR 
332 thousand).

development of plan assets

derivation of pension provisons 

2015
€ ‚000

2014
€ ‚000

Present value of the plan assets at 1 January -3,100 -2,753

Interest income -36 -70

Employer contributions -486 -266

Employee contributions -486 -454

Pension payments in the financial year 1,429 761

Return on plan assets excluding amounts recognised as interest income 295 -262

Exchange rate changes in case of plans in a currency other than EUR -350 -56

Present value of plan assets at 31 december -2,734 -3,100

2015
€ ‚000

2014
€ ‚000

Present value of the plan assets at 31 December -2,734 -3,100

Present value of the pension obligations at 31 December 3,735 4,896

benefit obligations in excess of assets 1,001 1,796

Net defined benefit liability at 31 december 1,001 1,796

derivation of pension expenses 

2015
€ ‚000

2014
€ ‚000

Expenses for additional pension entitlements acquired in the financial year -663 -674

Interest expenses for existing entitlements -55 -83

Interest income 36 70

Past service costs and settlements 66 0

Expense recognised in the statement of income -616 -687
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The assumptions made with regard to future mortality 
rates are based on death statistics published in Swit-
zerland (LOB 2010). The length of this pension com-
mitment is based on an assumed period of 16.5 years 

(2014: 23 years). In 2016, the company expects to 
make contributions to the plan of EUR 490 thousand 
(actual contributions 2015: EUR 486 thousand).

aCtuarial assumptions

Breakdown of plan assets 

2015
in percent

2014
in percent

Equity instruments 26.6 21.0

quoted 23.9 18.3

not quoted 2.7 2.7

Debt instruments 27.7 21.3

quoted 27.6 21.1

not quoted 0.1 0.2

Property 18.8 12.3

quoted 2.8 1.9

not quoted 16.0 10.4

Alternative instruments 1) 0.0 11.4

quoted 0.0 0

not quoted 0.0 11.4

Cash 6.4 10.7

Assets from insurance policies 5.3 23.3

Other 15.2 0.0

quoted 0.0 0.0

not quoted 15.2 0.0

totAL 100.0 100.0

2015
in percent

2014
in percent

Interest rate 0.80 1.10

Rate of salary progression 1.00 1.00

Rate of pension progression 0.00 0.00

sensitivity analysis

EFFECtS oN obLIGAtIoNS

ChANGE 
IN thE 

ASSUmPtIoN
in percent

2015
€ ‚000

2014
€ ‚000

INCREASE IN thE 
ASSUmPtIoN

dECREASE IN thE 
ASSUmPtIoN

INCREASE IN thE 
ASSUmPtIoN

dECREASE IN thE 
ASSUmPtIoN

Discount rate 0.50 -282 332 -507 616

Salary progression in the future 0.50 113 -124 139 -146

Increase in pensions in the future 0.50 135 n/a 280 n/a

1) Private equity and hedge funds
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There are a number of risks associated with the pen-
sion plan at HC. The collective foundations joined by 
HolidayCheck AG could change their financing systems 
(contributions and future benefits) at any time. They 
may cancel agreements provided that they observe the 
contractual and statutory notice periods. They may 
also ask the employer and employees to pay higher 
risk and cost premiums. In the case of ASGA (a Swiss 
pension fund for small and medium-sized companies) it 
may even levy remedial contributions from the employ-
er and employees to rectify any lack of cover if other 
measures fail to do so.

10.15.  tomoRRow  FoCUS AG employee  
stock option plans
Since 2011, virtual shares have been issued to mem-
bers of the Management Board and other staff of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG and its subsidiaries under 
a long-term incentive programme (LTIP). The virtual 
shares entitle the holder to a cash payment based on 
the average share price over the last one hundred stock 
exchange trading days up to the payment date. There 
is no automatic entitlement to shares in  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG. Under the terms of the LTIP, virtual shares 
are granted in annual tranches (up to and including 
2015). There is no link between these tranches.

Qualification for the virtual shares conferred under 
the LTIP is subject to meeting individually negotiat-
ed EBTA targets (earnings before tax and purchase 

price allocation amortisation) for each financial year. 
Depending on the extent to which targets are met in 
the financial year in which the tranche was granted, 
the original number of virtual shares is increased or 
reduced. If a specified minimum target is not achieved 
or if the company’s liabilities exceed a certain thresh-
old, entitlement to the virtual shares may be forfeited 
completely. After this point, the virtual shares must be 
held for a further three years.

On expiry of the minimum holding period, the benefi-
ciaries are entitled to a cash payment (plus accumulat-
ed dividends) based on their holding of virtual shares. 
The total payment may not exceed three times the 
grant value of that tranche of virtual shares. The grant 
value, assuming complete attainment of the target, 
is an individual gross amount converted into virtual 
shares on the basis of the average share price (initial 
reference price) over the last one hundred stock ex-
change trading days up to the annual general meeting 
at which the consolidated financial statements ap-
proved by the Supervisory Board for the financial year 
in question are presented to shareholders.

In financial 2015, beneficiaries of the LTIP received a 
total of 206,830 virtual shares from the 2015 tranche. 
At the time they were granted, the total volume of 
shares distributed had a value of EUR 925 thousand. 
The table below shows the number of outstanding 
virtual shares under the LTIP: 

virtual shares

tRANChE
2015

tRANChE 
2014

Outstanding virtual shares after factoring in achievement of  
performance targets at 1 January 2015 0 0

Virtual shares conferred 206,830* 0

Forfeited virtual shares 56,831* 0

Outstanding virtual shares at 31 December 2015 149,999* 0

Outstanding virtual shares after factoring in achievement of  
performance targets at 31 December 2015 179,999* 0

*  Estimated number. The actual number depends on the initial reference price, but this cannot be determined until the annual general meeting for the financial year 
2015.
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In financial 2015 a further 7,318 virtual shares with a 
fair value of EUR 26 thousand from previous tranches 
of the LTIP were forfeited when plan members left the 
company.

The virtual shares granted are classed and valued as 
share-based payments with cash settlement. 

Valuation is based on the following parameters: see 
table above.

The volatility estimate is based on historic volatilities. 
This assumes that future trends can be determined on 
the basis of past volatilities over a similar period to the 

anticipated term of the virtual shares. Actual volatility 
may vary from these assumptions.

The underlying minimum targets linked to the 2014 
tranche were not achieved, and the corresponding 
entitlement to virtual shares is therefore now void. Ac-
cordingly, there was no need to establish a fair value as 
at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015 for each 
virtual share in this tranche.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements for financial 2015 in respect of the LTIP are 
shown below: 

other liaBilities

2015
EUR ‘000

2014
EUR ‘000

Liabilities from share-based payments with cash settlement 2,140 2,605

totAL 2,140 2,605

valuation

tRANChE
2015

End of holding period 22 May 2019

Residual term of virtual shares 1,238 days

Share price on valuation date EUR 3.55

Initial reference price EUR 4.47

Projected dividend yield 1.34%

Risk-free interest rate for the term -0.15%

Projected volatility for the term 3.45%

Cap EUR 13.42

Fair value per virtual share EUR 3.55
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The holding period for the virtual shares granted in the 
2011 tranche ended in the financial year under review. 
Accordingly, the beneficiaries were paid a total of EUR 
1,144 thousand in respect of 245,921 virtual shares 
from that tranche.

Up to the balance sheet date, the LTIP generated the 
following personnel costs for  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG: 
see table above.  

The above personnel costs mainly comprise expenses 
for the 2015 tranche granted in the year under review 
and expenses from revaluation of the 2011 to 2013 
tranches. In financial 2014 the corresponding income 
arose solely from revaluation of the 2011 to 2013 
tranches.

personnel Costs

2015
EUR ‘000

2014
EUR ‘000

Cost of share-based payments with cash settlement 679 -356*

totAL 679 -356*

* Correction on revaluation 2011-2013

10.16. Stock options for a managing director  
at webAssets b.V. 
The managing director of WebAssets B.V. acquired 
2 percent of the shares in the company for EUR 750 
thousand. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, 
put/call options for these shares give the managing 
director the right to sell his shares to TFAG in 2016 or 
2017 and give TFAG the right to buy the shares held 
by the managing director in 2015 or 2017. When the 
option is exercised, the purchase price will be calculat-
ed on the basis of an adjusted consolidated EBIT figure 
for WebAssets B.V. 

The fair value of the put/call option as at 31 December 
2015 was EUR 476 thousand and is recognised as a 
financial liability. The difference between this figure 
and the fair value of EUR 911 thousand shown in the 
balance sheet for 2014 was recognised as personnel 
costs in profit and loss at EUR 451 thousand (including 
compounding of EUR 16 thousand).
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10.17. deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are formed on loss carryforwards and 
temporary differences between IFRS and the tax bal-
ance sheet. Within the tax group, an average tax rate 
of 32.59 percent (2014: 32.59 percent) was taken as a 
basis for calculating the deferred taxes. The tax rate is 
calculated on the basis of an average trade tax rate of 
16.76 percent (2014: 16.76 percent) and a corporation 
tax rate of 15.0 percent (2014: 15.0 percent) plus the 
solidarity surcharge of 5.5 percent (2014: 5.5 percent) 
of the corporation tax. 

For the German companies outside the tax group and 
for the non-German companies, deferred taxes were 
calculated on the basis of each company’s individual 
tax rate, ranging from around 17.84 percent for HC to 
33.33 percent for Zoover France SARL. 

There are trade tax loss carryforwards of EUR 115,438 
thousand (EUR 107,778 thousand in 2014), corporation 
tax loss carryforwards of EUR 120,186 thousand (EUR 
112,093 thousand in 2014) and foreign loss carryfor-
wards of EUR 6,965 thousand (EUR 11,533 thousand in 
2014) within the TFAG Group. 

In financial 2015 the Group did not capitalise any 
deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards (2014: 
EUR 435 thousand). There were no opposing deferred 
tax liabilities arising from temporary differences. In the 
past, these subsidiaries reported negative results. With 
regard to capitalised deferred tax assets, the Group’s 
tax result forecast in 2014 anticipated that in future 
there would be enough taxable income to be able to 
exploit these tax loss carryforwards.

No deferred tax assets were recognised on trade tax 
loss carryforwards of EUR 115,439 thousand (EUR 
101,928 thousand in 2014), corporation tax loss car-

ryforwards of EUR 120,186 thousand (EUR 104,333 
thousand in 2014) and foreign loss carryforwards of 
EUR 3,131 thousand (EUR 8,971 thousand in 2014) 
within the Group, as it is currently thought unlikely that 
they will be utilised.

No deferred tax assets were recognised in the financial 
year 2015 on previously excluded tax loss carryfor-
wards from earlier periods (2014: EUR 54 thousand).

At present, although foreign losses must be used 
within nine years of the date on which they arise, 
losses incurred in Germany can be carried forward in-
definitely. However, both German and foreign tax loss 
carryforwards and their previous offsetting are subject 
to final scrutiny by the responsible taxation authori-
ties. Several financial years of TFAG have not yet been 
definitively assessed by the taxation authorities. It is 
therefore possible that changes will have to be made to 
the tax loss carryforwards and to the assessed taxes as 
a result of external fiscal audits.

In the year under review, deferred taxes of EUR 0 
thousand (2014: EUR 196 thousand) were recognised 
as tax liabilities in respect of planned dividend pay-
ments by subsidiaries. By contrast, deferred taxes 
of approximately EUR 310 thousand (2014: EUR 160 
thousand) in respect of temporary differences in the 
retained earnings of subsidiaries were not recognised 
as liabilities, as the Group is in a position to control the 
time of reversal, and the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The tables on the next page show a breakdown of the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities in the balance sheet 
and the statement of income. The first table is carried 
forward to deferred tax assets and the second table to 
deferred tax liabilities in the balance sheet.
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Deferred tax assets of EUR 227 thousand (EUR 253 
thousand in 2014) and deferred tax liabilities of EUR 
783 thousand (EUR 1,290 thousand in 2014) had less 
than one year remaining.

The revaluation of defined-benefit pension plans 
(recognised as other comprehensive income) led to 
a reduction of EUR 202 thousand (2014: increase of 
EUR 62 thousand) in total equity on account of their 

deferred tax effect. For the same reason, changes in 
the fair value of derivatives used for hedging purposes 
(recognised as other comprehensive income) led to an 
increase of EUR 13 thousand (2014: reduction of EUR 
152 thousand) in equity.

The following table shows the translation of the ficti-
tious tax expense and tax income into the actual tax 
expense and tax income:

deferred tax assets 

deferred tax liaBilities 

01 JAN 
2015

€ ‚000

Changes due to 
deconsolidation

€ ‚000

Recognised 
in other 

 comprehensive 
income

€ ‚000

discontinued 
operations 

€ ‚000

Income (+) /
Expense (-)

€ ‚000

31 dEC 
2015

€ ‚000

Resulting from temporary differences 

Provisions for pensions 320 0 -202 0 61 179

Other non-current liabilities 87 0 0 0 -87 0

Other balance sheet items 128 -83 13 -24 8 42

535 -83 -189 -24 -18 221

Resulting from loss carryforwards 5,105 -3,812 0 -519 197 971

5,640 -3,895 -189 -543 179 1,192

Less deferred tax liabilities resulting from 
offsetting 

Resulting from temporary differences 

Intangible assets 4,116 -3,789 0 -255 -69 3

Other current assets 196 0 0 0 -196 0

Other balance sheet items 65 -189 0 124 0 0

4,377 -3,978 0 -131 -265 3

balance of deferred tax assets 1,263 83 -189 -412 444 1,189

01 JAN 
2015

€ ‚000

Changes due to 
deconsolidation

€ ‚000

Recognised 
in other 

 comprehensive 
income

€ ‚000

discontinued 
operations 

€ ‚000

Income (+) /
Expense (-)

€ ‚000

31 dEC 
2015

€ ‚000

Resulting from temporary differences 

Intangible assets 5,663 0 0 0 427 5,236

balance of deferred tax liabilities 5,663 0 0 0 427 5,236

      

Effects on the statement of income 871

  thereof reported as deferred tax expenses     871  
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10.18. other provisions
The following table shows the changes in other 
 provisions during the year under review:

Current other provisions 

At 
1  January 

2015
€ ‚000

Used 
€ ‚000

Reversed 
€ ‚000

Added 
€ ‚000

Change in 
reporting 

entity  
€ ‚000

Reclassi-
fication 

according 
to  IFRS 5

€ ‚000

At 
31 decem-

ber 2015
€ ‚000

Provisions for anniversary payments -59 20 0 -18 0 0 -57

Severance payments -139 139 0 0 0 0 0

Warranties -30 26 4 -23 23 0 0

Contingent losses 0 0 0 -885 0 17 -868

Litigation -961 37 151 -205 939 0 -39

total other current provisions -1,189 222 155 -1,131 962 17 -964

tax reConCiliation at tomorrow foCus group 

2015 
€ ‚000

2014 1) 

€ ‚000

Earnings from continuing operations before taxes -16,389  9,483  

Fictitious tax expense (32.59 %, 2014: 32.59 %)  5,341  -3,091

  

Adjustments to fictitious tax expense   

Deferred taxes not recognised in respect  
of tax losses in reporting year

 
-3,073

 
-2,429

Initial recognition of previously unrecognised  
deferred taxes in respect of tax loss carryforwards

 
0

 
54

Write-down of previously recognised deferred taxes  -514  0

Utilisation of unrecognised  tax loss carryforwards  13  83

Tax-free income  147  617

Tax reduction due to different tax rates in other countries  96  2,972

Tax increase due to non-deductible expenses  -1,764  -444

Tax effects due to additions and reductions for local taxes  -71  -109

Recognition of deferred taxes in respect of  
scheduled dividend payments 

 
0

 
-196

Currency effect Switzerland  -3  0

Tax expenses not related to the period  -175  -55

tax expenses according to  
consolidated statement of income 

 
-3

 
-2,598

1) Adjusted for the effects resulting from application of IFRS 5. Explanation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (9.2)
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The provisions for onerous contracts mainly relate to 
future rental expenses for unused premises.

The column referring to the change in the reporting 
entity shows the impact of the sale of TFP.

The provision for severance payments mainly relates 
to payments on termination of employment relation-
ships. The Group recognises severance payments if 
there is sufficient evidence of the fact that entitlements 
to severance payment will arise because of the termi-
nation of employment relationships. In 2015 provisions 
for severance payments were reclassified as other 
liabilities (social security liabilities) as there was no 
uncertainty in any of the cases involved.

The Group is exposed to many legal risks. These can 
particularly be risks in connection with other legal dis-
putes and tax law disputes. The outcome of cases cur-
rently pending and future cases cannot be predicted 
with certainty, so court decisions may lead to expenses 
that are not entirely covered by insurance and that can 
have material effects on the business and its events. In 
the estimation of the Management Board, the litigation 
currently pending does not involve decisions that could 
have a material detrimental effect on the Group’s asset 
and income situation.

10.19. Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to banks amount to EUR 15,214 thousand 
(EUR 55,342 thousand in 2014), see table below.

In June 2014, as part of a wider plan to restructure the 
way  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG finances its activities, 
the company entered into a syndicated loan agreement 
repayable in 2019. Under the terms of this agreement, 
it can borrow individual tranches of up to EUR 50,000 
thousand on a flexible basis. Existing borrowings from 
this syndicated loan were fully repaid in 2015.

Out of the Group’s overall borrowing requirements, 
EUR 14,500 thousand (2014: EUR 14,500 thousand) 
is in the form of a bonded loan that was taken out in 
four tranches in 2011. The tranches remaining as at 
31 December 2015 mature in 2016 and were provided 
solely by banks.

Other liabilities to banks mainly comprise deferred 
interest obligations of EUR 572 thousand (2014: EUR 
572 thousand).

Looking at other liabilities to banks, EUR 15,214 thou-
sand (2014: EUR 842 thousand) are current liabilities 
that fall due within twelve months. This figure mainly 
contains liabilities of EUR 14,500 thousand in respect 
of the bonded loan, deferred interest obligations of 
EUR 572 thousand (2014: EUR 572 thousand) and other 
fees and liabilities of EUR 142 thousand in respect of 
swap agreements (2014: EUR 0 thousand). As at 31 
December 2015, the Group also had unused credit 
lines totalling EUR 49,000 thousand (2014: EUR 49,000 
thousand).

liaBilities to Banks

31 dECEmbER 2015
EUR ’000

31 dECEmbER 2014
EUR ’000

CURRENt NoN-CURRENt CURRENt NoN-CURRENt

Bonded loans 14,500 0 0 14,500

Syndicated loan 0 0 0 40,000

Other liabilities to banks 714 0 842 0

15,214 0 842 54,500
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In 2015, the interest rates payable on existing borrow-
ings were between 1.4 percent and 5.0 percent per 
annum.

The Group hedges part of its borrowings by means of 
interest rate swaps. This has the effect of transforming 
the variable-rate payments into fixed-rate payments. 

The negative fair value of the interest rate swap stood 
at EUR 93 thousand (2014: EUR 267 thousand).

All loans are unsecured and are not subject to financial 
covenants that could allow a lender to cancel a loan 
with immediate effect if stipulated financial indicators 
are not met.

10.20. other liabilities 
See table above.

The total figure for earn-out obligations is made up of 
EUR 2,200 thousand (2014: 2,039 thousand) in respect 
of earn-out obligations towards the pre-takeover 
shareholders of WebAssets B.V. and EUR 0 thousand 
(2014: EUR 3,828 thousand) in respect of the obliga-
tion incurred in 2011 when  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG 
increased its stake in jameda GmbH. 

The total for other non-current personnel liabilities 
mainly comprises: EUR 1,454 thousand (2014: EUR 
1,628 thousand) in respect of the non-current portion 
of obligations from share-based payment transactions 
for TFAG; EUR 476 thousand (2014: EUR 911 thou-
sand) covering the stock options granted to the manag-
ing director of WebAssets B.V.

other liaBilities

31 dECEmbER 2015
EUR ’000

31 dECEmbER 2014
EUR ’000

CARRyING AmoUNtS CURRENt NoN-CURRENt CURRENt NoN-CURRENt

Earn-out obligations 2,200 0 4,932 935

Deferred income 1,030 61 7,052 0

Other personnel liabilities 5,319 1,930 4,869 2,539

Wage and church tax 500 0 600 0

Derivative financial instruments 0 0 0 267

Holiday pay obligations 648 0 653 0

Social security liabilities 12 0 99 0

Other liabilities 2,150 0 4,738 0

11,858 1,991 22,943 3,741

The total for other current personnel liabilities mainly 
comprises: EUR 2,915 thousand (2014: EUR 4,869 
thousand) in respect of provisions for bonuses (includ-
ing the portion of the LTIP classified as current); EUR 
1,399 thousand (2014: EUR 0 thousand) in respect of 
liabilities for severance payments; and EUR 880 thou-
sand (2014: 0 thousand) for sale-related bonuses.

In 2014 liabilities from derivative financial instruments 
referred to the negative fair value of interest rate deriv-
atives.

As at 31 December 2015, all remaining liabilities were 
due within one year. These mainly relate to other tax 
liabilities of EUR 391 thousand (2014: EUR 1,620 
thousand) and in 2014 a remuneration (2015: EUR 0 
thousand; 2014: EUR 1,138 thousand) for the future 
provision of IT services linked to the business combina-
tion with WebAssets B.V.
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10.21. trade payables
Liabilities in relation to outstanding invoices amounted 
to EUR 2,540 thousand (EUR 3,167 thousand in 2014) 
and are recognised under trade payables. 

Trade payables have a remaining term of less than one 
year.

10.22. derivative financial instruments 
As part of the risk management system, derivative 
financial instruments may be used to hedge the risks 
to which the company is exposed. These are primarily 
a result of exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations. 
Their use is essentially intended to hedge existing or 
planned underlying transactions and to reduce foreign 
currency and interest rate risks. They are not used for 
trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments used to hedge foreign 
currency and interest rate risks are treated as a cash 
flow hedge in line with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. The effective portion 
of the profit or loss from the hedging instruments is 
recognised directly in equity and is then transferred 
to profit or loss as soon as the hedged cash flows from 
the underlying transaction are also reflected in profit 

or loss or if a hedged future transaction does not actu-
ally take place. 

In the event that hedged future transactions (referred 
to in IAS 39 as forecast transactions) lead to the 
recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, their 
fair values are adjusted to the corresponding figure in 
equity from the hedging transaction. 

A number of interest rate swaps were agreed in April 
2011 in order to hedge the risk of fluctuation in the 
interest payable on variable-rate, non-current financial 
liabilities. These were assigned directly to the underly-
ing transactions in the form of cash flow hedges. The 
interest rate swap expires on 9 March 2016 (nominal 
value of EUR 6,000 thousand). 

As at 31 December 2015, these swaps produced 
financial liabilities of EUR 93 thousand (2014: EUR 267 
thousand). Although the interest rate hedge remains in 
place, the designated hedging relationships ended fol-
lowing repayment of the previously hedged underlying 
transactions as part of TFAG’s plan to restructure its 
overall financing arrangements. The criteria for treat-
ment as a cash-flow hedge were therefore no longer 
met, and the hedging relationships became ineffective.
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10.23. Additional disclosures on  
financial instruments
The carrying amounts, amounts recognised and fair 
values by valuation category as at 31 December 2015 
and 31 December 2014 are shown in the tables on 
pages 136 and 139.

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, receiv-
ables from affiliated entities, receivables from other 
long-term investees and investors, and other assets 
mostly have short remaining terms. For this reason, 
their carrying amounts on the reporting date were 
approximately the same as their fair values.

In the absence of an exchange or market price, it was 
not possible to derive a fair value for the corresponding 
period on the basis of similar transactions. A valuation 
based on the discounting of anticipated cash flows was 
not undertaken as the cash flows could not be reliably 
determined. Recognition was therefore based on acqui-
sition cost.

Shares in affiliated entities and long-term equity 
investments are solely equity instruments (i.e. equity 
brought into the company) for which a stock market 
price is not available. As a reliable fair value cannot be 
calculated, these instruments have been measured at 
the cost of acquisition.

The other loans are not due before one year. As the 
rate of interest is more or less equivalent to the normal 
market rate, the carrying amount and the fair value are 
approximately the same.

In the case of liabilities to banks, the carrying amount 
and the fair value are approximately the same, as the 
loans attract interest at the normal market rate.

The majority of trade payables, payables to affiliated 
entities and other financial liabilities not created by 
purchase price liabilities have short remaining terms. 
Their carrying amounts on the reporting date were 
therefore approximately the same as their fair values. 

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is 
measured by applying appropriate valuation methods. 
The corresponding assumptions are very largely based 
on market conditions on the balance sheet date.

The fair values of other financial liabilities (IFRS 3 
2008) resulting from purchase price liabilities were 
calculated on the basis of the discounted contingent 
consideration.

10.24. Financial instruments by category
The tables on the next page contain a breakdown of 
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities according to 
their valuation category and asset class.
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ASSEtS 

mEASUREmENt  
CAtEGoRy 

ACCoRdING  
to IAS 39

CARRyING 
AmoUNt 

31 dEC 2015
€ ‚000

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 63,702

Trade receivables LaR 14,747

Receivables from affiliated entities as well as from other long-term investees and investors LaR 462

Other assets 

   Other financial assets LaR 2,508

   Other non-financial assets n.a. 924

Shares in affiliated entities AfS 4

Other loans LaR 6,713

LIAbILItIES 

mEASUREmENt  
CAtEGoRy 

ACCoRdING  
to IAS 39

CARRyING 
AmoUNt 

31 dEC 2015
€ ‚000

Liabilities to banks  

Liabilities to banks FLAC 15,121

Derivatives without hedging relationship FLHfT 93

Trade payables FLAC 12,509

Liabilities to affiliated entities as well as to other long-term investees and investors FLAC 3,424

Other liabilities  

Other financial liabilities (IFRS 3 2008) no category 2,200

Other financial liabilities  FLAC 6,276

Other financial liabilities outside scope of IFRS 7 (IFRS 2) n.a. 4,140

Other non-financial liabilities n.a. 1,233

 

of which aggregated by measurement category as per IAS 39

Loans and receivables LaR 88,132

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost FLAC 37 ,330

Financial liabilities held for trading FLHfT 93

Available for sale AfS 4

ClassifiCation of the different Categories of finanCial instruments
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AmoUNt RECoGNISEd

AmoRtISEd 
CoSt
€ ‚000

ACqUISItIoN 
CoSt
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE Not 
RECoGNISEd  

IN INComE 
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE 
RECoGNISEd  

IN INComE 
€ ‚000

VALUAtIoN 
ACCoRdING  

to IAS 17
€ ‚000

CARRyING 
AmoUNt 

31 dEC 2015
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE
€ ‚000

63,702 63,702 63,702

14,747 14,747 14,747

462 462 462

    

2,508 2,508 2,508

4 4 4

6,713 6,713 6,713

AmoUNt RECoGNISEd

AmoRtISEd 
CoSt
€ ‚000

ACqUISItIoN 
CoSt
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE Not 
RECoGNISEd  

IN INComE 
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE 
RECoGNISEd  

IN INComE 
€ ‚000

VALUAtIoN 
ACCoRdING  

to IAS 17
€ ‚000

CARRyING 
AmoUNt 

31 dEC 2015
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE
€ ‚000

  

15,121 15,121 15,121

93 93 93

12,509 12,509 12,509 

3,424 3,424 3,424 

   

 2,200 2,200 2,200

6,276 6,276  6,276

 

   

     

      

 88,132 88,132 88,132

37,990 37,330 37,330

93 93 93

4  4 4
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ASSEtS 

mEASUREmENt  
CAtEGoRy 

ACCoRdING  
to IAS 39

CARRyING 
AmoUNt

31 dEC 2014
€ ‚000

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 26,640

Trade receivables LaR 26,122

Receivables from affiliated entities as well as from other long-term investees and investors LaR 476

Other assets 

Other financial assets LaR 2,854

Other non-financial assets n.a. 1,148

Shares in affiliated entities AfS 31

Long-term equity investments AfS 459

Other loans LaR 1,350

LIAbILItIES 

mEASUREmENt  
CAtEGoRy 

ACCoRdING  
to IAS 39

CARRyING 
AmoUNt

31 dEC 2014
€ ‚000

Liabilities to banks FLAC 55,342

Trade payables FLAC 12,232

Liabilities to affiliated entities as well as to other long-term investees and investors FLAC 3,532

Other liabilities 

Other financial liabilities (IFRS 3 2008) no category  5,867

Other financial liabilities no category 1,138

Other financial liabilities FLAC 8,844

Other financial liabilities outside scope of IFRS 7 (IFRS 2) n.a. 3,516

Other non-financial liabilities  n.a. 7,052

Derivatives without hedging relationship FLHfT 267

of which aggregated by measurement category as per IAS 39

Loans and receivables LaR 57,442

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost FLAC 79,950

Financial liabilities held for trading FLHfT 267

Available for sale AfS 490

ClassifiCation of the different Categories of finanCial instruments
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AmoUNt RECoGNISEd

AmoRtISEd 
CoSt
€ ‚000

ACqUISItIoN 
CoSt
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE Not 
RECoGNISEd  

IN INComE 
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE 
RECoGNISEd  

IN INComE 
€ ‚000

VALUAtIoN 
ACCoRdING  

to IAS 17
€ ‚000

CARRyING 
AmoUNt

31 dEC 2014
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE
€ ‚000

26,640 26,640 26,640

26,122 26,122 26,122

476 476 476

  

2,854 2,854 2,854

31 31 31

459 459 459

1,350 1,350 1,350

AmoUNt RECoGNISEd

AmoRtISEd 
CoSt
€ ‚000

ACqUISItIoN 
CoSt
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE Not 
RECoGNISEd  

IN INComE 
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE 
RECoGNISEd  

IN INComE 
€ ‚000

VALUAtIoN 
ACCoRdING  

to IAS 17
€ ‚000

CARRyING 
AmoUNt

31 dEC 2014 
€ ‚000

FAIR VALUE
€ ‚000

55,342 55,342 55,342

12,232 12,232 12,232

3,532 3,532 3,532

  

 5,867 5,867 5,867

1,138 1,138 1,138

8,844 8,844 8,844

   267  267 267

     

57,442 57,442 57,442

79,950 79,950 79,950

267 267 267

490  490 490
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10.25. Financial instruments – fair values
The above table shows the carrying amounts and fair 
values of financial assets and liabilities. It contains no 
information for financial assets and financial liabilities 
that were not measured at fair value if the carrying 
amount constitutes a reasonable approximation of the 
fair value.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
are allocated to the following levels in the fair value 
hierarchy (see section 7 ‘Determining fair value’).

Interest rate swaps with a hedging relationship to-
talling EUR 93 thousand (2014: EUR 267 thousand) 
were allocated to level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 
Contingent consideration totalling EUR 2,200 thousand 
(2014: EUR 5,867 thousand) was allocated to level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy.

There were no transfers between levels in the year 
under review. 

In accordance with IFRS 13, the fair value of the 
deriva tive financial instruments has to be allocated to 
level 3 and is calculated using suitable measurement 
techniques in the form of recognised actuarial valua-
tion models (mark-to-market) based on market prices. 

The valuation factors (e.g. exchange rates) can be 
observed directly or indirectly on active markets.

The below table shows the initial and closing figures 
for fair value measurement in level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy.

The change in fair value of the financial liabilities 
shown under level 3 mainly comprises EUR 3,828 
thousand from the settlement of an earn-out obligation 
towards jameda founders and additions of EUR 161 
thousand recognised in the statement of income in re-
spect of earn-out obligations towards the pre-takeover 
shareholders of WebAssets B.V.

As the acquired companies were not listed on the stock 
exchange, price quotations were not available. The 
fair value calculations were therefore allocated to level 
three of the fair value hierarchy. In the last case shown 
in the books on 31 December 2015 (earn-out obligation 
towards the pre-takeover shareholders of WebAssets 
B.V.) agreement was reached on a contractually fixed 
payment. It was therefore not necessary to calculate 
the fair value of the shares using discounted cash pay-
ment flows based on a probability-weighted average of 
the range of possible results.

initial and Closing figures for fair value measurement  
in level 3 of the fair value hierarChy

finanCial liaBilities 

CARRyING AmoUNt FAIR VALUE

31 dEC 2015 
EUR ’000

31 dec 2014 
EUR ’000

31 dEC 2015 
EUR ’000

31 dec 2014 
EUR ’000

Interest rate swap – hedging relationship 93 267 93 267

Contingent consideration 2,200 5,867 2,200 5,867

2015
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

At 1 January 5,867 29,327

Resulting from acquisition of remaining shares in WebAssets B.V. 0 -18,200

Resulting from payment of earn-out obligations -3,858 0

Total profit and loss - recorded in the statement of income +191 -5,260

At 31 december 2,200 5,867
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10.26. Financial risk management
A comprehensive risk management system for TFAG 
Group companies has been adopted and implemented 
by the Management Board. The risk management sys-
tem and financial risks are discussed in section 4.2 of 
the management report.

The company’s strategy can be characterised as risk-
averse. The company avoids entering into contracts 
and business relationships that at the time of signing 
could identifiably jeopardise its future, pose a threat to 
its liquidity or hamper its further development. 

Credit risk
In the risk management system, the Finance depart-
ment ensures that no credit limits are exceeded and 
that reminders are sent out at fortnightly intervals. The 
maximum extent of the potential bad debts to which 
the Group is exposed corresponds to the reported ag-
gregate amount of trade receivables and other financial 
instruments.

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither 
overdue nor impaired is determined by reference to 
external credit ratings (where available) or to past ex-
perience of the default ratios of the business partners 
concerned. The creditworthiness of financial assets 
that are neither overdue nor impaired is assumed. 
There are no securities or other credit improvement 
measures in place that would reduce the risk of default 
from financial assets. 

Investment strategy
If attractive terms are available, cash that is not needed 
in the short term is partly invested in fixed-term depos-
its and in cash holdings denominated in Swiss francs.

Currency risk
The currency risks to which the TFAG Group is 
exposed arise from its operating activities. Currency 
risks are partly hedged in as far as they affect the 
Group’s cash flows. Risks resulting from the translation 
of assets and liabilities of entities domiciled outside 
Germany into the Group’s presentation currency, on 
the other hand, are not generally hedged.

The operating activities of the individual companies 
in the Group are mainly conducted in the functional 
currency, i.e. the euro. However, some Group compa-
nies are exposed to foreign currency risks in relation to 
planned expenditure outside their functional currency. 
This primarily concerns the ongoing expenditure of 

HC in Swiss francs (CHF). TFAG makes regular use of 
currency forwards (cash flow hedges) to hedge these 
payments in advance. 

Assuming all other variables remained constant, if 
there had been a 10 percent change in the EUR/CHF 
exchange rate as at 31 December 2015, net income/
(loss) for the year as a whole would have been EUR 
1,490 thousand (2014: EUR 2,009 thousand) higher or 
EUR 1,821 thousand lower (2014: EUR 2,455 thou-
sand).

Assuming all other variables remained constant, if 
there had been a 10 percent change in the EUR/PLN 
exchange rate as at 31 December 2015, net income/
(loss) for the year as a whole would have been EUR 
6 thousand higher (2014: EUR 5 thousand) or EUR 5 
thousand lower (2014: EUR 4 thousand).

Liquidity risk
The aim of TFAG’s business policy is to continue to 
achieve a positive cash flow in the future. In order to 
retain sufficient flexibility, financing instruments are 
selected that offer the most suitable maturities and 
corresponding liquidity. The risk of a shortfall in cash 
is monitored by holding periodic cash planning meet-
ings.

As at 31 December 2015, liabilities to banks amount-
ed to EUR 15,214 thousand (EUR 55,342 thousand in 
2014).
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The table above shows the maturity dates for 
the Group’s liabilities. The figures are based on 
 contractual, undiscounted payments.

In addition to the mandatory disclosures, both tables 
contain other financial liabilities that fall outside the 
scope of IFRS 7 (in respect of other liabilities from em-
ployee stock option plans disclosed under IFRS 2).

10.27. Additional disclosures on capital management
The capital management policy at TFAG is primarily 
geared towards ensuring that adequate financing is 
available for the Group’s long-term growth. 

Reflecting common practice within the industry, the  
Group monitors its capital on the basis of its debt- 
to-capital ratio (the ratio between net debt and total 
capital). Net debt is made up of total debt (including 
financial liabilities, trade payables and other liabilities 
as per the consolidated balance sheet) less cash and 
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated by adding 
the consolidated balance sheet figure for equity and 
net debt.

Equity increased by 34.6 percent in the financial year 
2015, mainly as a result of the positive figure for con-
solidated net income after taxes. 

maturity dates for liaBilities

2016
EUR ’000

2017-2019
EUR ’000

FRom 2020
EUR ’000

Liabilities to banks 15,345 0 0

Trade payables, liabilities to affiliated entities as well as 
to other long-term investors and investees 15,933 0 0

Other financial liabilities 8,476 0 0

Other financial liabilities outside the scope of IFRS 7 2,978 1,162 0

2015
EUR ’000

2016-2018
EUR ’000

FRom 2019
EUR ’000

Liabilities to banks 1,686 17,048 41,600

Trade payables, liabilities to affiliated entities as well as 
to other long-term investors and investees 15,764 0 0

Other financial liabilities 14,945 1,255 0

Other financial liabilities outside the scope of IFRS 7 1,628 1,888 0
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The ratio of equity to total capital improved thanks to 
a positive figure for consolidated net income/(loss). At 
the same time, the debt-to-capital ratio fell substantial-
ly as a result of lower borrowings and higher equity. 

In terms of capital management, the Group’s aims are 
to safeguard the company as a going concern, and 
thus continue to generate income for shareholders and 

provide other interested parties with the payments to 
which they are entitled. A further target is to maintain 
the most efficient capital structure possible in order to 
reduce capital costs.

The equity ratio helps the Group to monitor its capital, 
i.e. the equity shown in the consolidated balance sheet. 

performanCe indiCators inCluding disContinued operations

performanCe indiCators for Continuing operations

INdICAtoR mEthod oF CALCULAtIoN 31 dEC 2015
EUR ’000

31 dEC 2014
EUR ’000

Equity ratio Equity / total assets 76.3% 53.7%

Return on equity Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes / equity 25.2% -2.9%

Return on investment Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes / total capital 19.2% -1.6%

Debt-to-capital ratio Net debt / equity 31.1% 86.4%

INdICAtoR mEthod oF CALCULAtIoN 31 dEC 2015
EUR ’000

31 dEC 2014
EUR ’000

Return on equity Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes / equity -9.7% 5.5%

143
Tomorrow focus AG 2015

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



11. nOTeS TO The COnSOlidATed 
STATeMenT OF inCOMe

11.1. Revenue 
A breakdown of the Group’s revenue is shown in the 
following table:

A geographical breakdown of revenue can be found in 
the segment report.

Commission revenue is generated from travel and 
hotel bookings made using the Group’s portals. The 
increase in commission revenue is largely due to a rise 
in the volume of travel booking referrals made by HC.

online advertising revenue was also up on the pre-
vious year thanks to a good performance from Holiday-
Check and WebAssets and increased traffic.

11.2. other income
Other operating income recognised in the financial 
statements for 2015 stood at EUR 3,049 thousand 
(2014: EUR 4,756 thousand). This mainly relates to 
other income of EUR 1,239 thousand (2014: EUR 3,664 
thousand), of which the main constituent in 2014 was 
non-recurring income of EUR 1,587 thousand from the 
reversal of a put/call option linked to TFAG’s acqui-
sition of the remaining 49.01 percent of the shares in 
WebAssets (see section 9.2 of the notes). The figure for 
2014 also includes non-recurring income of EUR 393 
thousand from the revaluation of earn-outs for WebAs-
sets.

In addition, other income was generated by the 
derecognition of liabilities totalling EUR 311 thousand 
(2014: EUR 350 thousand), out-of-period income of 
EUR 121 thousand (2014: EUR 225 thousand) and 
the reversal of provisions totalling EUR 155 thousand 
(2014: EUR 362 thousand).

11.3. other own work capitalised
Other own work capitalised amounting to EUR 3,345 
thousand (EUR 3,171 thousand in 2014) mainly con-
cerns the capitalisation of software produced in-house 
by the Travel segment. The year-on-year increase 
reflects an ongoing push to develop IT and mobile ap-
plications for use within the Group together with other 
software solutions, although it is also due to updating 
and extensive remodelling of websites. 

11.4. Cost of materials 
Materials costs are predominantly incurred by HC. 
They relate primarily to bought-in production-related 
IT services and software licences.

11.5. Research and development costs
In the Travel segment, development activities are de-
centralised and conducted within the companies them-
selves. Development costs that can be capitalised are 
shown in the balance sheet as self-produced software 
(see also section 11.3 ‘Other own work capitalised’).

Research expenses do not apply as each development 
project is linked to the goal of introducing specific 
functionality.

11.6. Number of employees and personnel costs 
On average over the financial year 2015 the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group’s continuing operations employed 
387 full-time equivalents (FTEs). The corresponding 
figure for 2014 was 377 FTEs.

Average headcount over the financial year (including 
Management Board members) for the Group’s continu-
ing operations:

group’s revenue

2015
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Commission revenue 88,166 84,634

Online advertising 
revenue 13,852 12,836

Other revenue 2,379 2,670

total 104,397 100,140

average numBer of employees

FtES IN 
2015

FtES IN 
2014

Management Board members of 
the parent company

3 3

Managing directors and chief 
executives of the subsidiaries 3 3

Holders of general commercial 
power of attorney  
(Prokurist under German law) 3 1

Staff 378 370

total 387 377
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In the financial year 2015, personnel costs amounted to 
EUR 32,052 thousand (EUR 26,355 thousand in 2014). 
Out of this total, EUR 1,456 thousand was attributable 
to old-age pensions (defined-benefit plans) (EUR 1,091 
thousand in 2014) and EUR 1,754 thousand to other 
social security expenses (EUR 1,676 thousand in 2014).

The figure for personnel expenses includes severance 
payments of EUR 3,287 thousand (EUR 139 thousand 
in 2014) in connection with the termination of employ-
ment contracts. Personnel costs from the long-term 
incentive (LTI) programme totalling EUR 679 thousand 
(minus EUR 356 thousand in 2014) are also included 
(see section 10.15. of the notes). 

11.7. other expenses
See table above. The increase in advertising expenses is 
primarily due to HC, which spent much more on adver-
tising on a positive cost-to-revenue ratio (ratio below 1). 

In the reporting period, EUR 4,222 thousand was 
spent on rent (EUR 3,305 thousand in 2014). This 
was largely in relation to office space and servers and 
additions to provisions for onerous contracts at Web-
Assets and TFAG. As regards the binding force of the 
tenancy, rental and leasing agreements, reference is 
made to section 15.2. ‘Contingent liabilities and other 
liabilities’.

Legal, consulting and audit costs arose primarily in 
connection with in-house audit expenses incurred by 

the Group, general consultancy expenses, legal dis-
putes and statutory audit costs (cf. also section 15.8. 
‘Auditor’s fees’).

Ancillary personnel costs include recruitment fees 
and subsidised staff catering arrangements.

Services mainly refers to IT services, and agency or 
business management agreements.

The figure shown for licences consists of various li-
cence costs that are not directly linked to revenue. The 
increase in 2014 is due to greater activity at HC.

Communication and information expenses largely 
relate to telecommunications, further professional 
training and market research.

The distribution and marketing costs are largely 
made up of sales commission, costs for the acquisition 
of new subscriptions, travelling expenses and enter-
tainment costs, and were mainly incurred by TFAG 
and HC. 

bad debts mainly affect HC and also include customer 
goodwill. 

other expenses mainly include price and currency 
differences, operating expenses such as repairs and 
maintenance, charges and premiums, money transac-
tion costs and insurance.

other expenses

2015
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Advertising expenses 48,290 37,744

Rent 4,222 3,305

Legal, consulting and audit costs 3,739 2,934

Ancillary personnel costs 2,841 1,984

Services 1,985 1,805

Licences 1,296 1,207

Communication/information expenses 963 1,084

Distribution and marketing costs 910 1,199

Bad debts 720 460

Administrative expenses 535 1,150

Levies, contributions and charges 534 323

Currency differences 534 136

Expenses relating to other periods 316 132

Other expenses 1,966 791

total 68,851 54,254
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11.8. Financial income
Total financial income of EUR 290 thousand (EUR 241 
thousand in 2014) was made up of interest and similar 
income.

In future the success of the company’s investment 
strategy will be largely determined by interest rate 
movements on the capital and money markets.

11.9. Financial expenses
The financial expenses of EUR 2,150 thousand (EUR 
3,658 thousand in 2014) result mainly from interest 
expenses of EUR 1,650 thousand (EUR 2,638 thousand 
in 2014). Interest expenses also include expenses from 
compounding in the sum of EUR 84 thousand (EUR 
349 thousand in 2014) and financing-related interest 
expenses of EUR 1,566 thousand (EUR 2,289 thousand 
in 2014). The financial expenses item for 2014 includ-
ed dividends to former shareholders of Zoover total-
ling EUR 984 thousand. The figure for 2015 includes 
amortisation of EUR 500 thousand (EUR 0 thousand in 
2014) in respect of financial assets.

11.10. Net results according to valuation category
The valuation adjustments to trade receivables and the 
fair value measurement of derivatives without a hedg-
ing relationship (which fall into the loans and receiv-
ables category) are recognised under other operating 
expenses. All other components of the net result with 
an impact on profit or loss are included in the financial 
result, see table above.

12. nOTeS On SeGMenT RePORTinG 

The following table shows the Group’s segment struc-
ture up to 31 December 2014. 

The above segment structure was wound up following 
disposals of former Group companies in the Publishing 
and Subscription segments in 2015. 

From 1 April 2015, the segment report has been divi-
ded into the Travel and Holding/Other segments. These 
are also the primary segments of the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group. See segment report on pages 96 to 97.

The Group’s operating segment ‘Travel’ encompasses 
all the companies that mainly generate revenue from 
transaction-based online business models in the field 
of travel and weather. 

HolidayCheck AG (Bottighofen, Switzerland) and 
WebAssets B.V. (Zeist, Netherlands) operate a range of 
hotel rating and holiday booking portals that generate 
revenue in the form of commission from package tours 
and hotel bookings and from website links that take 
visitors to other booking portals.

The core sales markets for these web portals are Aus-
tria, Belgium, Germany, the Netherlands, Poland and 
Switzerland.

net results of valuation Categories

2015
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (FLAC) -1,328 -2,444

Loans and receivables (LaR) -835 -1,804

Financial liabilities held for trading (FLHfT) -6 -243

total -2,169 -4,491
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WebAssets B.V. also operates advertising-based 
weather portals. Reflecting the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group’s new operational focus and the obvious link 
between weather and travel, a decision was taken to 
reallocate MeteoVista to the Group’s Travel segment. 
In 2014 it was included in the Publishing segment.

The main source of revenue is online advertising, and 
the core sales markets are Belgium, Germany and the 
Netherlands.

Segment reporting is based on the Group’s internal 
management and reporting structures. As the princi-
pal decision-making body, the Management Board of 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG is responsible for decisions 
on the allocation of resources to business segments 
and for the evaluation of their profitability. 

The reference figures for the previous year have been 
adjusted accordingly for the new structure.

Intragroup transactions are eliminated during consol-
idation. Revenue generated between the segments is 
based on normal market prices.

The accounting and valuation methods used to produce 
the segment information are generally identical to the 
accounting and valuation principles of the Group as a 
whole.

Transfers between the segments were evaluated and 
invoiced on the basis of full costs. 

The geographical information reflects the location of 
the company’s registered office.

None of the TF Group’s customers generated more 
than 10 percent of the Group’s total consolidated 
revenue. 

The accounting and valuation methods used for those 
segments subject to statutory disclosure are based on 
the principles described in section 6 ‘Accounting and 
valuation methods’.

segment struCture up to 31 deCemBer 2014

SEGmENt ComPANIES 

Travel • HolidayCheck AG, Bottighofen, Switzerland
• Tomorrow Travel Solutions GmbH, Munich, Germany
• HolidayCheck Polska Sp. zo.o., Warsaw, Poland
• Tomorrow Travel B.V., Zeist, Netherlands
•  WebAssets B.V., Zeist, Netherlands, and its subsidiaries  

(excluding the subsidiary MeteoVista B.V., Zeist, Netherlands)
• RPC Voyages SAS, Courbevoie, France (up to 1 October 2014)

Publishing •  TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH (formerly TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH)
•  TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH  

(formerly TOMORROW FOCUS Media Sales GmbH)
•  TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH
•  Tomorrow Focus Content & Services GmbH
• MeteoVista B.V., Zeist, Netherlands

Subscription •  EliteMedianet GmbH
• jameda GmbH
• organize.me GmbH

Holding/Other Business activities that cannot be allocated to any other segment are shown under ‘Other’.  
This primarily relates to the holding company role of TOMORROW FOCUS AG and to  
TF Digital GmbH. 
Following the sale of Cellular in November 2014, the business activities of Cellular (up to 
 November 2014) were recognised separately as discontinued B2B operations.
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13. nOTeS TO The COnSOlidATed 
STATeMenT OF CASh FlOWS

The statement of cash flows shows how the Group’s 
cash and cash equivalents changed during the course 
of the reporting period through inflows and outflows 
of cash. In accordance with IAS 7 (Statement of Cash 
Flows), a distinction is made between operating 
activities, investing activities and financing activities. 
The Group applies the indirect method for cash flows 
from operating activities and the direct method for 
cash flows from financing and investing activities. The 
liquidity shown in the financial statement includes cash 
on hand and cash at banks.

14. evenTS AFTeR The  
bAlAnCe SheeT dATe

The Supervisory Board of TFAG approved the release 
of this annual report on 21 March 2016. At that point, 
with the following exceptions, no significant events had 
occurred after the balance sheet date.

 tomoRRow  FoCUS AG sells assets of subsidiary 
organize.me Gmbh in two asset deals
On 1 February 2016  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG sold all 
the main assets of organize.me GmbH in two asset 
deals for a total of EUR 1,080 thousand. The com-
pany’s B2B activities and assets were sold to a third 
party (EUR 1,000 thousand), whereas parts of its B2C 
operations will be reused within the Group (EUR 80 
thousand). The B2C online storage services and app 
were closed down on 29 February 2016.

 tomoRRow  FoCUS AG opts for early settlement of 
earn-out obligations from the purchase of additional 
shares in webAssets b.V. 
In February 2016  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG concluded 
a settlement agreement with the pre-takeover share-
holders of WebAssets B.V. in respect of its remaining 
earn-out obligations. Under the terms of the agree-
ment,  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG settled all its obliga-
tions (except a retained amount of EUR 100 thousand 
as security) through a payment of EUR 2,100 thousand. 
The obligation was then immediately valued at the 
repayment figure. The revaluation created an expense 
of EUR 134 thousand.

15. OTheR diSClOSUReS

15.1. Related parties 
The Group is controlled by Burda Digital GmbH. The 
consolidated financial statements of TFAG are there-
fore included in the sub-group financial statements 
of Burda GmbH, Offenburg, Germany (which holds 
the shares in Burda Digital GmbH) and in the group 
financial statements of Hubert Burda Media Holding 
Kommanditgesellschaft, Offenburg, Germany. The 
consolidated financial statements are submitted to 
the operator of Germany’s electronic Federal Gazette 
(Bundesanzeiger) for publication. 

In addition to the entities included in the consolidated 
financial statements of TFAG, the entities making up 
the Hubert Burda Media Group are closely related to 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, as are persons and entities in 
the management structure of TFAG and in the Hubert 
Burda Media Group that exert a significant influence 
on financial and business policies, including close fami-
ly members and intermediate entities.

All transactions with related entities primarily concern 
services as defined by IAS 24.21c. Any transactions 
between related persons were concluded on arm’s 
length basis at the conditions that apply to transactions 
between third parties.

Balances and transactions between TFAG and its 
subsidiaries, which constitute related parties, were 
eliminated in full as part of the consolidation process 
and are not included in these notes. The following 
table shows a list of the transactions entered into with 
related parties.

Under the terms of a purchase and transfer agreement 
dated 20 March 2015, TFAG sold all shares held in TO-
MORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH to Burda Digital 
GmbH. The agreement took effect on 30 April 2015. 
The purchase price was EUR 30,197 thousand.

Under the terms of a purchase and transfer agreement 
dated 6 November 2015, TFAG sold all shares held in 
jameda GmbH to Burda Digital GmbH. The agreement 
took effect on 31 December 2015. The purchase price 
was EUR 46,813 thousand, of which EUR 26 thousand 
of post-sale consideration remained due at the end of 
the year.
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Out of the total, the discontinued operations of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing sub-Group (up to April 
2015) and the companies from the former Subscription 
segment provided goods and services of EUR 1,995 
thousand (2014: EUR 5,251 thousand) and received 

goods and services of EUR 995 thousand (2014: EUR 
1,493 thousand).

The following balances remained outstanding at the 
end of the reporting period: 

revenue and other inCome

2015
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 2,499 4,792

Long-term equity investments of TFAG 179 427

Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 52 161

Burda Digital GmbH 0 4

totAL 2,730 5,384

work and serviCes purChased / other operating expenses

reCeivaBles

2015
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 1,774 2,423

Burda Digital GmbH 103 0

Long-term equity investments of TFAG 25 23

Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 1 283

totAL 1,903 2,729

31 dEC 2015
EUR ’000

31 dEC 2014
EUR ’000

Burda Digital GmbH 25 0

Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 3 407

Long-term equity investments of TFAG 0 69

totAL 28 476

liaBilities 

31 dEC 2015
EUR ’000

31 dEC 2014
EUR ’000

Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 37 3,395

Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 0 28

Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 0 108

Long-term equity investments of TFAG 0 1

totAL 37 3,532
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The outstanding balances at the end of the reporting 
period are unsecured and do not bear interest. They 
are settled by cash payment. There are no guarantees 
in place in respect of receivables from and payables to 
related parties. There were no adjustments to the value 
of receivables from related parties in 2015 (2014: EUR 
0 thousand). 

Liabilities to related parties 
Liabilities to related parties mainly include obligations 
in respect of rent and leasing agreements and agency 
agreements for services provided by various entities 
in the Burda Group (cf. also section 15.2 of the notes 
relating to contingent liabilities and other liabilities). 
There were no liabilities towards related persons as at 
the balance sheet dates.

Remuneration of persons in key Group positions
The following remuneration was paid to members of 
the Management Board and Supervisory Board as con-
sideration for their work:

•  The emoluments paid to the members of the Super-
visory board in the reporting period amounted to 
a total of EUR 195 thousand (EUR 195 thousand in 
2014). In the previous year, the company incurred 
expenses of EUR 55 thousand from a contract for 
services with a law firm to which a member of the 
Supervisory Board belonged up to June 2014. 

•  In the reporting period the emoluments paid to 
the members of the management board of TFAG 
amounted to a total of EUR 3,026 thousand (EUR 
1,264 thousand in 2014). This includes remunera-
tion of EUR 1,340 thousand (2014: EUR 0 thousand) 
in respect of the early termination of Management 
Board service contracts, variable components 
amounting to EUR 204 thousand (EUR 225 thou-
sand in 2014) and share-based payments of EUR 
341 thousand (minus EUR 94 thousand in 2014). 
Out of the total for share-based payments, EUR 15 
thousand (2014: minus EUR 3 thousand) is attribut-
able to former members of the Management Board. 
In addition two members of the Management Board 
were provided with a company car.

With a qualified majority, the general meeting of 
shareholders held on 1 June 2011 passed a resolution 
to make use of the opt-out clause. This means that 
 TOMORROW  FOCUS AG is exempted up to and includ-
ing the year 2015 from the statutory obligation to make 
separate disclosure of the remuneration paid to its 
officers and directors.

The company has liabilities to members of the Supervi-
sory Board in the sum of EUR 195 thousand (EUR 182 
thousand in 2014). It also has liabilities of EUR 2,564 
thousand to Management Board members (EUR 1,715 
thousand in 2014), of which EUR 1,135 thousand (EUR 
0 thousand in 2014) are liabilities for remuneration 
in respect of the early termination of Management 
Board service contracts, and EUR 332 thousand (EUR 
571 thousand in 2014) are liabilities for share-based 
payments to former members of the Management 
Board. There were no receivables from members of the 
Supervisory Board or the Management Board.

As regards the presentation of TFAG’s Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board, we refer to our 
comments in section 15.6 of the notes relating to the 
Management Board and in section 15.7 relating to the 
Supervisory Board.

The company has neither granted loans to members 
of TFAG’s Management Board nor stood surety and/or 
given any other types of guarantee for these persons. 

As at the balance sheet date, the total number of no-
par value shares in the company held by members of 
the Management Board was 26,600 (131,600 in 2014).

As at the balance sheet date, the total number of 
shares in the company held directly or indirectly by 
members of the Supervisory Board in accordance with 
section 15a paragraph 3 of the German Securities 
Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG) was 
104,799 (275,551 in 2014).

15.2. Contingent liabilities and other liabilities 
As part of its business activities, TFAG assumed con-
tingent liabilities and other liabilities in relation to a 
large number of underlying events. 

TFAG issued a liquidity guarantee with no specific 
limit on behalf of three subsidiaries. These guarantees 
oblige TFAG to provide enough financing to ensure the 
continued operation of the subsidiaries. 

According to the latest information available, the 
parties to the guarantee are in a position to meet the 
underlying obligations in all cases. It is not expected 
that the guarantee will need to be exercised.

The following tables show the Group’s other financial 
liabilities as at the balance sheet date: see table on top 
of the next page.
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The liabilities primarily arise from rental and leasing 
contracts for buildings, IT systems and office machin-
ery. These contracts usually run for 12 to 60 months 
and more than 60 months in exceptional cases. The 
economic risks and rewards remain with the owner due 
to obligations to return the items and rights to require 
purchase. 

The other contracts mainly relate to service contracts 
with various entities in the Burda Group (business 
management) and other providers.

other finanCial liaBilities in 2015

other finanCial liaBilities in 2014

 

totAL
EUR ’000

oF whICh dUE  
to othER bURdA 
GRoUP ENtItIES

EUR ’000

1. Under tenancy and leasing agreements temporary

Due in 2016 1,995 0

Due between 2017 and 2020 4,597 0

Due after 2020 0 0

total 6,592 0

2. Liabilities under other contracts temporary

Due in 2016 463 223

Due between 2017 and 2020 58 0

Due after 2020 0 0

total 521 223

 

totAL
EUR ’000

oF whICh dUE  
to othER bURdA 
GRoUP ENtItIES

EUR ’000

1. Under tenancy and leasing agreements temporary

Due in 2015 2,701 0

Due between 2016 and 2019 1,772 0

Due after 2019 0 0

total 4,473 0

2. Liabilities under other contracts temporary

Due in 2015 4,022 628

Due between 2016 and 2019 17 0

Due after 2019 53 0

total 4,092 628
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15.3. Long-term equity interests in the company as 
defined by section 21 paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the 
German Securities trading Act in conjunction with 
section 160 paragraph 1 number 8 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act 
The following table shows the shareholder structure 
and lists the acquisitions or disposals in financial 2015 
that were subject to mandatory disclosure under sec-
tion 21 paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the German Securi-
ties Trading Act. 

15.4. Section 25 paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the Ger-
man Securities trading Act
In the financial year 2015, the following notifications 
were received in relation to section 25 paragraph 1 
sentence 1 of the German Securities Trading Act:

On 7 April 2015, Allianz Global Investors GmbH, Frank-
furt am Main, Germany, notified the company pursuant 
to section 21, paragraph 1 of the German  Securities Trad-
ing Act that its share of the voting rights in  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG, Munich, Germany, on 2 April 2015 had 
exceeded the 3 percent threshold and on that date had 
stood at 3.28 percent (equals 1,912,145 voting rights).

On 27 April 2015, Baden-Württembergische Ver-
sorgungsanstalt für Ärzte, Zahnärzte und Tierärzte 
(the provider for the statutory pension scheme in the 
federal state of Baden-Württemberg), based in Tübin-
gen, Germany, notified the company pursuant to sec-
tion 21, paragraph 1 of the German Securities Trading 
Act that its share of the voting rights in  TOMORROW 
 FOCUS AG, Munich, Germany, on 27 April 2015 had 

fallen below the 3 percent threshold and on that date 
had stood at 2.98 percent (equals 1,740,000 voting 
rights).

On 29 April 2015, LBBW Asset Management Invest-
mentgesellschaft mbH, Stuttgart, Germany, notified 
the company pursuant to section 21, paragraph 1 of 
the German Securities Trading Act that its share of 
the voting rights in  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, Munich, 
Germany, on 27 April 2015 had fallen below the 3 
percent threshold and on that date had stood at 2.98 
percent (equals 1,740,000 voting rights). In accordance 
with section 22, paragraph 1, sentence 1, number 6 
of the German Securities Trading Act, 2.98 percent of 
the voting rights (equals 1,740,000 voting rights) are 
attributable to the company. 

15.5. Corporate governance
The company has made the declaration required under 
section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act 
for this financial year and published it on its website 
(http://www.tomorrow-focus.com) for perusal by the 
shareholders in December 2015.

The company is included in the consolidated financial 
statements of the sub-Group Burda GmbH, Offen-
burg, Germany (smallest reporting entity) and in the 
consolidated financial statements of Hubert Burda 
Media Holding Kommanditgesellschaft, Offenburg, 
Germany (largest reporting entity). These consoli dated 
financial statements are submitted for publication to 
the operator of the electronic Federal Gazette (Bun-
desanzeiger).

aCquisitions or disposals suBjeCted to mandatory disClosure 

ShAREhoLdER

LASt REPoRtEd 
ShARE oF 

 VotING RIGhtS
dAtE oF 

NotIFICAtIoN 

Baden-Württembergische Versorgungsanstalt für Ärzte, Zahnärzte und Tierärzte,  
Tübingen, Germany 2.98%

27 April 2015

LBBW Asset Management Investmentgesellschaft mbH, Stuttgart, Germany 2.98%1) 29 April 2015

Allianz Global Investors GmbH 3.28% 7 April 2015

Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Investment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 8.50% 17 September 2014

Burda Digital GmbH, Munich, Germany (subsidiary of Burda GmbH) 63.61% 20 October 2010 2)

Burda GmbH, Offenburg, Germany 63.61%3) 20 October 2010

Deutsche Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 5.04%4) 13 December 2006

1) of which 2.98 percent held indirectly
2) Three notifications contained the same share of voting rights.

3) of which 63.61 percent held indirectly
4) of which 5.04 percent held indirectly
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15.6. management board
In the financial year 2015, the following persons held 
positions as Management Board members of the com-
pany with rights of representation, either jointly with 
another member of the Management Board or together 
with a holder of general commercial power of attorney 
(Prokurist under German law): (see table above).

The remit of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG’s new Chair-
person of the Management Board, Georg Hesse, who 
joined the company on 1 January 2016, includes the 
functions and areas listed below:

•  information and consultation with  
the Supervisory Board; 

• overall strategy and corporate development; 
• human resources;
• Group communications;
• Group internal audit.

In his position on the Management Board, Dr Dirk 
Schmelzer has responsibility for the functions and 
areas shown below (as at 1 January 2016):

•  financial control, reporting, risk management  
and internal control systems;

•  financial management of long-term equity 
 investments; 

• financing and bank relations;
• external financial reporting;
• investor relations;
• legal, contract and tax management;
• general administration and purchasing.

The Chief Operating Officer, Timo Salzsieder is respon-
sible for the functions and areas shown below (as at 1 
January 2016):

•  product development and operation of all the  
brands owned by  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG;

• IT units (Development and Operation);
•  product and user experience (UX) including 

 interaction/visual design.

According to its articles of association, the company 
is represented by two members of the Management 
Board or by one member of the Management Board 
jointly with one holder of general commercial power 
of attorney (Prokurist under German law). If only one 
Management Board member has been appointed, this 
member represents the company alone. The members 
of the Management Board represent the company as 
set out in the articles of association.

management Board

PoSItIoN SUPERVISoRy boARd mANdAtES

Antonius Bouten 
(up to 30 June 2015)

Chairperson of the  
Management Board (CEO)

Chairperson of the Board of Directors, HolidayCheck AG, 
Bottighofen, Switzerland (up to 30 June 2015)

Dr Dirk Schmelzer Member of the  
Management Board (CFO)

Member of the Board of Directors, HolidayCheck AG, 
Bottighofen, Switzerland; (Chairperson of the Board of 
Directors from 1 July 2015) Member of the Advisory 
Board, Munich Business School, Munich, Germany

Christoph Schuh  
(up to 31 December 2015)

Member of the  
Management Board

Timo Salzsieder  
(from 1 September 2015)

Member of the Management 
Board (COO)
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15.8. Auditor’s fees
The fees paid to the accountants were recognised as 
expenses in the financial year and amounted to EUR 
385 thousand for the audit (EUR 271 thousand in 
2014), EUR 0 (EUR 0 thousand in 2014) for other as-
surance services and EUR 6 thousand (EUR 1 thousand 
in 2014) for other services.

15.9. Exemption from the requirement to prepare an-
nual financial statements in accordance with section 
264 paragraph 3 of the German Commercial Code 
The following subsidiaries of  TOMORROW  FOCUS AG, 
which were included in the consolidated financial 
statements and meet all other preconditions, have opt-
ed to make use of the exemption pursuant to section 
264 paragraph 3 of the German Commercial Code:

a. Tomorrow Travel Solutions GmbH

15.7. Supervisory board

PoSItIoN oCCUPAtIoN /  othER SUPERVISoRy boARd mANdAtES

Stefan Winners Chairperson of the 
Supervisory Board

Management Board Member, National Digital Brands, Hubert Burda Media 
Holding Kommanditgesellschaft, Munich, Germany;
Chairperson of the Supervisory Board, XING AG, Hamburg, Germany;
Chairperson of the Advisory Board, BurdaForward GmbH, Munich, Germany 
(since 15 July 2015);
Member of the Supervisory Board, zooplus AG, Munich, Germany;
Member of the Advisory Board, Cyberport GmbH, Dresden, Germany;
Member of the Supervisory and Advisory Boards, Giesecke & Devrient 
GmbH, Munich, Germany

Dr Andreas Rittstieg Member of the 
Supervisory Board

Chief Legal and Compliance Officer, Hubert Burda Media Group,  
Munich, Germany;
Member of the Supervisory Board, Brenntag AG,  
Mühlheim an der Ruhr, Germany;
Member of the Advisory Board, Huesker Holding GmbH, Gescher, Germany;
Member of the Board of Directors, Kühne Holding AG,  
Schindellegi, Switzerland; 
Member of the Board of Directors, Mode Media Corporation,  
Brisbane/ California, USA (since 30 September 2015)

Dr Dirk Altenbeck Deputy Chairperson of 
the Supervisory Board

Tax consultant Managing partner, PKF Issing Faulhaber Wozar Altenbeck 
GmbH & Co. KG (accountants and tax consultants), Würzburg, Germany

Holger Taubmann Member of the 
Supervisory Board

Senior Vice President Distribution, Amadeus IT Group, Madrid, Spain;
Member of the Supervisory Board, CPC AG, Frankfurt am Main, Germany;
(up to December 2015) 
Chairperson of the Supervisory Board, IFAO AG, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Aliz Tepfenhart Member of the 
Supervisory Board
(from 16 June 2015)

Managing Director, Burda Digital GmbH, Munich, Germany;
Chairperson of the Advisory Board, Cyberport GmbH, Dresden, Germany;
Member of the Advisory Board, BurdaForward GmbH, Munich, Germany
(since 15 July 2015)

Dr Thomas Döring Member of the 
Supervisory Board
(from 16 June 2015)

Managing Director, Delaunay Capital, Traunstein, Germany

Philipp Welte Member of the 
Supervisory Board
(up to 16 June 2015)

Management Board Member National Media Brands, Hubert Burda Media 
Holding Kommanditgesellschaft, Munich, Germany;
Member of the Supervisory Board, Blue Ocean Entertainment AG, 
Stuttgart, Germany;
Shareholder representative, MZV GmbH & Co. KG, Unterschleißheim, Germany; 
Advisory Board, Burda Hearst Publishing GmbH, Munich, Germany

Martin Weiss Aufsichtsratsmitglied 
(up to 16 June 2015)

Managing Director Digitalmarken International Hubert Burda Media Holding 
Kommanditgesellschaft, Offenburg
Non-Executive Director (Aufsichtsrat) of “Milvik AB” Stockholm, Sweden
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15.10. Authorisation to publish the  
annual financial statements
On 21 March 2016, the Management Board released 
TFAG’s consolidated financial statements and consoli-
dated management report for presentation to the

Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board is expected 
to approve the consolidated financial statements and 
release them for publication on 21 March 2016.

Georg hesse timo Salzsieder dr dirk Schmelzer
Chairperson of the Management Board Member of the Management Board Member of the Management Board
(Chief Executive Officer) (Chief Operating Officer) (Chief Financial Officer)

Munich, Germany, 21 March 2016
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Auditor’s report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
prepared by the TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Munich, 
Germany, comprising the consolidated balance sheet, 
consolidated income statement and consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity, consolidated cash flow 
statement and the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, together with the group management 
report of the TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Munich, Germa
ny, for the business year from 1 January to 31 Decem
ber 2015. The preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report in 
accordance with the IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, and 
the additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to § (Article) 315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 HGB 
(„Handelsgesetzbuch“: German Commercial Code) is 
the responsibility of the parent Company‘s Board of 
Managing Directors. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 
the group management report based on our audit. 
 We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and German 
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial 
statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaft
sprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Germany) (IDW). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit such that misstatements materially affecting 
the presentation of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations in the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable financial 
reporting framework and in the group management 
report are detected with reasonable assurance. Know
ledge of the business activities and the economic and 
legal environment of the Group and expectations as to 
possible misstatements are taken into account in the 
determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness 
of the accountingrelated internal control system and 

the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consol
idated financial statements and in the group manage
ment report are examined primarily on a test basis 
within the framework of the audit. The audit includes 
assessing the annual financial statements of those enti
ties included in consolidation, the determination of the 
entities to be included in consolidation, the account
ing and consolidation principles used and significant 
estimates made by the Company‘s Board of Managing 
Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit the 
consolidated financial statements comply with the 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional require
ments of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a 
Abs. 1 HGB and give a true and fair view of the net 
assets, financial position and results of operations of 
the Group in accordance with these requirements. The 
group management report is consistent with the con
solidated financial statements and as a whole provides 
a suitable view of the Group‘s position and suitably 
presents the opportunities and risks of future develop
ment.

Munich, Germany, 21 March 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Andreas Eigel Alexander Fiedler
German Public Auditor German Public Auditor

Information about the auditor
The accountancy firm PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktien
gesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft (PwC), 
Frankfurt am Main, Munich office, Bernhard Wicki
Strasse 8, 80636 München, Germany, has audited the 
singleentity and consolidated financial statements of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG since the financial year 2007. 
Andreas Eigel and Alexander Fiedler have had lead 

responsibility for the audits since the financial year 
2014. The fees paid to the accountants were recog
nised as expenses in the financial year and amounted 
to EUR 385 thousand for the audit (EUR 271 thousand 
in 2014), EUR 0 thousand (EUR 0 thousand in 2014) for 
other assurance services and EUR 6 thousand (EUR 1 
thousand in 2014) for other services.
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IT IS OUR VISION  
TO BECOME THE MOST 

HOLIDAYMAKER-ORIENTED 
COMPANY IN THE WORLD. 

georg hesse, Ceo Tomorrow foCus Ag
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Glossary

c
Cash Flow

A measure of cash and cash 
 equivalents inflows and outflows.

Corporate 
 GovernanCe

Corporate governance stands for 
a form of responsible company 

management and control geared to 
long-term creation of value.

D 
Debt

Debt (total assets less > equity) rep-
resents the portion of funds which 
are not made available by the com-
pany or its owners. It includes bank 
loans and can be categorised with 
other financial instruments under 

the generic term of liabilities. 

DeFerreD taxes 
This balance sheet item can be an 

asset and/or a liability. It arises 
from timing differences between 

actual tax liabilities as assessed by 
the tax authorities and the compa-
ny‘s tax liabilities under > IFRS.

DisContinueD 
 operations 

A segment of a company‘s business 
that has been sold disposed of or 
abandoned. Discontinued oper-
ations can range from a certain 
product line to an entire line of 
business. When operations are 

discontinued, this is reported on 
the company‘s income statement 

as separate from income from 
 continued operations.

E
earninGs per share

Earnings divided by the average 
number of ordinary shares out-

standing.

ebt
Earnings before taxes

ebta
Earnings before interest, taxes and 

amortisation

ebit
Earnings before interest and taxes

ebitDa
Earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation

equity
Equity (total assets less > debt) 

represents the funds paid in and/
or contributed by the shareholders 
plus retained earnings which are 

available to the company.

equity ratio 
Equity as a percentage of total as-

sets (the higher the ratio, the lower 
the gearing).
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F
FinanCial Derivatives
Financial derivatives are financial 
futures transactions which hedge 

against risks from unexpected 
price changes and whose price is 

directly or indirectly dependent on 
the price of an underlying asset, 
e.g. interest rates or exchange 

rates.

Free Float
Shares of a public company that 

are freely available to the investing 
public.

Full-time equivalent 
Full-time equivalent (or FTE) is a 
unit for measuring the theoretical 
number of employees in full-time 
posts within a company. Any part-
time posts are added together to 

calculate the overall result. By way 
of example, 3 half-time posts and 1 
full-time post would give 2.5 FTEs.

G
GooDwill

An intangible economic good 
representing the value of the in-

tangible assets of a business entity 
which are not capitalised at acqui-
sition. Calculation: purchase price 
of the entity less its proportional, 

newly valued equity.

I
impairment

A reduction in the value of an asset 
in addition to depreciation or in 
place of amortisation in the case 

of intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives. An impairment test is 
implemented to ascertain whether 
an asset‘s carrying amount is high-
er than its recoverable amount. If 

necessary, the asset is depreciated 
to its recoverable amount.

international 
FinanCial reportinG 

stanDarDs (iFrs) 
This uniform system of accounting 

rules is intended to facilitate the 
task of comparing data between 

companies. In accordance with EU 
regulations, all listed  companies 
are obliged to adopt these rules 

for reporting and accounting 
 purposes. 

l
lonG-term  

inCentive plan 
A long-term incentive plan or pro-
gramme (LTIP) is a business plan 
for the creation of long-term per-

formance incentives for managerial 
staff. It is essentially a profit-shar-
ing model, which can, for example, 

be used for the issue of (virtual) 
shares, share options or convertible 

bonds. An LTIP therefore forms 
part of the salary.

r 
risk manaGement

On-going, systematic and continu-
ous identification, analysis, evalua-
tion and control of potential risk to 
which a company‘s assets, financial 
position and income situation are 
exposed in the medium and long 
term. The objective is to ensure 
the continued existence of the 

 company, to ensure the achieve-
ment of the company‘s objectives 
supported by suitable measures 

against adverse occurrences and to 
increase the enterprise value.

s
seGment reportinG

Disclosure of earnings and 
 assets data for individual areas of 

 business.

statement oF  
Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows shows 
inflows and outflows of cash from 
the operating business and from 
financing and investing activities 

over the financial year. It also 
serves to reconcile the levels of 
cash and cash equivalents held 
at the beginning and end of the 

 financial year.
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May
04 May 2016
Publication of the 1Q 2016  
interim report (German version; English  
version will follow a few days later)

June
16 June 2016, 11 a.M. CeT
Annual General Meeting,  
Haus der Bayerischen Wirtschaft,  
Max-Joseph-Str. 5, 80333 Munich, Germany

August
05 augusT 2016
Publication of the 2Q 2016 interim report (German 
version; English version will follow a few days later)

November
08 noveMber 2016
Publication of the 3Q 2016 interim report (German 
version; English version will follow a few days later)

noveMber 2016
Analysts’ meeting at the German Equity Forum 2016 
in Frankfurt am Main, Germany

* provisional dates

FiNANciAl  
cAleNdAr 2016 *
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Key figures
 Financial year 

2015
Financial year 

2014
Change

in  %

Revenue and eaRnings 

Consolidated revenue in EUR million 104.4 100.1 4.3%

Group EBITDA in EUR million 1.6 18.9 -91.5%

Group operating EBITDA in EUR million 6.4 17.8 -64.0%

Group EBIT in EUR million -14.5 12.5 -

Group operating EBIT in EUR million -0.3 11.8 -

Consolidated financial result in EUR million -1.9 -3.4 -44.1%

Group EBT from continuing operations in EUR million -16.4 9.5 -

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes from continuing operations in EUR million -16.4 6.9 -

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes from discontinued operations in EUR million 58.9 -10.6 -

Consolidated net income/(loss) after taxes in EUR million 42.5 -3.7 -

Earnings per share from continiung operations in EUR -0.28 0.12 -

Earnings per share from discontinued operations in EUR 1.01 -0.18 -

Earnings per share in EUR 0.73 -0.06 -

Travel segment external revenue in EUR million 104.2 99.8 4.4%

Travel segment EBITDA in EUR million 11.5 23.7 -51.5%

Holding/Other segment external revenue in EUR million 0.2 0.3 -33.3%

Holding/Other segment EBITDA in EUR million -9.9 -4.8 106.3%

 Financial year 
2015

Financial year 
2014

Change
in  %

employees (Continuing opeRations)

Annual average number of employees (FTEs) 387 377 3%

 31  december 
2015

31 december 
2014

Change
in  %

Key Capital maRKet data 

Equity ratio in percent 76.3% 53.7% 22.6%

Debt ratio in percent 23.7% 46.3% -46.3%

 31  december 
2015

31 december 
2014

Change
in  %

Cash Flow

Cash flow from operating activities in EUR million 5.6 23.5 -76.2%

Cash flow from investing activities in EUR million 78.7 -17.6 -

Cash flow from financing activities in EUR million -47.2 -5.3 790.6%
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* As at 31 December 2015    ** As at  04.06.2014 no guarantee of completeness 

 31  december 
2015

31 december 
2014

Change
in  %

assets and Capital stRuCtuRe

Total assets in EUR million 221.4 233.9 -5.3%

Non-current assets in EUR million 138.4 177.5 -22.0%

Current assets in EUR million 83.1 56.4 +47.3%

thereof cash as at 31 December 2015  in EUR million 63.7 26.6 +139.5%

Equity in EUR million 168.9 125.5 +34.6%

Debt in EUR million 52.6 108.4 -51.5%

Shareholder Structure aS at 31 december 2015 (rounded)

Free float 
41.0%

Burda Digital
GmbH 

58.8 %**

Management Board and 
Supervisory Board 
0.2 %* 

Key capital marKet data 

Debt ratio 
46.3%

Debt ratio 
23,7%

Equity ratio
53.7 %

Equity ratio
76.3 %

as at 31 deCembeR 2014 as at 31 deCembeR 2015



Neumarkter Strasse 61
81673 Munich, Germany
www.tomorrow-focus.com  

tomorrow focus ag


